TRANSPARENCY VS. DELEGITIMIZATION?

SHRINKING SPACE FOR FOREIGN-FUNDED ORGANIZATIONS IN DEMOCRACIES:

HUNGARY AND ISRAEL

Kinga Zsofia Horvath

Submitted to the faculty of the University Graduate School in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Master of Arts
in the Lilly Family School of Philanthropy,
Indiana University

December 2018

Accepted by the Graduate Faculty, Indiana University, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts.

Master's Thesis Committee

Catherine Herrold, Ph.D., Chair
Kuli Dulada ka Bi D
Kathi Badertscher, Ph.D.
Carol Adelman, Ph.D.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis to

students with the interest in global philanthropy,

researchers focusing on international giving,

practitioners working with foreign-funded NGOs, and

policy-makers seeking to create enabling environment for philanthropy.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Foremost I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my chair Dr. Catherine Herrold for the continuous support of my thesis, for her patience, and immense knowledge. Besides my chair, I would like to thank the rest of my thesis committee: Dr. Kathi Badertscher and Dr. Carol Adelman for their insightful comments and encouragement. Their guidance and expertise helped me write this thesis.

I would like to thank Fulbright Hungary, the Rosztoczy Foundation, the Pallas Athene Domus Animae Foundation, and the Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy for giving me the opportunity to study and conduct research on global philanthropy due to their generous financial support.

My sincere thanks also goes to Dr. Anna Pruitt and Dr. Kathi Badertscher for proofreading and editing this thesis and make sure that my – often complicated – Hungarian thoughts turned into well-designed English words, sentences and sections.

I would like to also thank Dr. Xiaonan Kou and Erna Burai for being my role models and immense sources of encouragement. Their guidance and support – as PhD students, supervisors, and friends – have been invaluable in my academic journey.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my parents: Anyu and Apu, my brother: Danika, and all my friends from both sides of the Atlantic Ocean for supporting me throughout writing this thesis and completing my degree. Experiencing their kindness, encouragement, and generosity across countries and time zones has helped me study global philanthropy and finish those projects that never really seems to end.

Kinga Zsofia Horvath

TRANSPARENCY VS. DELEGITIMIZATION?

SHRINKING SPACE FOR FOREIGN-FUNDED ORGANIZATIONS IN DEMOCRACIES:

HUNGARY AND ISRAEL

The shrinking space for civil society and the increasing number of unfavorable legislation affecting the work of non-governmental organizations continue to be burning issues for global philanthropy. Using a case study approach, this thesis explores how democracies regulate the operation of foreign-funded non-governmental organizations in Hungary and Israel. This thesis examines what the presumed and real motivations of democratic governments are to adapt such regulations and how the political, economic and socio-cultural environments might influence their enactment. This thesis also compares the Hungarian and Israeli regulations to the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act.

Catherine Herrold, Ph.D., Chair

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF	TABLES	. viii
INTROE	DUCTION	1
	ER ONE: HAVING A CLEAR PERSPECTIVE – THEORIES, CONCEPTS, AND AREAS OF	5
1.1.	Nongovernmental organizations vs. civil society organizations	6
1.2.	The development of NGOs and their roles in democracy	8
1.3.	Shrinking civil society, a global phenomenon	10
1.4.	Foreign-funded NGOs, as unknown factors in the equation	18
1.5.	OECD countries under the microscope	20
1.6.	Main regulations for cross-border financial flows	28
	5.1. Legislation on illicit financial flows, anti-money laundering, and combating e financing of terrorism	28
1.6	5.2. Foreign Agent Laws	31
СНАРТІ	ER TWO: GENERAL OVERVIEW OF HUNGARY AND ISRAEL	34
	ER THREE: HUNGARY AND THE ACT ON THE TRANSPARENCY OF ORGANIZATIONS ING SUPPORT FROM ABROAD	42
3.1.	The way towards "Hungarian illiberal democracy"	43
3.2. laund	Hungarian legislation to enhance CSO transparency and prevent money dering	48
3.3.	Foreign-funded NGOs under government attack	50
	3.1. Government critics and government-related studies prior to the announcement the draft law	50
3.3	3.2. Changing rhetoric and preliminary opinion of the Venice Commission	55
	3.3. Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from proad	61
	3.4. Intensifying negative government campaign, legal consequences, and an opaque ture	63
	ER FOUR: TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS FOR PARTIES SUPPORTED BY FOREIGN ENTITIES LAW, 5776-2016	70
4.1.	The Israeli nonprofit sector	71
4.2.	Israeli laws to enhance NGO transparency and prevent money laundering	75
4.3.	Foreign-funded NGOs under government attack	78
4 3	Government statements and amendments related to foreign-funded NGOs	78

	4.3.2.	Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities 76-2016	70
	4.3.3.	Domestic and international criticism	81
		E: COMPARISON BETWEEN THE HUNGARIAN AND ISRAELI FOREIGN AFENTS	0.4
KEG	ULATION	S	84
		s the truth about the relationship between the 1938 FARA and the recently reign agents regulations?	84
	5.1.1. Fo	reign Agents Registration Act, 1938	85
		mparison between the Hungarian, Israeli, and the U.S. foreign agents	87
5.	2. Stigma	tization and delegitimization instead of transparency and public trust	90
		mendations for finding the balance between national security and flourishing	92
CON	ICLUSION		96
EPIL	OGUE		. 100
REFI	ERENCES.		. 103
CUR	RICULUM	Ι ΛΙΤΔΕ	

LIST OF TABLES

Table One: Overview of OECD Member States	13
Table Two: Foreign-funded NGO Laws around The World	22
Table Three: Comparison between the Hungarian, Israeli, and U.S. Foreign Agents	
Regulations	88

INTRODUCTION

Foreign agents regulations and laws affecting the operation of foreign-funded non-governmental organizations (NGOs) have increased in the last decade. Indeed, since 2012, 98 laws restricting freedom of association or assembly were adopted around the world (Rutzen, 2015), and countries like Hungary, India, Israel, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, Slovakia, and Ukraine, have implemented or planned to implement laws on foreign agents' registrations to make the operation of foreign-funded organizations more transparent. Several global indices, such as the Global Philanthropy Environment Index (IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018), Freedom in the World (Freedom House, 2018), State of Civil Society Report (CIVICUS, 2017), and comparative studies (Anheier, 2017, Laufer, 2017, Rutzen, 2015) have highlighted shrinking civil society and new restrictions on NGOs' ability to receive foreign funding in both developing and developed countries as emerging trends.

Numerous countries enacted foreign NGO laws to fight against illicit financial flows, defined as "money illegally earned, transferred, or used that crosses borders" (The World Bank, 2017). However, in the course of fighting against money laundering and financing terrorism, several developed Western democracies - such as France, Spain, the United Kingdom, and the United States - implemented regulations that directly or indirectly narrowed the operation of NGOs (European Parliament, 2017, p. 10-11). Most recently two member states of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) - Hungary and Israel – enacted much stricter laws to monitor and control the operation of foreign-funded NGOs. The Hungarian and Israeli governments each claim that the enactment of foreign agents regulations was necessary to increase the transparency of NGOs and protect their country's national security. Both countries stated that the United States' 1938 Foreign Agents Regulation Act (FARA) served as the baseline for their own foreign agents regulations: the Act LXXVI of 2017 on

the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad in Hungary, and the Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016 in Israel.

Even though foreign agents regulations, and NGO laws in general, are only one part of the shrinking space challenge, they are an important indicator for the state of civil society. As new, cross-border challenges such as environmental disasters, refugee crises, and money laundering have emerged, civil society, and especially cross-border philanthropy, have become extremely important actors of the global arena. The United Nations aims to strengthen the engagement with civil society and its international role to successfully implement and monitor the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (CIVICUS, 2017c). Additionally, the European Union developed policy tools to fight against restrictions on civil society because such restrictions "are intensifying in non-democratic but also democratic countries" (European Parliament, 2017, p. 5). As the closing space often targets human right organizations and civil society organizations focusing on democracy and accountability, it is time to pay closer attention to this phenomenon before democracy and democratic values are threatened across the globe. Last, but not least, we need to start a global conversation to enhance civil society and simultaneously find the right scale of necessary limitations to protect one of the universal human rights; the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and associations (Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Article 20).

Thus, proliferation of foreign NGO laws, especially in developed countries, urges researchers to better understand the phenomenon and raise awareness among political and philanthropic leaders to prevent the further shrinkage of civic space. While Western democracies seem to fight for a more enabling philanthropic environment worldwide that supports cross-border activities as well, two Western countries, Hungary and Israel enacted foreign agents regulations to monitor and control the operation of foreign-funded NGOs. This

thesis answers the questions: 1) what are the presumed and real public rationale of Western governments that have passed foreign agents regulations and 2) how might the political, economic and socio-cultural environments influence the enactment and implementation of such regulations.

To analyze the recently enacted foreign agents regulations in OECD countries, a scan of all 35 OECD countries was performed and Hungary and Israel were identified as the OECD member states that enacted such regulations in 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Then, the thesis compares the Hungarian and Israeli political, economic, and sociocultural environment using international indices and cross-country comparative studies and provides two case studies about the Hungarian and Israeli foreign agents regulations.

The case studies focus on three main areas: first, they discuss the development of civil society in Hungary and Israel to see the significance and roles of NGOs in both countries. Then, to better understand the antecedent events and main rationales that led to the enactment of foreign agents regulations, government statements and interviews with government officials are analyzed. The case studies then analyze the most important parts of each new piece of legislation. Finally, the domestic and international criticism against the Hungarian and Israeli foreign agents regulations are discussed using local and international press releases.

Lastly, the two regulations – the Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad in Hungary and the Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016 – are compared to each other, using the 1938 Foreign Agent Registration Act as a model, due to the fact that both governments claimed that their laws copied the U.S. regulation. Finally, the study provides recommendations for policymakers to be able to balance between the protection of national security and the enhancement of civil society in future policy-making processes.

The findings show that both Hungary and Israel are economically healthy countries, but they have faced external as well as internal challenges, such as the European refugee crisis and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, respectively. Both governments stated that they aimed to increase the transparency of civil society and protect the national interests by enacting foreign agent regulations, however, the phrasing and specific regulations of both laws drew international criticism for primarily targeting NGOs that openly oppose government programs or promote human rights and transparency. Some argue that these regulations have actually stigmatized and delegitimized the work of NGOs rather than protected national security. Indeed, we can conclude that both the Hungarian and Israeli foreign agents regulations were used to further strengthen the power and legitimacy of the current governments.

Additionally, the thesis also finds that the foreign agents regulations implemented by the Hungarian and Israeli governments are much stricter that the United States' Foreign Agents Registration Act. Unlike the U.S. law, the Hungarian and Israeli regulations target NGOs and do not take into consideration whether such NGOs act as agents of foreign principal as a consequence of receiving foreign funding. Therefore, we can conclude that the new regulations serve more as a political tool to strengthen the governments' nationalistic ideology and power than as a measure to increase transparency in the nonprofit sector. As a consequence, the spread of foreign agents regulations could be an indicator not only for the shrinking space of civil society, but also for a threat against Western democracies that seem to be more fragile than expected.

CHAPTER ONE: HAVING A CLEAR PERSPECTIVE – THEORIES, CONCEPTS, AND AREAS OF RESEARCH FOCUS

Numerous researchers have studied the supportive political, economic, and social roles of nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) in liberal democracies and in countries in transition (Diamond, 1994; Dodge and Ospina, 2016; Edwards, 2014) as well as the recent trends of shrinking civic space (Anheier, 2017; CIVICUS, 2016; Dupuy et al., 2016; Rutzen, 2015; International Center of Non-for-Profit Law, 2016). However, very few articles have analyzed the appearance of restrictive NGO laws in developed countries, such as Hungary, Spain, and the United States. In order to analyze the legislation targeting foreign-funded NGOs in member states of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, it is important to understand the main concepts and theories related to the current research.

Section 1.1 defines the terms of nongovernmental organizations and civil society organizations. While these terms are used interchangeably, the thesis will use the former term due to the association between NGOs and foreign funding, since the Hungarian and Israeli regulations primarily target foreign-funded organizations and do not necessarily address other formal or informal institutions operating in the civic space. Section 1.2 briefly discusses the roles and development of NGOs to better understand the functions of the organizations targeted by anti-foreign NGO regulations.

Section 1.3 focuses on one of the main trends of the philanthropic sector internationally, which is the shrinking space for NGOs. As several reports and studies recently stated (Rutzen, 2015; Wilson, 2016; Dupuy et al., 2016; European Foundation Centre, 2016; Anheier, 2017; European Parliament, 2017), several governments challenged both the enabling political environment for and the freedom of associations. Indeed, 64 restrictive laws, regulations, and other initiatives were introduced around the world since 2015 (International

Center of Non-for-Profit Law, 2016) and more than 20 countries have implemented anti-foreign NGO laws targeting NGOs that receive international financial resources. Both developing and developed countries announced such legislation. Most recently two European Union member states, Austria and Hungary, limited the freedom of foreign-funded NGOs, and Slovakia might implement similar legislation in the future.

Section 1.4 explores how and why governments and other actors on the global stage often see the roles and values of foreign-funded, international NGOs differently. The section focuses on why governments feel the need to regulate the operation of foreign-funded NGOs and highlights some of the concerns of foreign-funded NGOs including their legitimacy and lack of accountability.

Section 1.5 focuses on countries that are members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, the geographic area of the current research. It analyzes the main
characteristics of the cooperation and highlights that four of the member states have direct
legislation on foreign-funded NGOs, or a subgroup of such organizations in the case of Austria.
Simultaneously, several countries, including France, Spain and the United Kingdom, have
introduced anti-money laundering laws that restrict the free operation of NGOs. Thus, we can
infer that the shrinking space for NGOs is a relevant issue for developed, high-income countries
as well. Finally, section 1.6 briefly discusses the main characteristics of two different types of
legislation that affect international funding of NGOs: the international standards related to the
fight against anti-money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism; and foreign agent
laws.

1.1. Nongovernmental organizations vs. civil society organizations

The nonprofit literature uses a vast array of terms for organizations operating in civil society, such as civil society organizations (CSOs), charity organizations, nonprofit organizations,

nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), and philanthropic organizations. The different terms focus on these organizations' different aspects, such as legal, economical, functional, or structural, and the terms used in scholarship and practice also differ depending on the geographic area. Anheier (2014) argues that the terms, therefore, cannot capture the entirety of these organizations. Salamon (2002, p.4) states that the common denominator of these organizations is that they are "dedicated to mobilizing private initiative for the common good." NGOs are institutionalized, self-governing, non-compulsory organizations that are independent from the government and do not distribute their profit if they generate any (United Nations, 2003). These organizations are highly professionalized - officially established, run by employed staff, well-supported, relatively large, and well-resourced - and promote social and economic development (Mercer, 2002, Anheier, 2015) while serving as important political actors in democratization as pillars of civil society (Bratton, 1998), especially in developing countries (Dupuy et al., 2016).

Another term used by this study is civil society organizations. Anheier (2015) describes CSOs as organizations that emphasize the voluntary associations of citizens and operate outside of both the public and business sector. Several researchers, such as Habermas' (1991), Gellner's (1994), Hadenius and Uggla' (1996) or Keane's (2009) defines CSO as involuntary, self-organized institutions, operating independently from the state while offering public space for interaction. Even though the definition and roles of CSOs are similar to NGOs, CSOs often refer to domestic organizations with a primary focus on social service provision, especially in Latin America and Eastern Europe where these organizations played a key role in rebuilding the public space outside of the autocratic government in the 1980s and 1990s. Carothers (1999) strictly differentiates between the roles of civil society and NGOs, underlining that NGOs are only a narrow subsector of civil society.

In the current international arena the term "NGOs" is often given a negative connotation by governments that use the term to refer to organizations that receive substantial funds from abroad and whose main activities are advocacy for and promotion of human rights, transparency, and other liberal values. As following chapters of this study shows, governments have used both terms to be able to distinguish foreign-funded CSOs (referred to as NGOs) from other CSOs, even if differences between these two types of organizations did not exist before the implementation of anti-foreign NGO regulations.

The thesis uses the terms NGOs and CSOs interchangeably to mean institutionalized, self-governing, non-compulsory, not-for-profit organizations that are independent from the government. The term NGOs primarily emphasizes those organizations that are attacked by antiforeign NGO regulations. The general attributes of the organizations targeted by such legislation are the following: these organizations are not related to the government, but they are important policy actors; their activities include advocating for human rights, government transparency, and liberal values; and they receive substantial amount of charitable contributions from abroad.

1.2. The development of NGOs and their roles in democracy

Civil society and NGOs are important actors to support opposition to government and the democratization of countries across the world (Diamond, 1994; Dodge and Ospina, 2016; Edwards, 2014; Newton 2001). NGOs are able to pluralize both the domestic and international political arena by representing different interest groups in an institutional setting (Silliman and Nable, 1998), to widen and deepen the possibilities of citizen participation by supporting marginalized groups to engage with the government and creating relational and framing practices for individuals (Fisher, 1998, Dodge and Ospina, 2016), to serve as free schools of democracy by inspiring individuals to democratically express their interests and ideas and

recruiting and training future political leaders (Diamond, 1994); and to check the state power and enhance transparency by challenging its autonomy and developing alternative policies as well as disseminating information (Diamond, 1994, Diamond et al., 1995, Fisher, 1998, Anheier, 2017).

Despite the supporting role in democratization, NGOs can also weaken liberal democracies and civil society in general. Authoritarian regimes often use NGOs in order to maintain their own power. Governments that highly regulate and monitor the operation of NGOs can use these organizations as instruments of the state's social control and the so-called political liberalization only serves as part of the autocracy's survival strategy (Wiktorowicz, 2000). Government-related NGOs can legitimate authoritarian regimes by creating a relatively liberal political climate and answering Western governments' demand for creating a pluralized civil society, even though these NGOs are highly monitored by the government (Albrecht, 2015). Brumberg (2003) argues that liberalized autocracies often promote the growth of NGOs but only those that provide social services to the society that can further strengthen the legitimacy and power of the government itself. Additionally, government-related NGOs allow the government to monitor collective actions that discourage political participation and anti-government protests in general.

CSOs and NGOs are "the most rapidly growing organizational domain in the world" (Hall, 2016, p. 3). International NGOs show unprecedented growth: the total international NGO membership grew 78% between 1990 and 2010; 426% in Central and Eastern Europe and 77% in the Middle East and North Africa during throughout the same time period (Anheier, 2014, p. 463). According to the Union of International Associations (2017), there are more than 75,500 international NGOs even though we can infer that the growth of international NGOs became slower in the 21st century. International NGOs recently have shown a trend of repoliticization,

focusing on democracy and social justice (Anheier, 2014). In particular, foreign-funded NGOs have gained place in the political arena, and these organizations have been the focus of intense controversy as both the public and legislators try to better understand and regulate such organizations' operation and accountability.

NGOs' roles in mobilizing opposition, supporting multi-player elections, establishing new forms of accountability and transparency and advocating for public interest causes including human rights and anticorruption have been well-observed in countries in Africa, Eastern-Europe, and Latin-America, as well as in the international arena (Edwards, 2014, Carothers, 1999). While developed, democratic countries could support the development of NGOs because of shared values and common goals, member states of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, such as Hungary, Israel, Mexico, or Turkey¹, have viewed NGOs as a potential threat and started to monitor and oppress these organizations.

NGOs in liberal democracies are usually not related to the government, but they are important policy actors: their activities include advocating for human rights, government transparency, and liberal values, and they receive substantial amount of charitable contributions from abroad. Thus, governments might see any NGO advocacy as a political threat in the given political environment, and the fact that many of these organizations receive foreign funding empowers these governments to argue for the necessity of regulations similar to the United States' 1938 Foreign Agents Registrations Act.

1.3. Shrinking civil society, a global phenomenon

In 2016, CIVICUS identified 93 countries that violated the freedom of associations, including the introduction of restrictive NGO regulations or laws. Dupuy and her colleagues

¹ According to CIVICUS' Monitor (2017) civic space in Mexico and Turkey is repressed, while in Hungary and Israel is obstructed. All of these countries are members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.

10

(2016) analyzed resource-scarce developing countries between 1993 and 2012, finding that the number of restrictive NGO finance laws in low and middle-income countries was on the rise.

Indeed, more than 25 developing countries adopted new regulations to restrict locally operating NGOs from receiving cross-border donations or grants in the examined time period. Since 2007, more than 20 countries, including both low- and high-income countries, announced foreign NGO laws in order to regulate, monitor, or restrict the operation of foreign-funded NGOs (See Table One based on the Civic Freedom Monitor provided by the International Center of Not-for Profit Law, 2017). In the last decade high-income countries, such as Israel and Hungary, enacted restrictive foreign NGO laws, therefore the trend of monitoring and restricting NGOs to receive cross-border resources appeared in developed countries as well. We can infer that the trend of enacting restrictive NGO regulations has accelerated as the analysis conducted by the International Center of Not-for-Profit Law (2016) shows that 64 restrictive laws, regulations, and other initiatives were introduced around the world since 2015.

Even though statistics and quantitative data cannot provide recommendations, they can show that the implementation of restrictive foreign NGO laws have become a global trend and, therefore, it needs to be part of the international political and research agenda. "While the statistics are indeed worrying and useful in attracting interest to the problem, such figures are less helpful in designing strategies to address it" (Martinez and Dobichina 2016 in European Foundation Center, 2016). Martinez and Dobichina argue that statistics quantify and group countries with different level of restrictions from Ethiopia, where most foreign-funded NGOs are criminalized, to Spain, where questionable anti-money laundering laws have targeted NGOs through burdensome bureaucracy. Even though this thesis focuses on cases in which where one particular tool, the foreign agents legislation or similar regulation was implemented, it is important to see that governments across the world, including ones of developed countries,

have continued implementing a range of new restrictive NGO laws. Again, the implementation of restrictive NGO laws became a global trend as more than one hundred countries introduced such legislation (European Parliament, 2017), and more than 60 restrictive laws, regulations and other initiatives were introduced in the last 2 years (International Center of Not-for-Profit Law, 2016). Thus, it is important to first briefly summarize the global trends.

Restrictive NGO laws show different characteristics in different countries. In countries such as China, Hungary, and Ukraine, these laws often target only a subgroup of NGOs, such as human rights organizations or foreign-funded organizations. In other countries, including Angola, Egypt, India, Russia, and Turkey, these laws oppress civil society in general. We can infer that the state — civil society relations have weakened recently all over the world. Even though regulations are needed to control the borders between the state, NGOs, and corporations (Simon, et al., 2006), in several cases the legislative body went a step further and not only regulated, but restricted, the operation of NGOs.

The public rationale for restricting civil space as well as the free operation of NGOs varies across countries (Rutzen, 2015). Some of them, such as Spain and Mexico, use the argument of combating money-laundering and terrorism financing. Others, such as China, might prefer international sources to send their donations and financial aid through governmental channels to monitor and sometimes use these resources according to the government's own needs. Another reason, according to countries such as Egypt, could be to oppress NGOs, which focus on controversial political and human rights issues that might weaken the current regimes' status quo. These arguments show that not only foreign-funded NGOs, but also local, grass-roots organizations are threatened in numerous countries. However, it is important to keep in mind that a governments' reasons expressed in their public communication might differ from the public rationale for oppressing certain types of organizations.

Table One: Overview of OECD Member States

OECD Member States	GDP per capita (US\$)*	Income levels**	Human Development Index***	Human Development Index Rank***	Human development (hd) levels	Civic Space****	Enabling Philanthropic Environment****	Member of FATF	AML/ CTF Regul ations	Foreign Agents Regul ations
Australia	49,927.82	High income	0.939	2	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.17	×	×	
Austria	44,176.52	High income	0.893	24	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.41	×	×	2016 (partial)
Belgium	41,096.16	High income	968.0	22	Very high hd	Narrowed	NA	×	×	
Canada	42,157.93	High income	0.92	10	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.38	×	×	
Chile	13,792.93	High income	0.847	38	Very high hd	Narrowed	3.98		×	
Czech Republic	18,266.55	High income	0.878	28	Very high hd	Open	3.69	(X)	×	
Denmark	53,417.66	High income	0.925	5	Very high hd	Open	4.42	×	×	
Estonia	17,574.69	High income	0.865	30	Very high hd	Open	NA	(X)	×	
Finland	43,090.25	High income	0.895	23	Very high hd	Open	4.8	×	×	
France	36,854.97	High income	0.897	21	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.67	×	×	
Germany	41,936.06	High income	0.926	4	Very high hd	Open	4.73	×	×	
Greece	18,103.97	High income	998.0	29	Very high hd	Narrowed	3.59	×	×	
Hungary	12,664.85	High income	0.836	43	Very high hd	Obstructed	3.3	(x)	×	2017
Iceland	59,976.94	High income	0.921	6	Very high hd	Open	NA	×	×	
Ireland	61,606.48	High income	0.923	8	Very high hd	Open	4.33	×	×	
Israel	37,292.61	High income	668.0	19	Very high hd	Obstructed	3.83		×	2016
Italy	30,527.27	High income	0.887	26	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.67	×	×	
Japan	38,894.47	High income	0.903	17	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.37	×	×	
Korea, Republic	27,538.81	High income	0.901	18	Very high hd	Narrowed	4.37	×	×	
Latvia	14,118.06	High income	0.83	44	Very high hd	Open	NA	(x)	×	

						1							
						2016 (rejected)							1938
×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×
×	×	×	×	(x)	×	(X)	(X)	×	×	×	×	×	×
3.47	4.8	4.33	4.4	4	3.65	3.62	NA	3.97	4.3	4.75	2.73	4.18	4.77
Repressed	Narrowed	Open	Open	Narrowed	Open	Narrowed	Open	Narrowed	Open	Open	Repressed	Narrowed	Narrowed
High hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	Very high hd	High hd	Very high hd	Very high hd
77	7	13	1	36	41	40	25	27	14	2	71	16	10
0.762	0.924	0.915	0.949	0.855	0.843	0.845	0.89	0.884	0.913	0.939	0.767	606.0	0.92
Upper middle income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	High income	Upper middle income	High income	High income
8,201.31	45,294.78	39,426.62	70,812.48	12,372.42	19,813.31	16,495.99	21,304.57	26,528.49	51,599.87	78,812.65	10,787.61	68.668,68	57,466.79
Mexico	Netherlands	New Zealand	Norway	Poland	Portugal	Slovakia	Slovenia	Spain	Sweden	Switzerland	Turkey	United Kingdom	United States
	8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X income income Income X	8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X ands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Narrowed 4.8 X	8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X ands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Narrowed 4.8 X aland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.33 X	8,201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd income Repressed 3.47 X ands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Narrowed 4.8 X aland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.33 X 70,812.48 High income 0.949 1 Very high hd Open 4.4 X	8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X ands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Narrowed 4.8 X aland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X 70,812.48 High income 0.855 36 Very high hd Narrowed 4 X 12,372.42 High income 0.855 36 Very high hd Narrowed 4 (X)	8,201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd high hrome Repressed and high hd high hd high hd high hd high hd high hd high hrome 70,812.48 High income high high hd high high	8,201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd hid income Repressed income 3.47 X X Inds 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd v	8,201.31 Upper middle income income 0.762 77 High hd income Repressed income 3.47 X X Inds 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Open 4.8 X X Iland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X 10,812.48 High income 0.855 36 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X 19,813.31 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X 16,495.99 High income 0.845 40 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X 21,304.57 High income 0.895 25 Very high hd Open NA X X	o 8,201.31 income income 0.762 income 77 High hd income Repressed income 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Open 4.8 X X sealand 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X sy 70,812.48 High income 0.855 36 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X sal 12,372.42 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X sia 16,495.99 High income 0.845 40 Very high hd Open NA (X) X sia 21,304.57 High income 0.89 25 Very high hd Open NA (X) X sia 25,228.49 High income 0.89 25 Very high hd Open NA (X) X	o 8,201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd income Repressed 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Open 4.8 X X seland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X sy 70,812.48 High income 0.855 36 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X sal 19,813.31 High income 0.845 40 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X sia 16,495.99 High income 0.845 40 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X sia 25,28.49 High income 0.89 25 Very high hd Open MA X X sia 25,28.49 High income 0.913 14 Very high hd Open 3.97 X X	obasis 8,201.31 Upper middle income income 0.762 77 High hd income income 70.24.78 High income income 0.924 7 Very high hd income 7.294.78 High income income 0.915 13 Very high hd income 0.924 7 Very high hd income 0.924 7 X <th< td=""><td>obsised 4.201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd income Repressed income 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd income 0.949 1 Very high hd income 4.4 X X 3y 70,812.48 High income 0.849 1 Very high hd income 0.949 1 Very high hd income 4.4 X X X 3al 12,372.42 High income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.845 4 X X X 3al 10,813.31 High income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.89 25 Very high hd income 3.97 X X 3al 21,304.57 High income 0.913 2 Very high hd income 0.913 2 Very high hd income 4.3 X X 3al 26,528.49 High income 0.913 2 V</td><td>o 8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Open 4.8 X X seland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X X sy 70,812.48 High income 0.843 1 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X X sal 12,372.42 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X X sal 15,813.31 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X sia 21,304.57 High income 0.843 25 Very high hd Open 4.3 X X sin 21,598.87 High income 0.913 14 Very high hd Open 4.75 X <td< td=""></td<></td></th<>	obsised 4.201.31 Upper middle income 0.762 77 High hd income Repressed income 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd income 0.949 1 Very high hd income 4.4 X X 3y 70,812.48 High income 0.849 1 Very high hd income 0.949 1 Very high hd income 4.4 X X X 3al 12,372.42 High income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.845 4 X X X 3al 10,813.31 High income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.845 4 Very high hd income 0.89 25 Very high hd income 3.97 X X 3al 21,304.57 High income 0.913 2 Very high hd income 0.913 2 Very high hd income 4.3 X X 3al 26,528.49 High income 0.913 2 V	o 8,201.31 Upper middle 0.762 77 High hd Repressed 3.47 X X rlands 45,294.78 High income 0.924 7 Very high hd Open 4.8 X X seland 39,426.62 High income 0.915 13 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X X sy 70,812.48 High income 0.843 1 Very high hd Open 4.4 X X X sal 12,372.42 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X X sal 15,813.31 High income 0.843 41 Very high hd Open 3.65 X X sia 21,304.57 High income 0.843 25 Very high hd Open 4.3 X X sin 21,598.87 High income 0.913 14 Very high hd Open 4.75 X <td< td=""></td<>

Sources: * World Bank, 2015; ** World Bank, 2017; *** Human Development Index, 2016; **** Civicus, 2017; and ***** IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018. Note: (X) member as a Member State of the European Union.

It is also important to acknowledge that some of the new restrictions in the civil space are linked to the types of challenges governments face in the 21st century, especially with regard to cross-border giving. Several risks that threaten national security – such as the flow of refugees around the world, the political and economic instability in the Middle East and in Sub-Saharan Africa, the increasing number of terrorist and cyber-attacks, and money-laundering among others – have made governments to regulate fields that have not been regulated before. It is a challenge to control CSOs to protect national security and promote an enabling environment for civil society at the same time, however, the potential of overregulation can weaken the sector and undermine the roles and responsibilities of CSOs to address both local and global issues (Anheier et al., 2018).

One of the new fields strictly regulated by governments is cross-border financial flows, including international charitable donations. Rutzen (2015) identifies ten different types of restrictions related to NGOs' international funding observed over 2004 to 2015 through almost 100 restrictive initiatives, such as:

- prior government approval;
- stigmatization of international funding through foreign agents legislation;
- caps on the amount of international funding;
- mandatory routing of international donations through government-controlled channels or agencies;
- burdensome reporting requirements for foreign-funded NGOs;
- restrictions on activities supported by foreign funding;
- restriction on funding sent by certain countries or donors;
- taxation of international funding;
- counterterrorism and anti-money laundering; and

- other laws that target foreign funding.

We can conclude that a variety of tools are available for governments to restrict foreign-funded NGOs from bureaucracy through taxation to stigmatization. Unfortunately, stigmatization and negative government statements might undermine the public trust towards not only foreign-funded NGOs, but also towards the sector in general.

Cross-border giving as well as foreign aid are important sources for locally-operating NGOs, even in several developed countries. Both in Hungary and Israel, numerous human rights organizations – as well as other CSOs focusing on social services, child and homeless care – receive funding from foreign individuals and organizations. Dupuy and her colleagues (2016) mention that governments worry about their authority and power, which might be influenced and challenged by foreign-funded NGOs. Therefore, "governments prioritize political survival over aid, international reputations, and norm compliance ... when they perceive serious threats to their rule" (Dupuy et al., 2016, p. 2). Wilson (2016) focuses on human rights-related NGOs and states that the rising number of restrictive NGO regulations pertaining to international funding was initiated by the global counterterrorism efforts after the 9/11 attacks in the United States. In several cases restrictive NGO regulations were adopted in response to directives from international organizations to implement anti-money laundering standards. Recently, laws attacking primarily foreign-funded NGOs have been also enacted worldwide. According to the governments of nations that implemented such regulations, the reasons behind these laws vary from the fight against the financing of terrorism (Russia and Malaysia), money laundering (Hungary and Jordan), and national self-determination (Venezuela).

Several countries have announced legislation on cross-border donations and foreign-funded NGOs, most recently two European Union member states. Austria restricted incoming cross-border donations by adopting the 2015 Federal Law on the External Legal Relationships of

Islamic Religious Societies that prohibits foreign funding for Austrian mosques and Islamic societies (Schmid, 2015). Hungary recently adopted the 2017 Law on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Foreign Funds that forces NGOs receiving more than USD 26,930 a year in international donations to register as a "foreign-supported organization" and use this term in every publication related to their organization. Several governments, international organizations, and the European Union raised their voice against these laws. Indeed, the European Commission, the executive of the European Union (European Commission, 2017a), initiated legal proceedings against Hungary asserting that Hungary's anti-foreign NGO Law violates the right of freedom of association and the protection of private life and personal data enshrined in the Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union, as well as breaching the principle of free movement of capital within the European Union by indirectly discriminating and disproportionately restricting donations from abroad (European Commission, 2017b). At this time, nor Austria neither Hungary have initiated any changes in their NGO legislation.

The number of media attacks against NGOs have also been increasing. Not only in developing countries, but in countries like Bulgaria, Greece, Hungary, Ireland, Poland and the United Kingdom, scandals and media attacks against NGOs have negatively affected the philanthropic environment in general. Although NGOs are still the most trusted institutions according to the 2017 Edelman Trust Barometer, the general population's trust towards NGOs, as well as businesses, government, and the media is "in crisis" after declining broadly in 2016 (Edelman, 2017). The Edelman Trust Barometer found that from 2016 to 2017 public trust towards NGOs has decreased in 21 out of the 28 countries where the surveys were conducted, and in 8 countries NGOs became distrusted, including Russia, Sweden, Japan, Germany, Ireland, the Netherlands, the United Kingdom, and Poland (Edelman, 2017, p.14). Thus, it is understandable, and at the same time challenging, that one of the current concerns for

European NGOs is to gain and maintain public trust (European Fundraising Association, 2015, p. 15).

1.4. Foreign-funded NGOs, as unknown factors in the equation

Governments and other actors on the global stage often see the roles and values of foreign-funded, international NGOs differently. NGOs are often seen as "formal organizations outside the government and for profit sectors, advocating specific policies and/or providing services" (Dupuy et al., 2016, p. 299) and are considered crucial to the enhancement of democracy (Hadenius and Uggla, 2016). However, NGOs have received criticisms, including prioritizing donor preference instead of the real need of citizens they serve (Carapico, 2012), being bureaucratic and business-like rather than diverse and innovative as traditional grassroots initiatives (Anheier, 2014), and undermining governments' sovereignty by representing a global agenda developed by a small group of donors (Dupuy et al., 2016). The thesis hypothesizes that foreign-funded NGOs are important actors in addressing global challenges and enhancing democracies. However, it is important to acknowledge that such organizations' roles and responsibilities are widely debated among policymakers and researchers. The lack of professional guidelines or a universal "bill of rights" for NGOs can undermine the legitimacy and credibility of foreign-funded NGOs in their country of operations. Different parties such as practitioners, donors, policy makers, and researchers need to address these questions and find joint solutions in order to improve the accountability and legitimacy of these organizations and strengthen the public trust towards cross-border philanthropy.

Foreign-funded NGOs that are targeted by regulations for cross-border financial flows are often human rights and advocacy organizations. While their work is crucial to enhance human rights and democratic values, the lack of accountability to the general public as well as their legitimacy raises some real questions. (Mercer 2002, Anheier, 2014, Winters, 2010). While

such organizations have an influential role in the political arena due to their resources and international policymaking circles, such organizations, as both the Hungarian and Israeli governments have argued, are not elected by the country's citizens and, therefore, their beneficiaries have no direct way to hold these orgs accountable.

Besides their legitimacy, countries have increasingly focused on issues of security. After the terror attacks on the U.S. on September 11, 2001, money laundering and terrorist financing became the center of international financial regulations. Several intragovernmental organizations, such as the International Monetary Fund, suggested improving the regulations of NGOs and cross-border financial flows, as terrorist groups had been exploiting the civil sector to "raise and move funds, provide logistical support, [and] encourage terrorist recruitment" (Financial Action Task Force, 2010, p.20). Thus, several governments implemented new regulations in order to protect their security. Indeed, as "border policing" is a "symbolic representation of state authority" (Andreas, 2000, p. 8), the regulation of cross-border financial flows – including charitable donations – seems to be a logical step from governments.

Additionally, as numerous foreign-funded NGOs address topics of an arguably political nature, such as minority rights and government accountability, governments often feel threatened by these organizations. Therefore, governments often regulate foreign-funded NGOs after re-election, as they "feel they have gained room and legitimacy for political maneuver" (Dupuy et al., 2016, p. 303) to fulfill the desire of their citizens. Several countries, such as Ethiopia, Israel, Hungary, or Russia, re-elected governments that had targeted foreign-funded NGOs to promote accountability and protect national security and sovereignty.

Finally, the accountability of foreign-funded NGOs also raises several questions. As the "chain of accountability relationships in an international development program can be long and complex" (Winters, 2010, p. 220), the accountability relationships among the stakeholders of

foreign-funded NGOs is long and complex. The plurality of stakeholders requires multiple dimensions of accountability (Anheier, 2014, p. 421): upwards (funders and supporters), downwards (members and beneficiaries), externally (government, media, and society as a whole), and internally (staff and volunteers). However, as foreign-funded NGOs often depend on limited number of funders, and relatively scarce funding, these organizations often prioritize the requirements of their funders. That could increase bureaucracy by switching the focus to reporting requirements instead of service provision. These organizations also display an isomorphic tendency as they imitate each other and try to follow global guidelines to work more effectively, which could in turn jeopardize the values and interests of host communities.

We can conclude that there are several arguments where governments feel the need to regulate the operation of foreign-funded NGOs. Even though it is not part of this study's research focus, it is crucial to acknowledge the numerous reasons for stricter regulations.

However, it is important to find a balance between protecting national security, enhancing philanthropy, and promoting accountability, because restrictive regulations on cross-border financial flows and foreign-funded NGOs can be harmful for CSOs and civil society as a whole.

1.5. OECD countries under the microscope

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) is an intergovernmental organization with 35 member states, established in 1960 by 18 European countries, Canada, and the United States to encourage economic development and promote policies that will improve the economic and social well-being of people around the world (OECD, 2017a). Member states are committed to a market economy and a pluralistic democracy (OECD, 2008, p. 8). Currently, OECD identifies the following four areas of interest (OECD, 2017b):

 Restore confidence in markets and the institutions that make them function;

- Re-establish healthy public finances as a basis for future sustainable economic growth;
- Foster and support new sources of growth through innovation, environmentally friendly 'green growth' strategies and the development of emerging economies; and
- Ensure that people of all ages can develop the skills to work productively and satisfyingly in the jobs of tomorrow.

Most OECD member states are high-income, developed countries with very high levels of human development (Table Two). Two exceptions are Mexico and Turkey that are upper middle income countries with high levels of human development. These two countries are outliers in other parameters as well, including the level of gross domestic product per capita as well as the freedom of their civil society.

As the number of NGOs has been growing worldwide, the grants by private agencies and NGOs has also increased. The total amount of grants by NGOs operating in OECD Development Assistance Committee's member states reached USD 39,890 million in 2016 (using 2014 as a base year) following a continuous increase from 2014 (OECD, 2018). This indicator shows that the amount of private international financial sources has been increasing and development funding from the private sector has become significant in the international arena. Thus, crossborder private philanthropy is becoming more significant and leads to an increasing level of foreign charitable contributions across the world.

Even though the OECD economically seems to be a homogenous group of member states, there is significant heterogeneity among these countries in terms of civic space. CIVICUS has conducted the CIVICUS Monitor – Tracking Civic Space (2017a), a worldwide analysis on civic space. CIVICUS defines civic space as "the set of conditions that allow civil society and individuals to organize, participate and communicate freely and without discrimination, and in doing so, influence the political and social structures around them" (CIVICUS, 2017b). Even though this index does not focus solely on the freedom of associations and the free operation of

NGOs, it is a useful starting point to examine the OECD countries' civic space. CIVICUS rates the state of civic space in every country of the world in a five-scale system: open, narrowed,

Table Two: Foreign-funded NGO Laws around The World

Country	Foreign-funded NGO Regulations	Year of	Brief Summary
		implementation	
Azerbaijan	Registration Law (2014); Rules on Studying the Activities of Non-Governmental Organizations, Branches or Representative Offices of Foreign Non-Governmental Organizations (2015); Rules on obtaining the right to provide grants in the territory of the Republic of Azerbaijan by foreign donors (2015); Rules on registration of service contracts on provision of services or implementation of work by NGOs, as well as by branches or representations of foreign NGOs from foreign sources (2015); and Decree on Simplification of Registration of Foreign Grants in Azerbaijan (2016)	2014; 2015; 2016	In Azerbaijan, several new regulations and amendments affect the operation of foreign-funded NGOs such as legal representatives of foreign-funded NGOs must have a permanent residence in the country; foreign-funded NGOs need to acquire am agreement with the Ministry of Justice that must include a specific expiration day, foreign donors need to obtain prior government approval to provide grants to CSOs or NGOs in the country, and operation of unregistered foreign-funded NGOs are prohibited.
Bangladesh	Foreign Donations (Voluntary Activities) Regulation Act (2016)	2016	The Bangladeshi government established the NGO Affairs Bureau within the Ministry of Establishment to regulate and monitor the activities of foreign-funded NGOs. Foreign-funded NGOs need to obtain prior governmental approval, known as the FD Registration, from the Bureau. Additional approval for all projects is also required. The Bureau can withdraw the approval any time in case of the use of "malicious" or "derogatory" statements against the constitution and constitutional bodies of Bangladesh.
Belarus	Decree No. 5 of the President of the Republic of Belarus on Foreign Gratuitous Aid (2015)	2016	Decree No. 5 introduced several requirements that have negatively affected the operation of foreign-funded NGOs including vague terminology to ban the use of foreign donations in cases of extremist activities, political campaigns, and "other political propaganda work with the population."

China	Charity Law (2016); Law on the Management of Overseas NGOs' Activities in Mainland China (2016)	2016; 2017	The Charity Law requires foreign funding to be under surveillance by police and national security departments. The n the Management of Overseas NGOs' Activities in Mainland China requires CSOs to report international contacts to authorities and to seek approval for visits, international cooperation, as well as foreign donations. Foreign NGOs are required for office registration or filing of temporary activities.
Colombia	Law 1819 of 2016	2016	The law addresses tax issues and requires CSOs to register in the President's Agency of Cooperation. Those CSOs that are eligible for tax incentives must also disclose the information regarding their foreign donations.
Egypt	Law 70 of 2017 on Associations and Other Foundations Working in the Field of Civil Work	2017	The new law requires all CSOs and foreign-funded NGOs to register with the Ministry of Social Solidarity and informal or unregistered groups became prohibited. The law also imposes registration fees on foreign-funded NGOs seeking to operate in the country and introduces a regulatory committee to monitor both domestic and foreign donations.
Ethiopia	Proclamation to Provide for the Registration and Regulation of Charities and Societies (2009)	2009	To be considered an Ethiopian Charity or Society, a CSO may not receive more than 10% of its overall resources from foreign sources in order to engage in activities that advance human and democratic rights, promote the equality of nations and nationalities and peoples and that of gender and religion, promote the rights of disabled and children's rights, promote conflict resolution or reconciliation, and promote the efficiency of the justice and law enforcement services.
Hungary	Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad	2017	The act requires foreign-funded NGOs to disclose their status of "organization supported from abroad" on their online and printed materials and declare the information of their major sponsors whom donation is HUF 500,000 (US\$ 2,000) or more. The violation of the law may lead to involuntary dissolution of the NGO.
India	Foreign Contribution Regulation Act (2010, amended in 2015); Financial Bill (2017)	2017	Foreign-funded NGOs registered under the Foreign Contribution Regulation Act are required to have their accounts in either nationalized banks or in banks with capacity to

	T	I	
			provide core banking services that allows government security agencies to access the accounts of foreign-funded NGOs in real time. The act also requires foreign-funded NGOs report the amount of their foreign contribution, its source, the manner in which it was received, the purpose for which it was intended, and the manner in which it was used. The new Financial Bill prohibits CSOs from transferring funds to another CSO by way of corpus or a capital grant, and restricts cash giving to no more that INR 2,000,000 (USD 3,000) per person per event per day.
Indonesia	Government Regulation No. 2 of 2013 on the Amendment of Government Regulation No. 63 of 2008 on the Implementation of Law on Foundations	2013	The government regulation requires foreign-funded NGOs to obtain a permit issued by the Ministry of Home Affairs or the local government according to the level of their operation. Prior to the permit, foreign-funded NGOs must sign a written agreement with the Indonesian government regarding its scope of activities.
Israel	Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016	2016	The law requires burdensome reporting requirements from foreign-funded NGOs that receive more than half of their funding from foreign states – including the European Union as well. Such foreign-funded NGOs must also disclose their status of "organizations supported by foreign government entities" in official reports as well as their online and printed materials.
Jordan	Amendments on 2008 Law No. 51 on Societies issued by the Council of Ministers (2015)	2015	The amendments require CSOs to submit an extensive application form providing detailed information about the source and use of foreign funding in order to be able to receive donations from abroad.
Kazakhstan	Order No. 553 of the Ministry of Finance on Approval of the Rules, Form and Terms for Individuals and Legal Entities and (or) Structural Subdivisions of a Legal Entity to Submit Notification to the State Income Authorities about the Receipt of Funds and (or) other Assets from Foreign States, International and Foreign Organizations, Foreigners, and Stateless Persons	2016	The new legislation requires foreign- funded NGOs to submit burdensome documentation on the receipt and expenditure of foreign funds and/or assets, and disclose their status as "funded from foreign sources" in all publications produced with support from foreign donations. The legislation also introduces administrative and criminal penalties in case of non- compliance.

Kyrgyz Republic	Draft Law on Foreign Agents (2014)	It was rejected in 2016	The draft law targeted foreign-funded NGOs and would have required such organizations to disclose their status as "foreign agents" and prohibited them from "political activities."
Nigeria	Draft Bill to Regulate the Acceptance and Utilization of Financial/Material Contributions of Donor Agencies to Voluntary Organizations (2014)	It has not been enacted yet.	The bill imposes a number of restrictions on the ability of CSOs to receive foreign funding, such as mandatory registration to accept foreign funding and governmental approval prior to receiving foreign donations.
Pakistan	International Non-Governmental Organization (INGO) Policy (2015)	2015	The policy requires all INGOs working in Pakistan to apply for registration with the Ministry of Interior and to provide information about their sources of funding and how they utilize their funds.
Russia	Federal Law Introducing Amendments to Certain Legislative Acts of the Russian Federation Regarding the Regulation of Activities of Non-commercial Organizations Performing the Function of Foreign Agents (2012)	2012	The law requires all non-commercial organizations to register with the Ministry of Justice, prior to receive foreign-funding if they intend to conduct political activities. Such NCOs are called "NCOs carrying functions of a foreign agent". Since 2014, the Ministry of Justice has been authorized to register NCOs as "foreign agents" without their consent and to impose fines in case of non-compliance. Additionally, foreign-funded NGOs wishing to make tax-exempt grants to Russian citizens or NCOs must be on a list of organizations approved by the Russian Government.
Saudi Arabia	Law on Associations and Foundations, Royal Decree No. M/8, 19.2.1437H (2015)	2015	The law prohibits CSOs from receiving foreign funding unless they obtain an approval from the Ministry of Labor and Social Development.
Slovakia	Draft Amendment to the Law on Non-profit Organizations Providing Public Community Services (Law No. 213/1997 Coll.) (2016)	It was rejected in 2016.	The amendment proposed to introduce the term "foreign agent" labelling foreign-funded NGOs that "act on order, request, under influence or control of a foreign natural and legal person" and are "funded by a foreign agent." It also proposed a creation of a registry of foreign agents and would have required such organizations to disclose their status as "Attention! Foreign agent" during their activities and in all their information materials.

Sudan	Policy regarding the Voluntary and Humanitarian Work Act	2013	The policy issued by the Humanitarian Aid Commission (HAC) reinforces the rules of the Voluntary and Humanitarian Work Act, 2006. The policy requires CSOs to secure HAC approval for projects and individual activities before receiving foreign funding. The receipt of foreign funding without prior approval may lead to the CSO's involuntary dissolution.
Uzbekistan	Law on Introduction of Amendments to Some Legislative Acts, which introduced amendments to the Law on Non- Governmental Non-Commercial Organizations (2016); Regulation on the Procedure of Coordination of Receipt of Monetary and Other Assets by Non-governmental Non- commercial Organizations (NNOs) When Such Assets are Received from Foreign States, International and Foreign Organizations, Citizens of Foreign States, or From Other Persons, Authorized by the Mentioned Above Persons (2016)	2016	In general, the process of receiving foreign funding is burdensome in Uzbekistan. In order to receive a foreign grant, a CSO must receive a special conclusion from the Commission under the Cabinet of Ministers. The grant funding must be sent through a state-owned bank and after receiving the grant funding, the CSO must provide several reports to a special government body operating under the Ministry of Finance. In 2016, new regulations affected the work of foreign-funded NGOs. The law requires CSOs to notify the government about planned trips of their representatives to foreign countries, and requires organizations to obtain approval for the receipt of all funds and assets from foreign states, organizations, and citizens. The regulation requires CSOs to obtain an approval from the Ministry of Justice to receive foreign funding.
Venezuela	Law for The Defense of political Sovereignty and National Self-Determination (2010)	2010	The law affects the operation of CSOs dedicated to the "defense of political rights" or other "political objectives" as they are not allowed to possess assets or receive any income from natural foreign citizens or foreign organizations.

Sources: International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, 2017; and IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018.

obstructed, repressed, and closed. According to the most recent analysis (CIVICUS, 2017a), 15 member states of the OECD have open civic spaces, while 16 member states – including the United States - have a narrowed civic space. In Hungary and Israel, the civic space became obstructed, while in Mexico and Turkey civil society is repressed (See Table Two for country-specific information). It is clear that civic space has been shrinking not only in developing and emerging countries, but also in developed countries in North America and Western Europe.

One of the reasons for the low rating of the Hungarian and Israeli civic space is that both countries have implemented NGO laws that target foreign-funded NGOs. Additionally, Turkey, whose civic space is repressed, might initiate more restrictive NGO laws as a consequence of the 2016 coup attempt (International Center for Not-for-Profit Law, 2017), while the Slovakia has discussed the draft of a foreign-funded NGO laws, similar to the Hungarian and the Israeli ones. Besides, several OECD countries, such as France, Spain, the United Kingdom, the United States, have been reported to abuse NGOs by implementing anti-money laundering acts that unnecessarily overregulate the free operation of such organizations (European Parliament, 2017).

Both Hungary and Israel are high-income, developed, democratic countries, with very high-level human development indices. Additionally, both countries have introduced legislation to combat money laundering and terrorist financing. Both countries recently introduced foreign NGO laws that explicitly target foreign-funded NGOs. In addition, both governments seem to attack government critics and journalists. While international organizations as well as the European Union urged both Israel and Hungary to withdraw their legislation on foreign-funded NGOs, both countries have used the United States' Foreign Agent Registration Act as an example to justify their new foreign NGO laws (Laufer, 2017).

Several OECD member states were reportedly restricting the operation of NGOs directly by introducing foreign NGO laws or indirectly by implementing anti-money laundering acts.

Developed countries with multi-player political systems, open market economies, advanced accountability and transparency standards, and significant international trade started to feel threatened by foreign-funded NGOs, according to the government statements. However, these new restrictions may have negative consequences on the international stage. Indeed, the international reputations of countries such as Hungary, Israel, as well as Austria suffered after enacting their foreign NGO laws. Hungary and Israel passed foreign agents regulations to closely monitor and label foreign-funded NGOs operating in their countries, closing the space for NGOs focusing primarily on human rights and government transparency. Before analyzing these two cases and comparing them to the United States' 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act, the thesis briefly explains the main regulations for foreign financial flows.

- 1.6. Main regulations for cross-border financial flows
- 1.6.1. Legislation on illicit financial flows, anti-money laundering, and combating the financing of terrorism

Illicit financial flows are defined as "money illegally earned, transferred, or used that crosses borders" (The World Bank, 2017). The umbrella term emerged in the 1990s and it refers to cross-border movement of capital, including cross-border charitable donations. Two specific types of illicit financial flows are money laundering and terrorist financing. Both money laundering and the financing of terrorism are financial crimes with economic effects. Money laundering is "the processing of assets generated by criminal activity to obscure the link between the funds and their illegal origins," while terrorism financing is "to raise money to support terrorist activities" (International Monetary Fund, 2017). The Financial Action Task Force on Money Laundering, an intergovernmental organizational body, was established in 1989

with the objectives "to set standards and promote effective implementation of legal, regulatory and operational measures for combating money laundering, terrorist financing and other related threats to the integrity of the international financial system" (Financial Action Task Force, 2017a).

The Financial Action Task Force currently includes 35 member states and 2 regional organizations, such as the European Commission and the Gulf Co-operation Council. Countries and intergovernmental organizations are working to restrict money laundering. Although compliance is positively associated with the quality of the domestic regulatory framework as well as the countries' economic development, compliance with the standards of anti-money laundering laws remained low in OECD countries (Yepes, 2011). The work of the International Monetary Fund, the Financial Action Task Force, as well as other intergovernmental organizations has expanded and accelerated after the terror attacks in the United States on 11th September, 2001, and since then the fight against money laundering and combating the financing of terrorism together became the main goals of such organizations.

In October 2001, the Financial Action Task Force adopted eight special recommendations in connection with terrorist financing - one of them focusing on NGOs. Even though the Financial Action Task Force acknowledged the vital role of NGOs in the world economy as well as the national economies and social systems, they stated that terrorist groups had been exploiting the civil sector to "raise and move funds, provide logistical support, [and] encourage terrorist recruitment" (Financial Action Task Force, 2010, p.20). The Financial Action Task Force's main arguments regarding the NGOs' vulnerability were that these organizations have a global presence with access to the population, they enjoy a high level of public trust, they are not subject to general governmental oversight yet have access to considerable sources of funds, and they have large transitory workforces (Financial Action Task Force, 2010, 2014).

Therefore the Special Recommendation VIII on nonprofit organizations was established to ensure that NGOs will be not misused by terrorist organizations.

Numerous countries started to implement such legislation to ensure the due diligence and accountability of NGOs. Even though the Financial Action Task Force promoted effective supervision and monitoring of such organizations, governments often introduced laws that overstepped the recommendation's primary focus. More than 30 countries surveyed on the Index of Philanthropic Freedom (Hudson Institute, 2015) reported that illicit financial flows regulations have created barriers to legitimate nonprofit activities and therefore, such regulations have become one of the policies impeding philanthropic freedom across the world. Increased reporting requirements, stigmatization of organizations receiving foreign funding, and other legal tools damaged philanthropic activities in countries such as Russia and Turkey, where illicit financial flows regulations were used "to limit the autonomy of philanthropic actors, investigate and surveil groups critical of the government, and impede organizations attempting to access foreign funds" (Hudson institute, 2015, p. 10).

The Financial Action Task Force revised Special Recommendation VIII in particular. The revised Special Recommendation VIII states the following (Financial Action Task Force, 2017b):

"Countries should review the adequacy of laws and regulations that relate to non—profit organizations which the country has identified as being vulnerable to terrorist financing abuse. Countries should apply focused and proportionate measures, in line with the risk-based approach, to such non-profit organizations to protect them from terrorist financing abuse, including:

- (a) by terrorist organizations posing as legitimate entities;
- (b) by exploiting legitimate entities as conduits for terrorist financing, including for the purpose of escaping asset-freezing measures; and
- (c) by concealing or obscuring the clandestine diversion of funds intended for legitimate purposes to terrorist organizations."

After the 2012 revision was implemented, the Financial Action Task Force issued a revision in connection with the implementation of 49 of the recommendations in 2016 where it

stated that governments need to ensure the implementation of Special Recommendation VIII in line with a risk-based approach and "should not disrupt or discourage legitimate charitable activities" (Financial Action Task Force, 2017b, p. 53). Indeed, in 2016 the Financial Action Task Force released an interpretative note that says, "while [NGOs] are not immune from terrorist abuse, countries and donors should no longer view the entire sector as high risk" (Charities Aid Foundation of America, 2016). However, only 5 percent of the countries evaluated by the Financial Action Task Force in 2014 were fully compliant or largely compliant with Special Recommendation VIII. Several countries have used anti-money laundering and counter terrorism acts as a tool to control NGOs. Based on the European Parliament's study (2017, p. 10-11) several developed countries, such as France, Spain, the United Kingdom, the United States, as well as numerous developing countries, as Chad, Egypt, Ethiopia, Jordan, Kenya, Oman, Sudan, and Uganda implemented regulations that directly or indirectly narrowed the operation of NGOs. Since 2012, 98 laws restricting freedom of association or assembly were adopted around the world (Rutzen, 2015), and the trend of restricting NGOs ability to receive foreign funding seems to continue in both developing and developed countries.

1.6.2. Foreign Agent Laws

One of the tools to stigmatize foreign-funded NGOs has been the anti-foreign NGO laws. In general, foreign agent laws or similar regulations require NGOs to report their foreign financial resources when foreign contributions exceeds a certain dollar amount, register as "foreign agents" to a central agency, and use the term "foreign agents" or "foreign-supported organizations" in all their publications. Several countries, including India, Israel, Hungary, Kyrgyzstan, Russia, and Ukraine enacted such legislation to monitor and often label those NGOs that receive international funding (Anheier, 2017, Laufer 2017). After harsh international criticism, several of these countries recently claimed that their laws follow the 1938 Foreign

Agents Registration Act enacted by the United States when they adopted their foreign agent legislation (Rutzen, 2015).

The 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act has a "disclosure statute that requires persons acting as agents of foreign principals in a political or quasi-political capacity to make periodic public disclosure of their relationship with the foreign principal, as well as activities, receipts and disbursements in support of those activities" (fara.gov, 2017). However, in contrast to recent foreign agents legislation, the 1938 version did not target NGOs specifically, as such legislation in Hungary, Israel and other countries do today. Indeed, several exemptions are mentioned in the American legislation, including entities engaged in purely religious, scholastic, academic, artistic or scientific pursuits, as well as entities engaged in the solicitation or collection of funds for medical aid or "for food and clothing to relieve human suffering" (U.S.C.A. §613).

The 1938 FARA – and the 1945 Defense Regulations – did not target foreign-funded NGOs or the civil sector specifically, but it was intended to monitor political lobbying and propaganda (U.S. Department of Justice, 2017b). While it is hard to compare historic national security threats, such as the Nazi propaganda before and during the II World War, to current challenges, it is important to spotlight that even in the 1930s and 1940s the U.S. government did not have the intention to monitor or control the civil society in general. Furthermore, the labeling requirements set by these laws seem to be free of stigmatizing foreign-funded NGOs, therefore it is not to directly compare the 1938 FARA to the current Hungarian and Israeli regulations that target foreign-funded NGOs.

In order to better understand the similarities and differences between the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act and the recently enacted foreign agents regulations in countries that are member states of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development, the cases of Israel and Hungary will be closely analyzed and compared, focusing on the wording of the

legislation, the governments' reasoning, as well as the current economic, political, and social trends these countries face.

CHAPTER TWO: GENERAL OVERVIEW OF HUNGARY AND ISRAEL

In order to compare Hungary and Israel, it is important to understand the political and social-cultural environment for civil society that influences the operation of both Hungarian and Israeli CSOs. Thus, this section provides a general overview of Hungary and Israel focusing on the economic, political, and socio-cultural characteristics of these countries as well as the regulations implemented by the Hungarian and Israeli governments against foreign-funded NGOs.

Both Israel and Hungary are developed, democratic countries and members of the OECD. The Human Development Report (UNDP, 2016) characterizes both Hungary and Israel as countries with a very high level of human development. Both are high-income countries (World Bank, 2017), even though the Israeli per capita Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (US\$ 37,200) is almost three times larger than the Hungarian one (US\$ 12,800). According to *The Global Philanthropy Environment* Index (IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018, p. 15) a "favorable philanthropic environment is strongly linked with higher per capita GDP." Thus, the countries' different level of GDP might help to explanation why Israel's (3.83) global philanthropy environment index² is higher than Hungary's (3.30).

In terms of political environment, both Hungary and Israel are parliamentary democracies, with a well-supported prime minister in charge. The Hungarian Prime Minister Viktor Orban³ has been in office since 2010 and the government party has had 58% of the votes

² The Global Philanthropy Environment Index (2018) studied 79 countries and economies using scores (1 to 5) to classify 5 factors as enabling conditions for philanthropy: ease of operation of a philanthropic organization, tax incentives, cross-border flows, political environment and socio-cultural environment. The 79 countries and economies included in the report scored between 2.07 (Qatar) and 4.80 (Finland and the Netherlands and)

³ Prime Minister Viktor Orban (1963-) has served as Prime Minister of Hungary since 2010, winning two reelections in 2014 and 2018. He also served as Prime Minister between 1998 and 2002. Prime Minister Orban is the founding member of Fidesz (Alliance of Young Democrats) and has served as Chairman of Fidesz since 2003. In 1989 he served as a Member of the delegation to the Opposition Roundtable that prepared the peaceful transition to democracy in the country.

in the Parliament since. The political forces are similar in Israel, as Benjamin Netanyahu⁴ has served as the Israeli Prime Minister since 2009 and the government party has enjoyed 55% of the votes at the Knesset since 2015.

Both prime ministers have strong opinions about foreign-funded NGOs as a possible threat of their country's stability and security. Regarding the foreign agents regulation, Israeli Prime Minister Netanyahu stated in January 2016 that "[t]ransparency is the heart of democracy. When you hear about the use and abuse of NGOs here — transparency is the least we want and is much warranted and it is common sense" (Ravid, 2016). Hungarian Prime Minister Orban used a very similar argument one year later: "who receive money from abroad to influence Hungarian politics should admit this fact and make it public: they should be transparent and should be accountable, just like political parties. Hungarians are right to demand this" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017n). Both the Israeli and the Hungarian governments, enjoying the absolute majority in the parliament, supported the enactment of the foreign agents regulations in 2016 and 2017, respectively. Soon after, Freedom House observed that both countries fostered a less favorable political environment for civil society. Both countries were ranked as free, although their score of civil liberties dropped due to the enactment of new regulations oppressing foreign-funded NGOs (Freedom House, 2018a).

Despite the similar economic and political environment, the countries differ from each other in regard to the size and scope of civil society as well as their socio-cultural environment.

.

⁴ Prime Minister Benjamin Netanyahu (1949-) has served as the Prime Minister of Israel since 2009, winning two reelections in 2013 and 2015. He also held the position between 1996 and 1999. Prime Minister Netanyahu has served as Chairman of the Likud party since 1993 and as the Leader of the Likud party since 2005. In the 1980s and early 1990s, Prime Minster Netanyahu has served in different positions – such as Israel's Ambassador to the United Nations or as a Deputy Minister of Foreign Affairs – to represent Israel in the international arena.

In 1995, the Israeli civil society sector represented a ten times larger share of the employment market than the Hungarian one, at 13.2% and 1.3% respectively. The difference was not as significant regarding the GDP produced by CSOs; Israeli CSOs produced 5.6% while the Hungarian CSOs produced only 2.8% of their country's total GDP (Salamon et al., 1999). In the last two decades, the civil society sector grew in both countries, but the Israeli civil society sector has continued to be one of the biggest in the world (Einolf, 2015, p. 514-515). In 2018, Israeli CSOs produce 5.8% of Israel's GDP and employ over 477,000 people, representing 13.7% of the Israeli workforce. By comparison, Hungarian CSOs produce over 4% of Hungary's GDP and employ over 150,000 people, representing 3.5% of the Hungarian workforce (Samson, 2018, KSH, 2018). The only indicator in which Hungary overtakes Israel is the number of CSOs. In Hungary there are over 61,600 CSOs, while in Israel this number merely reach 42,000 (Samson, 2018, KSH, 2018). Besides their size, the scope of Hungarian and Israeli civil society also differs in these two countries. Israeli CSOs primarily address social issues related to arts and culture, health care, social services, and religion. Hungarian CSOs also focus on health and social services as well as culture, but education and sport are dominant too (IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018).

Another important aspect of the socio-cultural environment is the influence of religion in the culture of giving. In this aspect, the two countries show very distinctive characteristics. In Hungary, 67% of the people are Christian, 51% of them identify themselves as Roman Catholic (U.S. Department of State, 2017), while more than 20% of the respondents report no religious affiliation. Even though the Christian roots of giving have influenced civil society in Hungary, giving and volunteering became secularized and less-practiced during the socialist era between 1949 and 1989. The government has been seen as the primary social service provider, even after the political and economic transition in 1989. On the other hand, religion is an important

component of the Israeli civil society and giving. Seventy-five percent of the Israeli population identify themselves as Jewish, 18% as Muslim and 2% as Christian. Religion has an important role not only to promote giving through the Jewish and Muslim traditions, but also to contribute to the cultural and national identity. Both Jews and Arabs consider being religious and religion to be a significant part of their identity (Cooperman et al., 2016). Thus, religious differences in Israel have influenced the social and political space as well as the civil sector. Despite the Muslim percentage of the population, only 12% of CSOs represent Arab-Palestinian citizens and those organizations are often targeted by the government and are left out from cross-sectoral cooperation (Almog-Bar, 2016, p. 240). The Transparency Law mainly affects the operation of pro-Palestinian organizations too, deepening the religious and political tension in the society.

The socio-cultural differences can be also observed through the results of the World Giving Index 2017 published by Charities Aid Foundation. The report analyzes giving behavior across the world by measuring three different indicators of giving: helping a stranger who needed help, donating money to a CSO, and volunteering to an organization. In terms of the overall score, Israel ranked the 35 out of 139 countries, while Hungary was only the 119th country (Charities Aid Foundation, 2017).

However, in terms of the rise of civil society, CSOs played a crucial role in building democracy in both countries. In Hungary, CSOs were important parts of the political and economic transition of the country in the late 1980s and early 1990s, while in Israel, CSOs provided tremendous resources to form the country economic and social policies since the 1970s. Both governments have acknowledged the importance of domestic CSOs as well as the contribution of volunteers, however, recently both Hungary and Israel targeted and labeled foreign-funded NGOs and accused them of representing foreign interests. The Hungarian government has identified the global, international capital – particularly the interests of the

Hungarian-American investor, Mr. Soros – as the driving force behind foreign-funded NGOs that try to interfere domestic policies including the ones related to the Syrian refugee crisis. The Israeli government, on the other hand, has claimed that NGOs funded by foreign governments might interfere with domestic issues by promoting pro-Palestinian values and criticizing the government's policies.

The language used by both governments was influenced by the challenges Hungary and Israel have faced. In the case of Hungary, the 2015 refugee crisis put the country in a difficult situation and the government chose to close their borders and refused to offer governmental support to refugees arriving from Syria and other Middle-Eastern countries. The Hungarian government was criticized by foreign governments and international organizations because of the way the country handled the refugee crisis. Among other critics, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights stated that the measures Hungary introduced in response to the migration crisis contravene international law; and the Secretary General of the Council of Europe expressed his concern about whether the Hungarian laws comply with the provisions of the Geneva Convention (Novak, 2015). As a consequence of international criticism, the Hungarian government attacks against foreign-funded NGOs have increased and the government communication changed to emphasize that foreign-funded NGOs aim to help illegal migrants and therefore threaten the security of the nation.

Simultaneously, Israel has faced the on-going Israeli-Palestinian conflict. Starting in September 2015, the conflict continued with an increased level of violence between the two nations. The "Wave of Terror" escalated the government's anti-Palestinian statements and oppressed the left-wing, liberal NGOs that often raised concerns about the Israeli-Palestinian conflict and criticized the governmental responses. On several occasions, the government extended the state of emergency, which has been continuously in place since the country's

establishment in 1948. The dichotomy of acknowledging and supporting domestic CSOs while simultaneously targeting and oppressing foreign-funded NGOs characterizes both governments' relationship with their civil society.

The case studies in Chapter 3 and 4 argue that the Hungarian and Israeli governments used similar arguments to introduce their own foreign agents regulation. One of those arguments was to increase transparency among CSOs. In the last two decades, the Financial Action Task Force (FATF) has encouraged countries to adopt legislation against illicit financial flows, including money laundering and terrorism financing. However, according to the 2015 Index of Philanthropic Freedom (Hudson Institute, 2015), legislation seeking to limit illicit financial flows has become one of the most common policies that hinders the operation of philanthropic organizations in countries all around the world. To analyze whether the transparency of civil society can be increased by the foreign agents regulations adopted by Hungary and Israel, it is important to analyze both the countries' legal environment, including the reason for enhancing transparency, and the organizations that have been affected by such laws.

In case of the legal environment, both countries grant the freedom of associations and assembly: Hungary in its Fundamental Law, and Israel through the implementation of the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. It is important that both countries have adopted pieces of legislation related to anti-money laundering and counter terrorism, but these laws explicitly do not regulate the work of CSOs. However, the general CSO regulations, such as the Act CLXXV of 2011 on the Freedom of Association, Public Benefit Status, and the Operation and Support of Civil Society Organizations in Hungary or the Amutot Law, 5740-1980 and the Companies Law, 5759-1997 in Israel, do require CSOs to submit their annual financial reports to the central Registrar as well as make these reports available for the public.

Transparency of CSOs is important for two reasons: to fight against illicit financial flows and to enhance the organizations' and therefore the sector's legitimacy. First of all, in terms of illicit financial flows, the FATF acknowledged that terrorist groups had been exploiting the civil sector to "raise and move funds, provide logistical support, [and] encourage terrorist recruitment" (Financial Action Task Force, 2010, p.20). However, as the FATF's Special Recommendation VIII on NGOs was adopted, several countries abused this legislation to go beyond oversight and actually narrow the freedom of CSOs. Therefore, even though transparency remained one of the most important tools against illicit financial flows, FATF highlighted that such legislation should not alter or prevent the work of legitimate CSOs (Financial Action Task Force, 2017b).

Besides the fight against illicit financial flows, transparency is also important to support CSOs' legitimacy. The lack of transparency can undermine the public trust towards CSOs, especially if the organization is attempting to influence the public policy (Lehr-Lehnardt, 2005). Transparency can be more relevant for international CSOs (Mertus, 1999), but as the role of CSOs has increased in the last two to three decades, stakeholders started to demand more transparency and accountability from all CSOs, especially when CSOs work on advocacy and might influence public policy (Brown and Jagadanada, 2007). Finally, as numerous organizations that have come under attack by the foreign agents regulations advocate for government accountability and transparency, it is important that they set the example.

It is clear that both Hungary and Israel introduced legislation to fight against illicit financial flows as well as to require a certain level of transparency from all CSOs prior to their foreign agents regulations. However, if the Hungarian and the Israeli governments had aimed to increase transparency among civil society organizations, they would have a much broader definition of those organizations that are affected by the foreign agents regulations. Through

these pieces of legislation, Hungary regulated the registration of and reporting requirements for foreign-funded organizations that receive HUF 7,2 million (US\$ 29,000) or more from foreign donors and Israel only targets organizations that receive funds from foreign government entities. Both segments are relatively small compared to the countries' entire civil society. Therefore, these laws cannot enhance the transparency of the sector in general. Indeed both foreign agents regulations were criticized as discriminative and having the potential to undermine the values of democracy (European Commission, 2017d, European Union External Action Service, 2016).

In addition to transparency, another argument used by both the Hungarian and Israeli governments was that the new laws helped protect state sovereignty and national security.

Both countries argued that the implementation of such laws "protect the sovereignty of their states from foreign interference in domestic political affairs" (Rutzen, 2015, p. 24). The Hungarian Prime Minister Orban stated several times that foreign funded organizations "represent foreign interest" and their goal is "political interference" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017b). The Israeli Prime Minister Netanyahu said that the foreign agents regulation "prevents an absurd situation in which foreign countries interfere in Israel's internal affairs" (Eglash and Booth, 2016).

Despite protecting state sovereignty, the enacted pieces of legislation not only enhanced the reporting requirements of foreign-funded organizations – that, in case of Hungary, often do not provide advocacy or lobbying activities at all – but also created a platform to stigmatize these organizations by creating a harsh, negative propaganda against them and labelling them publicly as foreign-funded organizations.

CHAPTER THREE: HUNGARY AND THE ACT ON THE TRANSPARENCY OF ORGANIZATIONS RECEIVING SUPPORT FROM ABROAD

This chapter focuses on the Hungarian Foreign NGO Act. First, the chapter discusses the development of Hungarian civil sector briefly, focusing on the time period after the 1989 democratic transition. Next, the current legislation will be examined: the Act CLXXV of 2011 on the Freedom of Association, Public Benefit Status, and the Operation and Support of Civil Society Organizations (Civil Act), the new Act LIII of 2017 on Prevention of Money Laundering and the Financing of Terrorism (Anti-money Laundering Act). Then, the chapter analyses the Hungarian government's arguments for the establishment of the Foreign NGO Act and the language in Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad (Foreign NGO Act) before describing how the government campaign against foreign-funded NGOs intensified after the implementation of the Foreign NGO Act. Finally, as Hungary is a European Union Member State, the European Union's position is briefly presented.

Hungary is one of the OECD countries that most recently adopted an anti-foreign NGO law. The Freedom in the World 2018 report published by Freedom House draws attention to the "increasing intimidation of civil society groups" in Hungary. Even though Hungary's freedom status in the report remained free in 2017, this country experienced the tenth largest decline in civic freedom in the last decade (Freedom House, 2018a). NGOs receiving foreign charitable contributions have been under attack by the government and targeted through the adoption of the Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad (Foreign NGO Act). Hungary became the second OECD country, after Israel, to have labelled NGOs that receive foreign funding by requiring burdensome reporting activities and creating a new legal category for "organization support from abroad."

In Hungary the legal term "civil society organization" includes foundations, associations, public benefit organizations and other organizations established under the right of associations (Act CCXIII of 2013, Article 7.1). The term "nongovernmental organizations" (NGOs) has recently become the preferred legal term for foreign-funded civil society organizations that were described by the Hungarian government as organizations that "set up local offices in various countries, which recruit activists and also usually pay them, and which represent international interests — usually the interests of global, international capital" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017a). Therefore, the chapter uses the terms accordingly: CSOs refer to registered organizations under the Hungarian legislation, while NGOs refer to foreign-funded CSOs that became primarily targeted by the Foreign NGO Act.

3.1. The way towards "Hungarian illiberal democracy"

Hungarian CSOs were not allowed to operate independently during the socialist era. The 1949 Constitution granted the rights of freedom of assembly and associations: "in order to improve the social, economic and cultural activities of workers, the People's Republic of Hungary provides constitutional rights to the right of association" (Article 56). Despite the ruling, the Socialist Party "rejected the concept of independent organizations, asserting that independence from the 'state of the people' was a meaningless idea" (Cox & Wass, 1995, p. 160). There was no official registration procedure for independent civil society organizations; co-operatives and trade unions had to operate under the governmental umbrella organization.

In the 1980s Hungarian civil society started to gain power, especially through environmental and student movements, culminating in the 1989 transition to democracy. The role of both registered and unregistered CSOs was crucial to start a public discourse, engage different social groups and create an enabling environment to lead towards the democratic transition in 1989. In 1989 the Parliament revised the Constitution and adopted the Law II of

1989 on the Freedom of Association that allowed the existence and registration of independent, autonomous groups, as "social organizations." The new legislation broadened the activities of civil society organizations stating that "social organizations can be established for the purpose of carrying out activities that are consistent with the Constitution and which are not prohibited by law" (Article 2.3.). Furthermore, the law stated that "registration of a social organization cannot be denied if its founders have fulfilled the requirements of this law" (Article 4.1), which led to a significant increase of registered associations: in 1989 there were 8,514 registered associations, while by 1992 their number reached 19,950, more than doubling in three years (Cox & Wass, 1995). The Hungarian society began to exercise its right of the freedom of associations immediately after the autocratic government began lose its power in the late 1980s. In 1989 Hungary experienced a transition to democracy: a political transition where multi-party, free and fair elections, parliamentary system, and the separation of powers were established and an economic transition from planned economy to market economy.

During and after the democratic transition, a heterogeneous civil society arose in Hungary (Csanády 1998). New pieces of legislation passed, such as the 1993 Civil Code that introduced new legal forms of CSOs including public law foundations, public benefit companies, and public law associations; the Act CXXVI of 1996 Law on the Use of a Specified Portion of Personal Income Tax (otherwise known as "1% Act") that allows taxpayers to designate one or two percent of his/her paid personal income tax to qualified civil society and religious organizations; and the Act CLVI of 1997 on Public Benefit Organizations that provided tax incentives for both individuals and corporations, established two degrees of public benefit organizations, and required more transparency and accountability from public benefit organizations.

In addition, the Hungarian public administration of that time aimed to strengthen CSOs by providing financial support to these organizations. From 1990 through 1997 the total amount of central government support to CSOs increased by 10 times (Csóka, 2000). After the economic transition, the government heavily relied on CSOs to provide social services for those in need as the level of unemployment, poverty as well as homelessness increased dramatically in the early 1990s (Klaudt, 1995). Cooperation between the government and CSOs was increasing both in the decision-making process and policy implementations. The Hungarian government was willing to satisfy the standards established by the Western world in order to successfully join the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (joined on May 7, 1996), the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (joined on March 12, 1999), the European Union (joined on May 1, 2004), and other intergovernmental organizations.

While the Hungarian CSO legislation was established and the cooperation between the governmental and civil sector improved in the 1990s (Csanádi 1998, Csóka 2000), the sector still struggled to operate in the established political structure. Szabó (1991 in Lomax 1997) emphasized that the old elite remained in crucial positions that might have resulted in CSOs remaining relatively unknown to the majority of the society. Cox and Wass (1995) noted that associations and other CSOs were rather weak and fragmented with no effective links to the political sphere in the 1990s.

However, the positive changes in the legislation created an enabling environment for Hungarian civil society: the number of CSOs were increasing as well as the aggregate revenue of CSOs (KSH, 2016). In 2003 the Hungarian government increased the amount of government funding available to CSOs (Act L of 2003) and recognized and supported volunteering work (Act LXXXVIII of 2005). Simultaneously, the level of tax incentives for charitable contributions was decreasing in the beginning of 2000s, and by the end of the 2008 economic crisis, individuals

and private entrepreneurs were no longer entitled to tax incentives for charitable contributions as a government austerity measure. Thus, civil society has remained heavily dependent on government funding both politically (Dobszay 2014) and economically (KSH 2015). In 2012, for the first time after the democratic transition, all three macro indicators of the civil sector decreased: number of registered organizations, the aggregate revenue of CSOs, and the rate of employment in the civil sector. The number of registered CSOs has been decreasing since then due to the fact that the 2011 Civil Law initiated a cleansing process within the sector (Article 11).

Since 2013, intensifying government attacks against Hungarian CSOs have been observed. In August 2013, the government related newspapers published lists of CSOs that they suspected of serving foreign interests, and these sentiments were echoed by the governing party's spokesperson. Some of these organizations, such as the Okotars Foundation, received funds through the framework of the EEA/Norway Grants NGO Fund⁵. Two days after the 2014 Hungarian parliamentary election - where the victory of the governing parties preserved the power of Prime Minister Orban - the Prime Minister's Office claimed that Okotars Foundation had practiced political influence by being close to the opposition party. In May 2014, Norway suspended the Norway Grants NGO Fund because of the Hungarian government's accusation.

The Government Control Office started an audit on the Fund by the Hungarian government's request. During the audit, the Government Control Office requested materials from 58 CSOs supported by the Fund with very short notice. In addition, the Okotars Foundation and DemNet – both receiving funds from the Norwegian Government – were raided by police. These CSOs' tax numbers, and by extension, their legal operations, were temporarily suspended by

⁻

⁵ The EEA Grants and Norway Grants are financial contribution of Iceland, Liechtenstein, and Norway to reducing economic and social disparities and to strengthening bilateral relations with 15 EU countries in Central and Southern Europe (EEA Grants, 2018). Since 2015, the EEA/Norway Grants have been partly suspended in Hungary. Please find more: https://eeagrants.org/

September 2014 (Eotvos Karoly Policy institute et al., 2014). It was the first government attack against foreign-funded CSOs and Hungarian civil society in general.

Hungary's largest newspaper supporting social-democratic values was closed down in 2016 while public media, which "generally adhere to progovernmental narratives" have enjoyed increasing government funding in the last years (Freedom House, 2016). Since 2015, Freedom House's "Nations in Transit" publication has classified Hungary's regime as semi-consolidated democracy and in 2017 Hungary had the lowest ranking in the Central European region as "the government has now snuffed out most of the critical media and built an efficient machine of state capture and grand corruption" (Freedom House, 2017).

According to the CSO Sustainability Index for Central and Eastern Europe and Eurasia published by USAID, the CSO sustainability index has been decreasing in Hungary since 1998.

Between 2010 and 2016 the decline was significant, especially in the cases of legal environment, financial viability, and public image. According to USAID (2017), the government's continued "vilification campaign" has had a strong, negative affect on the public image of CSOs, while foreign-funded organizations came under government attacks that decreased both cross-border and domestic funding of such organizations. In 2017 the Hungarian government has consolidated its power by "uprooting democratic institutions and intimidating critics in civil society" as well as passing laws oppressing the activities of foreign-funded nongovernmental organizations (Freedom House, 2018c, p. 16.).

By 2017, Hungary became one of the countries whose democratic freedom has dramatically declined in the last decade, and scored the lowest in political rights and civil liberties within the European Union's Member States (Freedom House, 2018c). Before the chapter discusses the Foreign NGO Act and the related government campaign, it is important to

understand the legislation related to CSOs and anti-money laundering that went into action prior to the Foreign NGO Act.

3.2. Hungarian legislation to enhance CSO transparency and prevent money laundering
In Hungary, the legal framework for CSOs is the Act CLXXV of 2011 on the Freedom of
Association, Public Benefit Status, and the Operation and Support of Civil Society Organizations
(Civil Act) and the Civil Code V of 2013. The Act LIII of 2017 on Prevention of Money Laundering
and the Financing of Terrorism (Anti-money Laundering Act) is also relevant to better
understand how the government has fought against money laundering and financing terrorism.

The new Civil Act in 2011, which applied to foundations, associations, public benefit organizations and other organizations established under the right of associations (Article 1), "caused disappointments" within the sector (USAID, 2012). USAID (2012) stated that the unclear interpretation and dubious implementation of the legislation caused "uncertainty and confusion among CSOs." However, the Civil Act was supposed to address several problems, such as simplified public benefit status for registered CSOs, well-established transparency and accountability policies, and clearly defined state funding. The Civil Act introduced the one-step qualification for public benefit organizations. Organizations applying for such status need to provide state tasks, have adequate resources, and demonstrate adequate level of public support (Article 32.1). The Civil Act also focused on the sector's transparency and accountability. It created a unified, public electronic database - the Civil Information Portal - to introduce electronic registration and reporting for CSOs (Article 14), but the portal was only introduced in 2015, and online registration and reporting has been only mandatory for public benefit organizations - that, after a huge drop, is only 19% of registered CSOs (KSH, 2018). Furthermore, the Civil Act introduced a reporting system for CSOs in order to make the sector more transparent. CSOs need to submit an annual report about their operational, financial, and

income status (Article 28) and prepare a public benefit annex (Article 29) and make both documents available on their websites (Article 30). External audit is required of CSOs with annual incomes of HUF 300 million (US \$ 1,200 million) or more (USAID, 2015). The Civil Act also established a new government financing system: the National Cooperation Fund. Despite the aim of more transparent government funding, the Committee of the National Cooperation Fund is dominated by government-appointed representatives (Article 60) and the minister can allocate personally 10 percent of the funding (Article 56). Finally, even though the Civil Act reestablished corporate tax benefits for charitable contributions to CSOs with public benefit status, tax incentives for individuals have not been reintroduced since 2009.

The new Civil Code was adopted in 2013 and entered into force in 2014 also had several implications on CSOs. In terms of associations, the new Civil Code established new procedures for conducting general assemblies (Article 3:55) as well as an extension of a board's liability after a CSO's dissolution (Article 3:21 and 6:536). In regard to foundations, the Civil Code reintroduced the concept of private foundations (Article 3:376), established the extension of board liability, and mandated the involuntary termination of foundations if they do not engage in worthwhile activities for more than three years (Article 3:400). Furthermore, CSOs had to adapt their statutes to the provisions of the Civil Code by March 15, 2017that created burdensome responsibilities for smaller CSOs. In the original text of the law, the deadline was March 15, 2016 which was modified by the Hungarian Parliament to provide more time for CSOs to adapt these requirements.

The third relevant legislation for the study is the Act LIII of 2017 on Prevention of Money Laundering and the Financing of Terrorism (Anti-money Laundering Act). The legislation was adopted after The Council of Europe's Committee of Experts on The Evaluation of Anti-money Laundering Measures and the Financing of Terrorism (MONEYVAL) claimed that Hungary should

conduct a formal review of the entire civil sector in order to identify and monitor NPOs that could potentially pose a higher risk for financing terrorism (MONEYVAL, 2016). However, the Anti-money Laundering Act did not included CSOs among the organizations and service providers that are required to abide by the statutory provisions. The main intents of the Anti-money Laundering Act were to implement the provision of the 4th Anti-money Laundering Directive established by the European Union. The law outlines the new requirements for organizations and includes the possibility of electronic identity verification of clients/ customers who are part of any financial transactions (Article 7), the establishment of a central database (Article 25), and stricter and higher amount of penalties in case of unlawful activities (Article 69).

As the further analysis of the Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad will show, the regulations regarding the registration and reporting requirements of foreign-funded organizations are discriminative against the operation of such organizations and do not serve anti-money laundering purposes as only one segment of the civil sector is addressed by the Foreign NGO Act.

- 3.3. Foreign-funded NGOs under government attack
- 3.3.1. Government critics and government-related studies prior to the announcement of the draft law

Since early 2017, the Hungarian government introduced a negative campaign against foreign-funded CSOs, otherwise known as NGOs. While the government several times declared that the role of civil society is important and valuable for the Hungarian society, NGOs have increasingly been characterized as organizations that represent "foreign influence" whose goal is "political interference" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017b). Prime Minister Orban has underlined several times the importance of the regulation of foreign-funded NGOs, but as the subchapter shows, the political arguments for such legislation have shifted from

emphasizing transparency of the civil sector to positioning the legislation as a safeguard against Soros-funded organizations that threaten the country's stability. However, such foreign-funded NGOs often provide crucial social services, from mitigating corruption and promoting transparency and accountability in the public sphere of the decision-making processes (Transparency International, 2018), through promoting democracy and independent journalism (The Open Society Foundations, 2018) to human and minority rights (Helsinki Committee, 2018). Indeed, NGOs often support social services that a government may primarily be responsible for, including educational and health care programs, child and homeless care activities, and environmental initiatives.

The Hungarian government started to make a clear distinction between foreign-funded NGOs and CSOs in order to describe NGOs in negative terms. Allegedly, NGOs became a primary focus because of lack of transparency and accountability – even though they had to follow the same reporting requirements as other CSOs and prepare and publish an annual report, a public-benefit annex, and a report on donations. Prime Minister Orban described NGOs as "large-scale predators," "Hungarian depots of international organizations ... [that] have been here, under our skin or under our nails as a thread," and claimed that these organizations "represent international interests," and therefore want to "hide behind the term of civil society organizations" (Magyarorszag Kormanya, 2017b)⁶. These terms clearly show that the Hungarian government used harsh, offensive criticisms to negatively influence the public image of foreign-funded NGOs in the country. Even though the campaign avoided inflammatory terms such as "foreign agents," the wording of the campaign was clearly aimed at making foreign-funded

_

⁶ All quotations cited from Magyarorszag Kormanya is available in Hungarian and have been translated into English by the author.

NGOs appear as representatives of foreign interests that aim to attack Hungarian integrity and political stability.

The presence and activity of foreign-funded NGOs became one of the main issues to be addressed by the Hungarian government in 2017. In his address in Parliament before the start of daily business on February 20, 2017, Prime Minister Orban stated that foreign-funded international networks have attempted to influence internal politics in countries such as the United States and France. Thus, "transparency, accountability, and openness" are required from NGOs in order not to allow "global capital to make decisions instead of the Hungarian people" (Magyarorszag Kormanya, 2017c). By March 2017, the Hungarian government directly targeted NGOs, stating that such organizations could undermine the Hungarian value system as well as the country's safety and stability. On March 15, the anniversary of the 1848 Revolution, Prime Minister Orban said that "either the past or the future of the Hungarian nation ..., the security of the European people, ... [or] whether or not we remain Hungarian does not matter to Brussels and international capital [referring to foreign-funded NGOs] (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017g).

Since late March, NGOs were accused of being part of the "migrant business." In 2015, over one million migrants and refugees crossed into Europe from the Middle East, resulting in one of the biggest refugee flows since World War II. Hungary was impacted by the inflow of refugees as a transit country, receiving the highest ratio of political asylum applications per population among all European countries receiving refugees in 2015 (Connor, 2016). The Hungarian government introduced anti-refugee policies such as planning to build a border fence along its borders with Serbia and Croatia, introducing a "zero refugee" policy, rejecting the proposed European Union quota system to resettling refugees, and adopting a law that allows the detention of migrants in temporary camps. The Hungarian government anti-immigration

campaign remained in the political agenda despite the fact that the number of migrants significantly dropped after physically closing the country's Southern borders. Since March 2017, foreign-funded NGOs have been portrayed as organizations that support illegal immigration and therefore, organizations that operate against the Hungarian public.

Statements of illegal immigration against NGOs increased after March 14, when the European Court of Human Rights (ECHR) gave its judgement in the case Ilias and Ahmed V. Hungary (no. 47287/15), The Hungarian Helsinki Committee represented two Bangladeshi nationals, Mr. Ilias and Mr. Ahmed, who applied for asylum immediately after arriving in Hungary, where they were held in a transit zone for 23 days. They complained that their detention conditions at the transit zone violated their human rights. The court found that the Hungarian authorities did violate several articles of the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and therefore the Hungarian government was sanctioned by EUR 28,705 (US\$ 35,300) that includes the non-pecuniary damage caused to the applicants as well as their costs and expenses incurred before the Court (ECHR, 2017). After this case, the government started to use the terms "illegal migration" and "participation of migration business" to support the necessity of a Foreign NGO Act. The Government Spokesperson stated that there are problems with foreign-funded NGOs that are "concerned with 'the migrant business,' or with the protection of human rights which induces the violation of international law and the sovereignty of a country" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2017h).

Simultaneously, the government-related Szazadveg Foundation released its survey on social trust in February 2017 and its study of NGOs as political actors in March 2017. The Szazadveg Foundation is "an independent think-tank organization, whose primary aim is to articulate and forward the issues and processes concerning Hungarian society and public interests, and to publish a clearly written and objective analysis of these processes" (ENOP,

2018). However, the Foundation received several critics in the last couple of years regarding its biased studies and strong connection with and financial dependence on the current ruling party. The Foundation was established by Fidesz members, and received several critics have stated that not only has the Foundation created "bogus studies" using taxpayer's money (index.hu, 2012, hvg.hu, 2015, hvg.hu 2018), but it has also manipulated polls' results to support the government's ideology and goals (The Budapest Beacon, 2016) Therefore, the survey and study published by the Foundation in connection with foreign-funded NGOs might have been served directly the aims of the ruling party to provide an appearance of a professionally-grounded dialogue.

According to the Survey on Social Trust by the government-influenced Szazadveg

Foundation, (Szazadveg Foundation, 2017a), "the majority of the [Hungarian] population does

not trust foreign-funded NGOs, but they trust domestic civil society organizations." The survey

analyzed the level of social trust towards different public and nonprofit institutions, such as

public schools, the military, the European Union, the United Nations, the Supreme Court, the

media, and civil society organizations. According to the survey, 56% of the Hungarian population

trust domestic civil society organizations, and only 29% of the Hungarian population trust

foreign-funded NGOs. However, we can infer that the nonprofit sector in general has a low level

of social trust, as domestic civil society organizations were ranked 14, and foreign-funded NGOs

were ranked dead last among the 17 institutions the survey covered. The results emphasized the

importance of NGO regulation, and provided evidence to support the government's claim that

public opinion is against the activities of foreign-funded NGOs.

The study of NGOs as political actors, published by the government-influenced Szazadveg Foundation (2017b), focused on foreign-funded NGOs and their political roles. The study discussed the political roles and power of foreign-funded NGOs, their democratic

legitimacy as well as their accountability. The study also drew attention to the fact that foreign-funded NGOs were strongly dependent on their donors, suggesting that these organization could easily become the lobbyists of their donors (Szazadveg Foundation, 2017b, p. 10). The study also issued recommendations such as the creation of NGO legislation to address the lobbying activities of foreign-funded NGOS. This recommendation was allegedly based on "Western regulatory trends," due to the fact that the political role of NGOs on agenda setting and influencing the public opinion has increased recently in the West and around the world. We can infer that this study established the legal need for an anti-foreign NGO Law and indirectly authorized the government to introduce the Draft Law on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad.

Based on the government language and the studies published by Szazadveg Foundation, the following arguments can be identified to support the implementation of a Foreign NGO Act:

- Transparency and accountability since the public trust towards foreign-funded NGOs is low and such organizations' activities might impact the country's political stability, transparency might help stakeholders better understand and monitor the operation of NGOs;
- Fight against illegal immigration as NGOs might support illegal immigration and therefore human trafficking, their operation might violate both international and national laws;
- Fight against foreign-funded lobbying as NGOs might influence domestic politics and the 2018 election as seen in the recent elections in the United States and in France a possible legislation might prevent such unlawful activities.

3.3.2. Changing rhetoric and preliminary opinion of the Venice Commission

After an online media outlet, 444.hu, leaked the first version of the draft law on April 2, the ruling party's members of Parliament submitted the Act T/14967 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Foreign Funds to the Hungarian Parliament on April 7, 2017. The draft

law required organizations receiving foreign funds over a certain yearly threshold to register themselves, and to label themselves as "organizations receiving foreign funds" on their website and in their publications.

On April 10, Peter Szijjarto, Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade, became the first person in the current debate about NGOs to refer to the U.S. 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act, stating that the Foreign NGO Act "is also required in the United States, "in a certain form"" (Magyarorszag Kormanya, 2017a). However, he did not elaborate on this claim or provide direct evidence for it. On April 16, during his Easter interview, Prime Minister Orban underscored again the difference between CSOs and NGOs. The latter were characterized as international lobbying organizations that want to influence public authority and political decisions. Additionally, he referred to the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act, without any further specification, highlighting that the Hungarian Foreign NGO Act would not be as strict as the American one (Website of the Hungarian Government, 2017i):

"In America these organisations are called 'agent' organisations, and so far Europe has not been required to face the question of how to regulate their activities. Now we have said that we could adopt the US model – but American legislation is too strict even for my liking. That won't work for us. Here we have had a dictatorship or two in the past, and we don't like things like that. So all we want – but this is something we have a right to – is for every Hungarian to be able to see and find out the identity and motives of those who fund organisations which voice their views on matters which are important in terms of public policy and the future of the community."

Prime Minister Orban made it clear for the public that the legislation in the United States are much stricter without mentioning the name of the regulation itself. However, in accordance with the Russian and Israeli references, we can conclude that the comment referred to the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act, which primarily regulates NGOs that conduct lobbying activities.

In April, not only was the American legislation frequently mentioned by the ruling party, but also NGOs became identified as organizations supported by George Soros⁷. Mr. Soros' name and its possible influence in politics were often mentioned by the government as a possible reason to implement a Foreign NGO Act, and government statements started to focus on "harmful nongovernmental-organizations" that have been funded by Mr. Soros. Pal Vorner, Parliamentary State Secretary of Ministry of Justice, said that civil society organizations that criticize the new law do not keep in mind the country's interests (Magyaroszag Kormanya, 2017b), after several civil society organizations initiated a peaceful protest against the Foreign NGO Act in April 12, 2017. By the end of the month, Prime Minister Orban mentioned that special legislation is necessary for NGOs, because "we want to see them, want to know them and we want to know who they are financially supported by, otherwise we cannot defend Hungary from them." (Magyaroszag Kormanya, 2017c). The creation of a common enemy by the government led to negative public opinion regarding foreign-funded NGOs, especially those who work in the areas of government transparency and human rights.

The government started to concentrate on the "Soros-organizations," those organizations that are directly or indirectly funded by Mr. Soros, and those that have actively participated in providing services during the peak of the migration crisis in Hungary. In May 2017, Parliamentary State Secretary Volner said that immigration organizations attacked Hungary in all sorts of ways in accordance with the instructions of Mr. Soros. Further,

⁷ George Soros (1930-) is one of the world's foremost philanthropists. Mr. Soros founded the Soros Fund Management, LLC in 1969 and has worked as a hedge fund investor in the United States. In the 1970s, Mr. Soros began his global philanthropy, and since the 1980s he helped promote cross-border education, civil society and the combat against discrimination in Hungary. He established the Hungarian Soros Foundation (later part of the Open Society Foundations) and founded the Central European University in Budapest, Hungary. In 2018, after almost 35 years of operation, the Open Society Foundation's Budapest office announced to move their operations and staff to Berlin, Germany because of the worsening political environment.

Parliamentary State Secretary Volner claimed that attacking the Law on Transparency of Organizations Receiving Foreign Funds is just one of Soros-funded NGOs' "routine tactics" to criticize the Hungarian government (Magyaroszag Kormanya, 2017d). Several statements were released, where NGOs were identified as collaborators of the migration crisis and human trafficking in order to support the necessity of the Foreign NGO Act.

The government statements as well as the government-related studies published by Szazadveg Foundation clearly shows how the reasoning that supports the necessity of Foreign NGO Acts has changed through the examined time period. While in January the main reason was to enhance transparency and accountability among CSOs in general, in February the focus was on NGOs that are active in lobbying activities. However, the emphasis on international and foreign-funded NGOs became more conspicuous, especially after the Szazadveg Foundation released its survey stating that the Hungarian population does not trust foreign-funded NGOs. The government started to make clear differences between NGOs and CSOs, and on April 1, 2017 the Hungarian Government launched a national consultation ("Let's Stop Brussels"). One of the questions of the consultation was related to foreign-funded organizations, aka NGOs:

"More and more foreign-supported organizations operate in Hungary with the aim of interfering in the internal affairs of our country in an opaque manner. These organizations could jeopardize our independence. What do you think Hungary should do? (a) Require them to register, revealing the objectives of their activities and the sources of their finances. (b) Allow them to continue their risky activities without any supervision."

By May 31, 1,688,044 people had sent back the survey, which was a record high participation rate in the history of national consultations introduced by the current government in 2010 (Website of the Hungarian Government, 2017o). According to the results published by the Hungarian government, the majority of respondents supported the government to require NGOs to register, revealing the objectives of their activities and the sources of their finances.

As the proposed legislation garnered international attention, Hungarian leaders frequently mentioned the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act as the basis for the Hungarian proposal. Simultaneously, the so-called Soros-rhetoric had been increasing, and Mr. Soros, the "illegal migration-business" and NGOs were often associated to each other. Within six months the government changed its reasoning from enhancing accountability and transparency in the civil sector to fighting against foreign-funded — mainly "Soros-funded" — NGOs that are threatening Hungary and Hungarian politics.

The Parliament made a decision to invite the Venice Commission of the Council of Europe⁸ to comment on the draft law on foreign-funded NGOs. Its preliminary opinion, published on June 2, 2017, noted that the Draft Law "pursues legitimate aim of ensuring transparency of civil society organizations [and] may also contribute to the fight against money laundering and the financing of terrorism" (Venice Commission, 2017c, Art. 62). However, the Commission also acknowledged that "the neutral label 'organization receiving support from abroad' used in the draft, placed in the context of a virulent campaign carried out by some Hungarian authorities against foreign-funded NGOs, risks to adversely affect their legitimate activities and may raise a concern of discriminatory treatment" (Venice Commission, 2017a).

The Venice Commission also raised four main concerns regarding the reporting and labeling requirements as well as the deregistration procedure proposed by the Foreign NGO Act (Venice Commission, 2017c, Art. 63):

 The rationale behind the exclusion of a number of associations and organizations from the scope of application of the Draft law is not entirely clear;

⁸ The Venice Commission of the Council of Europe, or officially the European Commission for Democracy through Law, is the Council of Europe's advisory body on constitutional matters. The role of the Venice Commission is "to provide legal advice to its member states and, in particular, to help states wishing to

bring their legal and institutional structures into line with European standards and international experience in the fields of democracy, human rights and the rule of law" (Venice Commission, 2017b).

59

- The period of three years during which a civil society organization may not receive any foreign funding in order to be entitled to initiate a deregistration procedure is quite long and appears arbitrary;
- The data included in the register and made public should be limited to the major sponsors in order to ensure that no excessive obligation is imposed on organizations receiving foreign funding;
- The obligation that the relevant organization should mention that it qualifies as an organization receiving support from abroad on all its press products and publication appears to be excessive.

Finally, the Commission recommended to the Hungarian government that a public consultation inviting all civil society organizations be conducted before the Hungarian Parliament discussed the final adoption of the law.

Despite the fact that the Venice Commission stated that transparency of civil society organizations could support the fight against money laundering and the financing of terrorism; these aims became questionable for the following reasons. First, the Hungarian Parliament enacted the new Anti-money Laundering Act in May 2017 in order to comply with the European Union's legislative obligation, but, even though the law became stricter, its scope was not extended to civil society organizations. Second, the Hungarian parliament felt the need to create and enact a new law focusing on CSOs' transparency and accountability, but the findings of the Venice Commission clearly shows that the draft law was targeting only NGOs in an excessive way.

The experts of the Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights accentuated the fact that financial transparency of CSOs is already ensured by the Civil Act and the Government Decree 50/2011 (XII. 30) on Certain Issues of CSO Financial Management, Fundraising and Public Benefit Status and urged the Hungarian government to withdraw the draft law because it would "severely curtail the rights to freedom of expression and freedom of peaceful assembly and association in Hungary" (OHCHR, 2017). Despite the domestic and

international concerns raised against the draft law, the Foreign NGO Act – with some modifications – was adopted in June, 2017.

3.3.3. Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad
On June 13, 2017, the Hungarian Parliament adopted the Act LXXVI of 2017 on the
Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad (Foreign NGO Act) with minor
changes in accordance with the preliminary opinion of the Venice Commission. This subsection
briefly discusses the Act, focusing on its controversial sections. The opposition parties submitted
several amendments to the law that were in line with the Venice Commission's preliminary
opinion, but the ruling government party voted against all amendments presented by the
opposition. The Law on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad was
adopted by 130 votes to 44, with 24 abstentions. The government party, FIDESZ - KDNP
coalition, typically has 133 votes in the Parliament (orszaggyules.hu, 2017), and there was not

one opposition party vote to support the Foreign NGO Act.

The Foreign NGO Act justifies the need for such a law based on three reasons: special public interest, the possibility of endangering the political and economic interests of the country, and the prevention of money laundering. According to the language of the law, "transparency of these organizations is of special public interest due to the societal engagement of associations and foundations" and these organizations might "endanger the political, economic interests of the country as well as the operation of statutory institutions" and participate in "money laundering". The Act creates a new legal category of "organizations receiving foreign funding" for associations and foundations which receive foreign funding that exceeds HUF 7,200,000 (US\$ 29,000) (Article 1). Article 1.4 states that the Act shall not apply to associations and foundations which are not regarded as civil society organizations, nor sport associations, associations pursuing religious activities, or ethnic minority organizations or

political parties. This section clearly shows that the Act does not aim to increase the transparency of the whole civil sector, and it is not clear why sport, religious and ethnic organizations - or particularly, political parties - are less likely to endanger the political or economic interest of the country or participate in financing of terrorism than other organizations.

Article 2 states that organizations receiving foreign funding shall declare, within 15 days, that they have become organizations receiving foreign funds to the competent Regional Court and disclose their status of "organization supported abroad" immediately in their online and printed materials. The Foreign NGO Act was to be enforced on the 8th day following its publication (June 19, 2017). Therefore the time-period of the implementation of the Act was extremely short, and created administrative burdens for these organizations.

Due to the preliminary opinion of the Venice Commission, several amendments were approved regarding the legislation. The data that organizations receiving foreign funds need to declare and make public has been limited to major sponsors who donate HUF 500,000 (US\$ 2,000) or more (Article 2.3) instead of all donations independently of the amount. The sanction system became more proportionate and it does not include the possibility of automatic dissolution of the organization as it was framed in the draft law (Article 3); and the time period during which an organization may not receive any foreign funding in order to be entitled to initiate a deregistration procedure was decreased to 1 year from 5 years (Article 4).

According to the Annex no.1 to the Act, the data organizations receiving foreign funds need to submit are the following: sum per transaction and the exact source (in case of the donation exceeds HUF 500,000 (US\$ 2,000)) which might negatively affect cross-border donations in Hungary. Furthermore, as the term "support from abroad" is not clearly defined,

the Act has created uncertainty among donors as well as NGOs in terms of reporting and labeling requirements.

The European Center for Not-for-Profit Law drew attention to five concerns in relation to the Foreign NGO Act including the relatively high fines and possible dissolution of civil society organization if they fail to register and meet the requirements, and negative consequences of the new categorization and labelling of foreign-funded organizations (ECNL, 2017). In order to protest against stigmatizing any group of civil society organizations, several civil society organizations, including the Hungarian Helsinki Committee and the Hungarian Civil Liberties Union declared a boycott against the law while Amnesty International Hungary stated that they planned to bring the case to the Constitutional Court on the same day the law was adopted by the Parliament (hvg.hu, 2017).

3.3.4. Intensifying negative government campaign, legal consequences, and an opaque future

As the Foreign NGO Act was adopted, the negative campaign against NGOs has continued and focused more on the so-called undemocratic, Soros-funded NGOs. Peter Szijjarto, Minister of Foreign Affairs and Trade stated that NGOs have "never been elected to do anything, and accordingly the image that they are representing society in face of the government is a false one" (Website of The Hungarian Government. 2017k). Mr. Trocsanyi, Minister of Justice argued that civil disobedience is not recognized by the Hungarian legal system (Magyaroszag Kormanya, 2017e) in response to the boycott initiated by several foreign-funded civil society organizations as a response to the adoption of the Foreign NGO Act. Prime Minister Orban also discussed the foreign NGO Act during his usual radio interview. He not only questioned the concerns raised by the Venice Commission, the governments of Germany and the United States of America, but repeatedly highlighted that the United States of America has much stricter regulations — not mentioning the laws or decrees directly - for foreign-funded organizations. Prime Minister

Orban characterized these American regulations as "harsh," and "several times stricter" than the Hungarian regulation. (Website of The Hungarian Government. 2017m)

On June, 20 the Venice Commission released its Opinion on The Draft Law on The Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad. The Venice Commission underlined that the language against foreign-funded civil society organizations that were used during the national consultation ("Let's Stop Brussels") can harm the reputation and activities of such organizations. Although Hungary did not choose to use the stigmatizing term of "foreign agent" in its legislation as it appears in the Russian and Israeli legislation, the negative campaign using the term "foreign-funded NGOs" connoted political interference, illegal immigration, and undemocratic organizations that might lead to the same result as using the term "foreign agent": stigmatization and negative public image of NGOs. The Commission raised concern that the Hungarian government avoided any public consultation that might have included civil society organizations. The Commission maintained its concerns published previously, on June 2, 2017. Even though the Commission recognized that "some of these amendments represent an important improvement," it underscored that "some other concerns were not addressed and the amendments do not suffice to alleviate the Venice Commission's concerns that the Law will cause disproportionate and unnecessary interference with the freedoms of association and expression, the right to privacy, and the prohibition of discrimination" (Venice Commission, 2017d, Art. 68.) The Venice Commission acknowledged that the law was constitutional in nature, but identified the interference with the freedom of association as their main concern with the regulation (Fundamental Law of Hungary, Section VIII).

After June, the government's communication slightly changed and became more negative, using terms like "Soros-funded organizations" and "mafia-like network." Prime Minister Orban said that these organizations are "financed by George Soros ...; [t]hey support

activities related to the illegal crossing of borders, and they rescue criminals and terrorists."

(Website of The Hungarian Government. 2017j). The government issued communication that accused the NGOs that protested against the Foreign NGO Act of wanting the government to stop controlling the Southern borders. These statements were never proved by the government, however the stigmatization of NGOs was increasing as NGOs became painted as antigovernment organizations that might jeopardize the safety and stability of the country.

In July of 2017, the National Election Committee refused the proposal for a referendum submitted by Barnabas Kadar, an opposition party board member, regarding the annulation of the Foreign NGO Act. The opposition party was stigmatized as a Soros-related party, who worked to prevent transparency of "pro-migration organizations" (origo.hu, 2017). On November 8, the Curia, the highest judicial authority in Hungary, reviewed the proposal and deemed it to be valid. Therefore the opposition party had 120 days to collect 200,000 signatures in order to hold a national referendum in the question.

Meanwhile, the Hungarian government launched a new national consultation ("About The Soros-Plan") in October 2017. Even though the consultation focused on the so-called Soros-plan, one of the questions mentioned the Hungarian Helsinki Committee and Amnesty International Hungary, as Soros-funded organizations that assist immigration and defend migrants who have committed unlawful acts (Question 5, National Consultation about The Soros-Plan):

"George Soros would also like to see migrants receive lighter sentences for the crimes they commit. George Soros, with significant amounts of funding, supports numerous organizations that assist immigration and defend immigrants who have committed unlawful acts. One example, the Hungarian Helsinki Committee, with regard to the prohibited crossing of the border argued that 'the application of strict legal consequences with regard to unlawful entry may be considered concerning". Another Soros organization, Amnesty International, on several occasions demanded the release of the Ahmed H., who attacked Hungarian police defending the border with rocks and was convicted

for this reason. Amnesty would even have the Hungarian state pay compensation."

On October 1, the Hungarian Helsinki Committee went to court because the "misleading statements of the national Consultation questionnaire that misrepresents facts" violates the organization's right to good reputation (Helsinki Committee, 2017a). The Hungarian Helsinki Commission drew attention to the fact that the truncated citation was moved from one of their studies without any context. Bence Tuzson, Minister of State for Government Communication stated that the Helsinki Committee was only trying "to restrict the freedom of the Hungarian people to express their views" and framed the lawsuit as another attack from "the Soros empire." The government refused to make any correction as Mr. Tuzson underlined that "the Hungarian Government is continuing to stand up for the National Consultation, Hungary's interests and the freedom of the Hungarian people to express their opinions" (Website of The Hungarian Government. 2017l). Thus, the Hungarian Helsinki Committee asked for an interim measure before the judgement that requires the defendant (Cabinet Office) to suspend any activity that may be presumed to cause irreversible damage to the plaintiff during the lawsuit. The Budapest Court of Appeal decided to implement the interim procedure to suspend the dissemination of the statement referring to the Helsinki Committee in Question 5, but planned to implement the suspension on November 29, two days before the national consultation officially ended (Helsinki Committee, 2017b). Therefore, despite the interim procedure, the Hungarian public became misinformed by the government. According to the results of the national consultation, more than 2.3 million Hungarian citizens did not agree with question 5, rejecting this "particular point of the Soros plan" (nemzetikonzultacio.kormany.hu, 2018). This data shows that the general public discourse has a negative attitude towards foreign-funded NGOs, and they might associate NGOs with organizations that aim to threaten the Hungarian sovereignty by representing the illegal immigration-related "Soros-plan."

The government's communication changed again after the adaptation of the Foreign NGO Act, featuring that such regulation is needed because:

- NGOs are not democratically elected, but they aim to influence the political arena in Hungary;
- NGOs, especially those that are part of the "Soros empire," are dangerous to Hungary's sovereignty.

The negative government campaign with the purpose of undermining the legitimacy of any Soros-related individuals and organizations is not clear except for the fact that – according to the Hungarian government – Mr. Soros supports illegal immigration and interference in Hungarian politics.

Besides the increasing tension at the national level, the European Union also paid particular attention to the Foreign NGO Act. On July 13, 2017, The European Commission - the executive arm of the European Union - launched infringement procedure⁹ for the Law on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad, sending a letter of formal notice to Hungary. During the European Union's infringement procedure, First Vice-President Frans

_

⁹ According to the European Union's treaties, the European Commission may take legal action – the infringement procedure – against a European Union Member State that fails to implement the European Union law. The steps of an infringement procedures are the followings: 1) the Commission sends a letter of formal notice requesting further information to the country concerned, which must send a detailed reply within a specified period, usually 2 months; 2) if the Commission concludes that the country is failing to fulfil its obligations under EU law, it may send a reasoned opinion: a formal request to comply with EU law. It explains why the Commission considers that the country is breaching EU law. It also requests that the EU country inform the Commission of the measures taken, within a specified period, usually 2 months; 3) if the EU country still doesn't comply, the Commission may decide to refer the matter to the Court of Justice. Most cases are settled before being referred to the Court; 4) if an EU county fails to communicate measures that implement the provisions of a directive in time, the Commission may ask the Court to impose penalties; and 5) if the Court finds that a country has breached EU law, the national authorities must take action to comply with the Court judgment (European Commission, 2017a). Despite the fact that it is a significant formal procedure, the Court of Justice can impose only financial penalties in case of non-compliance. In 2017, there were 482 active cases initiated by the European Commission. (Please see at: http://ec.europa.eu/atwork/applying-eu-law/infringementsproceedings/infringement decisions/?lang code=en.)

Timmermans said: "We have studied the new law on NGOs carefully and have come to the conclusion that it does not comply with EU law" in three main areas: the law interferes the right to freedom of associations, the law introduces unjustified and disproportionate restrictions to the free movement of capital, and the law also raises concern in terms of the right to protection of private life and of personal data (European Commission, 2017b). The Hungarian government responded to the European Commission, and its official document stated that the restrictions that were objected by the European Commission are necessary and proportionate in the Foreign NGO Act (kormany.hu, 2017r).

As a second step in the infringement procedure, the European Union issued a reasoned opinion on October 4, where the Commission confirmed that they "had decided to start a legal proceeding against Hungary for failing to fulfil its obligations under the [European Union] Treaty provision" (European Commission, 2017c). The European Commission argued that the Foreign NGO Act was indirectly discriminative and disproportionately restricted charitable contributions from abroad that offend the free movement of capital within the European Union. On October 5, Janos Lazar, Minister of Prime Minister's Office said regarding the infringement procedure that "they (the Hungarian government) are not planning to amend the law. ... It transpires from the report (conducted by Hungary's Permanent Representation in Brussels) that the Hungarian NGO legislation prescribes obligations for non-governmental organizations operating here which the European Commission itself has employed for years." (Magyaroszag Kormanya, 2017f). Despite the government's argument, the study referred to in the statement cannot be accessed, and the Hungarian government did not specify the regulations. Finally, the European Commission referred Hungary to the Court of Justice for its Foreign NGO Act on December 7 after concluding that "its serious concerns had not been addressed" by Hungary as the Hungarian government was given one month to take the necessary amendments to meet the

European Union regulations (European Commission, 2017d). As of June 2018, the Court of Justice is in the process of examining the case of Hungary related to its Foreign NGO Act.

To conclude, the Hungarian government adopted an anti-foreign NGO law without thorough public/inter-sectoral consultation or political consensus that is often expected before enacting new laws. Further, the law is discriminative and therefore cannot serve anti-money laundering purposes within the civil sector. The government's communication has changed through the year 2016 as the purpose and importance of the law evolved: early arguments focused on increasing the civil sector's transparency and accountability, then shifted to preventing the "illegal operation" of Soros-funded organizations that threaten the country's sovereignty and national security. Even though several national and international organizations raised their voices against the law for being unconstitutional and discriminative, there were no real effect on the legislation. The negative government campaign has continued from the adaption of the law and even though Hungary does not use the term "foreign agent" to stigmatize their NGOs, the term NGO and foreign-funded organizations have gained a negative connotation in the public discourse. Thus, the Foreign NGO Act adopted and implemented by the Hungarian government could negatively influence NGO's ability to raise and receive both domestic and cross-border donations, and public trust towards the civil sector in general has likely been damaged in the process.

CHAPTER FOUR: TRANSPARENCY REQUIREMENTS FOR PARTIES SUPPORTED BY FOREIGN STATE ENTITIES LAW. 5776-2016

Israel is the other OECD country whose government recently passed an anti-foreign NGO law in order to tighten restrictions on foreign-funded nongovernmental organizations (NGOs). Freedom House considered Israel's freedom status as "free" in 2017, but the rating for civil liberties decreased due to the laws that have been proposed and implemented to restrict the operation of NGOs and their access to cross-border funding (Freedom House, 2018b). Israel scored higher than Hungary – 79 and 72 respectively in a score system where 0 represents "the least free" and 100 "the most free" countries studied in the report however both countries are characterized by a less free environment for civil liberties (Freedom House, 2018c). In Israel, NGOs receiving charitable contributions from foreign state entities have been under attack by the government since 2011 and targeted by the Transparency Requirements for Parties

Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5777-2016, which was enacted in 2016. Israel was the first OECD country that passed a foreign agents regulation, claiming that the law was inspired by the 1938 FARA, though according to Justice Minister Ayelet Shaked "the requirements ... are less stringent that those imposed by the United States upon similar types of activity" (Shaked, 2016).

This chapter discusses the Israeli anti-foreign NGO law in order to provide a detailed picture about the environment of the Israeli civil society and the possible impacts of the law. First, the development and crucial role of Israeli civil sector is discussed briefly, focusing on the time period from 1970 to the present. Then, the chapter will explore the regulations that aim to increase CSO transparency and accountability, highlighting the disproportionate regulations that apply to NGOs receiving funding from foreign government entities. The current legislation, the transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016, is examined afterwards, and it explains how government statements and several amendments led

to enact the final version of the law. Finally, the chapter catalogues the responses that international entities to the new Israeli law, especially the statements made by the United Nations and the European Union.

In Israel, the term "civil society organization" includes associations, public benefit companies and public benefit foundations, associations, public benefit organizations and other organizations established under the right of associations (Amutot Law, 5740-1980, the Companies Law, 5759-1999). Similarly to Hungary, the term nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) has often been used to connote foreign-funded civil society organizations. Therefore, the chapter uses these terms accordingly: CSOs are registered organizations under the Israeli legislation, while NGOs are those foreign-funded CSOs that became primarily targeted by the 2016 Israeli Foreign NGO Act.

4.1. The Israeli nonprofit sector

Since the 1970s, civil society has become a significant part of Israel's history, including the formation of the basic economic and social policies (Gidron et al.,1999). Katz and Greenspan (2015) describe the current age of Israeli civil society as the pluralist era. During the pluralist era, from the mid-1970s to the present, civil society has grown as the Israeli government were challenged by economic, political, and social changes. As the roles and responsibilities of the civil society became more relevant, legal institutions were created to regulate the sector. In 1980, the Israeli Knesset adopted the Amutot Law, 5740-1980, otherwise known as the Law on Associations and in 1977, the Companies Law, 5759-1999 was enacted to regulate public benefit companies and public benefit foundations. Additionally, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights – signed by the Israeli government in 1966, but ratified only in 1992 – guarantees the freedom of peaceful assembly, expression and association (Article 21).

The Amutot Law established the legal framework of associations and regulates their registration, operation, and reporting requirements. According to the law, an amuta, or association, needs to be registered at the Registrar of Amutot, however the registration can be declined if any of the association's objectives are against the existence or democratic character of the State of Israel (Amutot Law, Article 3). Additionally, an amuta cannot use a name that is likely to mislead or offend public policy or the feelings of the public (Amutot Law, Article 4). The Amutot Law, as a transparency and monitoring tool, also requires associations to file several reports to the Registrar of Amutot, including their annual financial report (Amutot Law, Article 38). The Companies Law regulates public benefit companies and public benefit foundations. It also states that the objectives of a company or foundation cannot be immoral or in conflict with the public (Companies Law, Article 2) and that the organizations under this law also need to submit their annual financial report to the Companies Registrar (Companies Law, Article 141). It is important to review the requirements of the these laws to establish the fact that ensuring transparency of NGOs, one of the most important reasons for the new foreign agents registration act in 2016, is already clearly and thoroughly addressed by the Amutot Law and the Companies Law. However, the regulations on registration and incorporation do not create clear frameworks and the use of terms such as the "democratic character of the State of Israel" or "immoral objectives" that are subject to interpretation. The Israeli government can therefore dispute the legality any left-wing or pro-Palestinian organization by positing that the goals of such organizations are "immoral" because they go against official government mandates.

Israel has one of the largest civil society sectors in relation to its economy with more than 600,000 registered CSOs (Gidron et al.,1999, Einolf, 2015, p. 514-515.). By the year 1995, CSOs produced 5.6% of the Israeli GDP providing employment for 13.2% of the national workforce (Gidron et al.,1999). As a comparison, American CSOs produced 6.9% of the United

States' GDP and provided 7.8% of the national employment, while the Hungarian results were much lower, 2.8% and 1.3% respectively in the same year (Salamon et al., 1999). According to the comparative research on 22 countries' civil society sectors, conducted by Salamon and his colleagues (1999), the average of the GDP contribution of the sector was 4.6% and the level of employment reached 4.8% in 1995, excluding volunteers. The most important subsectors of Israeli philanthropy are children and youth, food security, and health (Katz and Greenspan, 2015, p. 329). The data of registered Israeli CSOs are sometimes different and often incomplete because of the inadequate data collection, but according to the Registrar of Associations, the number of registered associations increased by more than 50% between 2004 and 2012 (Limor, 2004 and 2012). However, as civil society has developed, the Israeli government tried to increase government supervision and limit the operation of civil society organizations. The National Council for Volunteerism and the Aridor Committee, both established by the Office of the Prime Minister, were created to increase the government control over the Israeli civil society (Katz and Greenspan, 2015).

Since the 1970s, not only has Israeli civil society increased, but also the Jewish Diaspora became an important actor and influencer of the Israeli nonprofit sector through cross-border charitable contributions. Diaspora philanthropy shaped the economic and social welfare of the state from the beginning (Bubis, 1969) and it remained significant in intervening decades. Israel is the only developed nation in which imports exceed exports of charitable contributions (Gidron et al., 2003). The importance of donations coming from foreign private foundations or individuals is shown on the Transparency Law, as only CSOs that receive donations from foreign state entities became subject to the legislation, although the regulation aimed to increase transparency and accountability among foreign-funded NGOs.

In the 2000s, the Israeli government started to strengthen the collaboration with CSOs. The Ministry of Social Welfare and later the Prime Minister's Office initiated several conversations to nourish the relationship between the public and nonprofit sectors. In 2008, the Israeli government acknowledged the sector and its contribution to Israeli society and started to host round-table discussions between government ministries, civil society organizations and businesses in order to create a more enabling environment for the nonprofit sector that continued to grow both economically and in terms of size (Almog-Bar, 2016). In the same year, the Israeli Prime Minister's Office published a report titled *Government of Israel, The Civil Society, and The Business Community: Partnership, Empowerment, and Transparency.* In this report, the government stated numerous goals, such as creating a platform for ongoing cross-sectoral dialogues, cooperating with CSOs in forming social service policies and implementing them, and increasing the level of transparency and accountability of the sector (Prime Minister's Office, 2008). The collaboration with CSOs – primarily with domestic, pro-government CSOs – seemed to be flourishing as round-table discussions and collaborations were initiated in fields such as public education.

While the relationship with domestic, pro-government CSOs has been improving, with many such organizations receiving public and governmental recognition (Almog-Bar, 2016 p. 253), that has not been the case with foreign-funded NGOs supporting human rights or the pro-Palestinian agenda. The Israeli-Palestinian relationship remained turbulent through the last several decades, and therefore, organizations supporting anything that was not in step with the Israeli government's agenda have been oppressed by soft policies and regulations. The Israeli government has often used the media to associate such organizations with anti-Israeli or terrorist organizations and enacted new regulations to closely surveille them.

4.2. Israeli laws to enhance NGO transparency and prevent money laundering

Israel implemented anti-money laundering legislation in 2000, anti-terrorist financing legislation in 2005, and counter-terrorism legislation in 2016 in accordance to the recommendations established by the Financial Action Task Force. The Prohibition on Money Laundering Law, 5760-2000, regulates primarily financial institutions and individuals including banks, money service providers, stock exchange members and portfolio managers, and dealers of precious stones. In 2014, the most recent amendment of the law extended its reach beyond explicitly financial institutions. The new amendment required that other professionals such as lawyers and accountants identify and register relevant information regarding their clients' financial or business transactions (Levush, 2014).

Even though NGOs' operations and accountability have been regulated in separate laws, these laws have impacted the NGOs as well. Based on the 1945 Defense (Emergency)

Regulations, the Prohibition on Terrorist Financing Law 5765-2004, the Declarations on Terrorist Organizations in accordance with the Prevention of Terrorism Ordinance No. 33 5708-1948, and the Counter Terrorism Law 2016, the Israeli Government can declare organizations to be terrorist organizations, while the Ministry of Defense was given the authority to decide which organizations are unauthorized associations and illegal (Ministry of Defense, 2018a). According to the 1945 Defense (Emergency) Regulations, organizations, whether incorporated or unincorporated, are unauthorized associations if they recommend, instigate, or encourage in their constitution or propaganda one of the following immoral actions (Article 84):

- abrogation of the constitution of Israel or the Government of Israel by force or violence;
- causing Holocaust, contempt or incitement to hostility towards, the
 Government of Israel or its Ministers in their official capacity;
- destruction or damage to the property of the Government of Israel;
- acts of terrorism directed against the Government of Israel or against its employees.

Between 2010 and 2017, 94 organizations were declared as unauthorized associations or terrorist organizations and their property was confiscated by the Israeli government (Ministry of Defense, 2018b). Several organizations were pro-Palestinian, but the list also includes international aid and human rights organizations such as the Euro-Mediterranean Human Rights Monitor registered in Switzerland, or International Kandil Institute for Humanitarian Aid and Development registered in Turkey.

The transparency and accountability of NGOs have been regulated since 2008 when the government amended the Amutot Law to make reporting requirements stricter for NGOs. In 2008, besides the general annual reporting requirements, NGOs were required to publish all revenues coming from foreign government entities on their websites. In 2011, the Law on Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of Support from a Foreign State Entity, 5771-2011 (Foreign Funding Law) was enacted. The Foreign Funding Law required associations and public benefit companies to quarterly report the donations received from foreign state entities with an aggregate value over NIS 20,000 (USD 5,800) to the Registrar. In addition, associations and public benefit companies were required to disclose in relevant campaign materials if the donations from foreign government entities explicitly provided for public information campaigns (Foreign Funding Law Articles 1 and 2, Schriber et al, 2010, European Union, 2016). Based on the Amutot Law, 5740-1980, foreign state entities include a union, organization or association of foreign states; an organization, authority or representation of a foreign state or of a union of foreign states; a local or district authority, a government authority of a foreign state or of a state that is a member of a union of states in a foreign state; a union, organization or association of foreign bodies; the Palestinian Authority; and a corporate body established by regulations of one of the bodies detailed above (Article 36A). Thus, donations coming from the European Union, the United Nations, or other intergovernmental organizations need to be reported.

Associations and public benefit companies whose financial turnover exceeds NIS 300,000 (USD 86,600) must state in their Financial Statement whether they received donations from a foreign state entity in the reported year (Schriber et al, 2010).

The reporting requirements can be burdensome, as organizations need to fulfill their quarterly reporting, in addition to their general reporting requirements. The reporting requirements for foreign funding include the identity of the donor; the amount of the support; the goals or designation of the support; and the conditions of the support, including undertakings made by the recipient of support to the foreign state entity regarding the support, orally or in writing, directly or indirectly, if such exist (Foreign Funding Law, Article 2). Every amuta whose financial turnover exceeds NIS 300,000, must state in the Financial Statement whether it has received donations from "a Foreign State Entity" (see definition below) in the year to which the Statement relates.

Despite the aim of enhancing transparency and accountability for NGOS, this legislation has been challenged as it focuses only on cross-border donations coming from foreign states or state entities. Additionally, the Foreign Funding Law does not apply for the World Zionist Organization, the Jewish Agency for Israel, Keren Hayesod – United Israel Appeal, and the Jewish National Fund, as well as corporations controlled by these organizations. These exceptions might strengthen critics that state that this legislation has aimed to undermine the operation of pro-Palestinian and human rights organizations instead of to enhance the transparency of the nonprofit sector.

- 4.3. Foreign-funded NGOs under government attack
- 4.3.1. Government statements and amendments related to foreign-funded NGOs

From 2011 several members of the Knesset submitted amendments regarding foreign-funded NGOs to increase transparency and ensure the Israeli national security (The Association for Civil Rights in Israel, 2016). In 2013, Ayelet Shaked, Member of the Knesset introduced a law that sought to impose taxes on all donations from foreign state entities to Israeli NGOs that support certain actions such as boycotts, sanctions against Israel, or calling for the prosecution of Israeli soldiers at international tribunal. In 2014, Miri Regev, Member of the Knesset, introduced an amendment to the Amutot Law that stated that the government can deny the registration of any NGOs if any of its objectives contradict the definition of "Israel as a Jewish and democratic state." However, the foreign-funded NGOs that have been affected by this law primarily provide human rights services (Yesh Din, 2018), promote cultural and educational activities (The Arab Culture Association, 2018), or support peaceful religious activities (Lis, 2016).

In 2015, the government released a proposed bill that required representatives of foreign-funded NGOs to wear a special identification tag. Despite the enhancement of transparency, these proposed amendments and laws show that the Knesset and the Israeli government have been willing to regulate and scrutinize NGOs that represent views and values that are contradictory with the Israeli government. Furthermore, from 2015 onwards, numerous proposed amendments sought to stigmatize foreign-funded NGOs, but only those that do not cooperate with the government (The Association for Civil Rights in Israel, 2016).

While new amendments and draft bills were proposed, government statements regarding the necessity of such amendments were also increasing. The Israeli government's two main arguments were that the proposed legislation increased transparency and the protection

of state sovereignty, "as these organizations have no obligation of proper disclosure, in which they have to present themselves as clearly representing foreign interests that do not accord with Israeli interests" (Lis, 2014). Justice Minister Ayelet Shaked said that "foreign funding of organizations active within Israel undermine [the state's] sovereignty and identity" (Lis, 2015). These statements clearly show that the government aimed to make NGO operations more transparent and protect the sovereignty of Israel through this legislation. Additionally, the Israeli government often declared that the amendments are based on the 1938 FARA, but "they are much less stringent than those imposed by the United States" (Raday, 2016).

After the adoption of the Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016, Justice Minister Ayelet Shaked claimed that foreign-funded organizations meddle in the country's "internal affairs," while Prime Minister Netanyahu said that the foreign agents regulation "prevents an absurd situation in which foreign countries interfere in Israel's internal affairs" (Eglash and Booth, 2016). These examples shows that the government main reasoning has remained the protection of state sovereignty.

4.3.2. Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016

From 2015, the Israeli Government as well as the members of Knesset introduced several amendments and bills regarding foreign-funded NGOs: besides the government's own proposal, four individual proposals were submitted by the end of 2015 (The Association for Civil Rights in Israel, 2016). On December 27, 2015 the Ministerial Committee approved the government's proposed law as well as two individual amendments.

The proposal submitted by the government obligated NGOs to disclose that the majority of their funding is from foreign state entities in all their publications, to note in their minutes and other documents that most of their funding is from foreign state entities, including the

names of the countries that such entities represent, and to make their representatives wear a special identification tag. Noncompliance of any of the requirements result a fine of NIS 29,200 (USD 8,400) for each violation. The amendment submitted by Bezalel Smutrich, Member of the Knesset, proposed that NGOs that receive majority of their funding from foreign state entities be referred to as "organizations funded by foreign agents." The amendment submitted by Yinon Magal, Member of the Knesset, proposed that NGOs that receive more than USD 50,000 from foreign countries be referred to as "foreign agents" except for health and education organizations. In addition, Mr. Magal's amendment sought to forbid representatives of such organizations from having meetings with any government or security officials, and to tax donations received from foreign state entities at an increased rate of 38%, with an exemption for those organizations that also receive donations from the Israeli government. These proposals suggest that instead of transparency, such legislation would lead to stigmatization of foreign-funded NGOs and scrutinize the operation of such NGOs by setting burdensome reporting requirements and labelling them negatively. Furthermore, as the Foreign Funding Law also made exceptions for pro-government NGOs, Mr. Magal's amendment would not apply for NGOs that receive government funding.

After several modifications, the final draft of the Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016 (Transparency Law) was published on June 22, 2016 and The Knesset approved it on July 11, 2016. The most important regulations are the following:

- organizations that receive 50 percent of their donations from foreign state entities must note the fact in all their publication, reports and other documents both online and on paper, including letters sent to public officials (Article 4 and 5);
- organizations need to declare the names of foreign state entities that have given donations to these NGOs (Article 5);

 Representatives of organizations funded by foreign state entities are required to inform the chair of any Knesset committee meetings or hearings that he/she represents such an organization (Article 5).

The reporting requirements take effect in June 2018, based on funding received since January 1 2017. It provided NGOs some time to get ready to meet all the requirements set by the law. In case of noncompliance the fine is up to NIS 30,000 (USD 8,700).

4.3.3. Domestic and international criticism

Both the domestic and international community raised concerns regarding the negative and disproportionate effects that the Transparency Law might have on NGOs. Despite the concerns articulated by the opposition party and NGOs affected by the law as well as the European Union and international organizations, the law hasn't been legally challenged since its enactment in July 2016.

During the hearings and after passing the Transparency Law, Israeli NGOs voiced their concerns regarding the Law. Since 2015, several politicians from the opposition party and NGO leaders addressed their concerns regarding the draft legislation, stating that the legislation could be a "symbolic attack on human rights organisations" and a "mark of shame ... like a scarlet letter for NGOs." (Rifai, 2015). Before the final vote, Nonprofits Registrar representative Yafit Shemer reported to the Knesset committee that the Transparency law would affect only 27 organizations. Then, the list of NGOs that will be targeted by the law was leaked. According to the list, 25 of the 27 targeted organizations were left-wing organizations, most of them focusing on human rights issues (Bob, Hoffman, and Harkov, 2016).

After the enactment of the Transparency Law, representatives of local NGOs criticized the law for being biased and leading to the stigmatization of left-wing NGOs. Several criticisms underlined the fact that the Transparency Law could lead to the delegitimization of particular NGOS rather than the increase of such organizations' transparency: "[t]he idea behind the bill

is ... public shaming of left-wing NGOs and the attempt to present them as foreign agents;" the regulation aims "to silence criticism on government policies;" and it only seeks to "delegitimise them (foreign-funded NGOs) in order to marginalise their impact in the country" (Tahhan, 2016).

The Transparency Law could stigmatize left-wing, foreign-funded NGOs rather than enhancing transparency in the overall sector. In addition, it is important that the regulation only targeted organizations that receive more than 50% of their funding from foreign government entities, because left-wing NGOs working for equality, human rights, and peace would be disproportionately affected by these new regulations. Meanwhile, right-wing groups and prosettler organizations mostly receive foreign funding from private individuals or foundations, and therefore they are not fall under the Transparency Law (Strickland, 2016). The Association for Civil Rights in Israel stated that this regulation is more like a "redundancy bill" and an "another means of harassing and delegitimising human rights organisations in Israel" (Strickland, 2016).

After enacting the Transparency Law, the international community, including the European Union and the United Nations, also raised its concerns regarding its negative and disproportionate effects on NGOs. The European Union stated that "the new law goes beyond the legitimate need for transparency and seem aimed at constraining the activities of these civil society organizations working in Israel" and argued that the law could undermine the values of the Israeli civil society, including its diversity and role in maintaining a vibrant democracy in the country (European Union External Action, 2016).

Ban Ki-Moon, then Secretary- General of the United Nations pointed out that the new Transparency Law is "increasingly delegitimized" as it mainly targets human rights organizations (United Nations Secretary-General, 2016). The Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) also expressed concerns in connection with the possible threat of

delegitimization of human rights and pro-Palestinian organizations, undersoring that the legislation could "disproportionately affect non-governmental organizations working on human rights and contribute to their de-legitimization" (OHCHR, 2016). Indeed, the OHCHR even used an assessment from the Israeli government in its critique: "[w]hile this new law has been described as an effort to increase transparency in the NGO sector, it will disproportionately affect NGOs working on human rights, as confirmed by recent research undertaken by the Israeli Ministry of Justice itself" (UN, 2016).

The statements from foreign governments and international organizations clearly show that, besides using the media to make criticisms widely known in Israel and throughout the world, foreign entities are not able to influence the regulations of international philanthropy. They expressed their concerns and formed their recommendations, such as calling upon Israel "to continue to promote its active NGO sector and to refrain from actions which may complicate the space in which civil society organisations operate" (European Union External Action, 2016) or "to listen to these extremely valid concerns and take them into consideration" (UN, 2016). But instead of spurring new legal changes, such statements often bounced back and seemed to serve as a reason for such regulations. Israeli Prime Minister Netanyahu wrote that the law aimed "to prevent an absurd situation, in which foreign states meddle in Israel's internal affairs by funding NGOs, without the Israeli public being aware of it" (BBC, 2016). Prime Minister Netanyahu's statement implicitly suggests that international criticism of the law may be exactly the type of "meddling" by foreign states that the law seeks to guard against. Thus, such international statements without any real actions can be counter-productive when making efforts to support the work of international NGOs operating in a less favorable political environment.

CHAPTER FIVE: COMPARISON BETWEEN THE HUNGARIAN AND ISRAELI FOREIGN AFENTS REGULATIONS

Even though Hungary and Israel differ from each other socially, politically, as well as economically, several similarities can be identified that lead to the implementation of the foreign agents regulations acts. First of all, governments in both countries justified these laws by emphasizing the importance of transparency of CSOs and of protecting state sovereignty.

Second, both governments have argued that they used the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act as a model, following in the footsteps of the United States. Additionally, the pieces of legislation as well as the negative government propaganda in both countries seem to discriminate and stigmatize a certain group of CSOs, namely those who freely criticize the governments' policies, work to support human rights, or espouse any beliefs that run contrary to the governments'.

This chapter uses "foreign agents regulation" as an umbrella term to refer to the Hungarian Law on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad and the Israeli Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law. Both the Hungarian and Israeli governments have argued that the legislation is based on, but not as strict as, the 1938 Foreign Agents Registration Act adopted by the United States of America, therefore this term can be seen as a neutral term in order to avoid any prejudice during the analysis and comparison.

5.1. What is the truth about the relationship between the 1938 FARA and the recently adopted foreign agents regulations?

Both the Israeli and Hungarian governments mentioned several times that their legislation that placed restrictions on foreign-funded NGOs was based on the Foreign Agents Registration Act (FARA) enacted by the United States Congress in 1938. Indeed, both Hungary and Israel stated that their own foreign agents regulations are less strict that the one

implemented in the United States. This section compares the content of the Hungarian and Israeli foreign agents regulations and contrasts them with the 1938 FARA in order to be able to objectively analyze the foreign agents regulations and the Hungarian and Israeli governments' communication.

5.1.1. Foreign Agents Registration Act, 1938

The FARA was passed in 1938 as the response of U.S. Congress to the increasing German propaganda right before World War II. The act aimed to "insure that the U.S. Government and the people of the United States are informed of the source of information and the identity of persons attempting to influence U.S. public opinion, policy, and law" (U.S. Department of Justice, 2017a). After the amendments in 1966, the meaning of "foreign agents" was narrowed to focus on political lobbying rather than propaganda (U.S. Department of Justice, 2017b). The current legislation (22 U.S.C.A. §611 - §621.) requires a relationship between an agent and a foreign principal. The agent could be any "individual, partnership, association, corporation, organization, or any other combination of individuals" who acts under the direction or control of a foreign principal and engages in political activities; acts as a public relations counsel or political consultant; solicits, collects, disburses, or dispenses contributions, loans, money; or represents the interests of the foreign principal before any agency or official of the Government of the United States (22 U.S.C.A. §611.a and c). The foreign principal includes "a government of a foreign country and a foreign political party; a person outside of the United States; or a partnership, association, corporation, organization, or other combination of persons organized under the laws of or having its principal place of business in a foreign country" (22 U.S.C.A. §611.b). Finally, it is important to mention that the meaning of "agent of a foreign principal" under the FARA has been interpreted with reference to the common law definition of agency. Thus, based on the 2006 Restatement (Third) Of Agency § 1.01 (c) the principle-agent

relationship occurs when an agent "acts as a representative of or otherwise on behalf of another person" and where "[t]he person represented has a right to control the actions of the agent." Indeed, as the Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act emphasizes it, organizations, such as non-governmental and grass roots organizations, that receive funding from foreign governments are not required to register under FARA, when they claim that "they act independently of foreign control or are not serving a predominantly foreign interest" (U.S. Department of Justice, 2016).

FARA also includes several activities that are exempt from the requirements of the act including private and nonpolitical activities, solicitation of funds and religious, scholastic, or scientific pursuits among others. Thus any person who engages in the following activities are not required to register under FARA (22 U.S.C.A. §613. d and e):

- "in private and nonpolitical activities in furtherance of the bona fide trade or commerce of such foreign principal;"
- "in other activities not serving predominantly a foreign interest;"
- "in the soliciting or collecting of funds and contributions within the United States to be used only for medical aid and assistance, or for food and clothing to relieve human suffering;"
- "in activities in furtherance of bona fide religious, scholastic, academic, or scientific pursuits or of the fine arts."

In the case that a person does serve as an agent of foreign principle, he must fill out a registration statement with the Attorney General; file two copies of any informational materials "disseminated or circulated among two or more persons" to the Attorney General; include a statement in any informational material that "the materials are distributed by the agent on behalf of the foreign principal;" and if he "appears before any committee of Congress to testify for or in the interests of such foreign principal, he shall, at the time of such appearance, furnish the committee with a copy of his most recent registration statement filed with the Department of Justice as an agent of such foreign principal" (22 U.S.C.A. §614. a, b, and f). Finally, agents of

foreign principle need to keep records of their activities and present them in case of public examination.

5.1.2. Comparison between the Hungarian, Israeli, and the U.S. foreign agents regulations

As mentioned earlier, both the Hungarian and the Israeli governments claim that they used the FARA as the basis to create their own foreign agents regulations. This section will compare the three regulations by focusing on the following four aspects: the public rationale for enacting such regulation, the types of legal persons that are targeted by the regulations, the requirements laid out by the legislation for identified and registered "foreign agents," and the time period given to legal persons affected by the regulation to meet the new requirements.

As Table Three shows, the foreign agents regulations in all three countries were enacted to fight against foreign influence that might threaten the national interest and security of the countries. Transparency and accountability were key reasons given to enact the law. All governments felt that national security had been threatened by different foreign forces: the United States was facing an increasing level of Nazi propaganda just before the beginning of World War II; Israel had been concerned about the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, which has intensified since 2015; and Hungary started the "war" against "illegal immigration" and against organizations – often foreign funded ones – that support migrants and refugees in the country after the 2015 Syrian refugee crisis that led to an unprecedented influx of refugees arriving to Europe.

In terms of the target group, both the Israeli and the Hungarian regulations' primary group are NGOs (foreign-funded associations and foundations), while FARA does not specifically target NGOs. Indeed, receiving funding from foreign entities does not require an NGO to register

Table Three: Comparison between the Hungarian, Israeli, and U.S. Foreign Agents Regulations

Country	Hungary	Israel	United States of America
Legislation	Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad	Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776- 2016	Foreign Agent Registration Act, 1938
Target group(s)	Organizations (associations and foundations) receiving foreign funding that exceeds HUF 7,200,000 (US\$ 29,000)	Organizations that receive 50 percent of their donations from foreign state	Agent of foreign principal
Exemptions	Associations pursuing religious activities; Ethnic minority organizations; and	Organizations receiving cross-border donations from private entities; and Organizations receiving less than 50 percent of their donations from foreign state.	Private and nonpolitical activities, solicitation of funds; Religious, scholastic, or scientific pursuits; and
	Political parties.		
Level of registration	Regional Court	Department of Justice	Attorney General
Reporting and other requirements	Disclose their status of "organization supported from abroad" immediately on their online and printed materials; and Declare the information of their major sponsors whom	Note the fact that the organization is supported by a foreign state entity all their publication, reports and other documents both online and on paper, including letters sent to public officials; Declare the names of foreign state entities that	Include a statement in any informational material that "the materials are distributed by the agent on behalf of the foreign principal"; File two copies of any informational
	donation is HUF 500,000 (US\$ 2,000) or more.	have given donations to these NGOs; and Inform the chair of any Knesset committee meetings or hearings that he represent such an organization.	materials to the Attorney General; and Inform the committee of the Congress when he testifies for or in the interests of such foreign principal by furnish the committee with a copy of his most recent registration statement.

Penalties in case of noncompliance	Proportionate sanction according to the Act LXXXI of 2011; and Dissolution, if necessary	Fine up to NIS 30,000 (USD 8,700)	Fine up to USD 10,000, depending on the violation; and Temporary or permanent injunction, restraining order or other order issued by the district court
Day the regulation took effect	June 19, 2017 (8 days after enactment)	January 1, 2017 (almost 6 months after enactment)	September 6, 1938 (almost 3 months after enactment)
Reason of enacting such regulations	Transparency; Protection of national interest; and Fight against money laundering.	Transparency; and Protection of national interest.	Transparency in case of political lobbying; and Fight against foreign propaganda.

Sources: Act LXXVI of 2017 on the Transparency of Organizations Receiving Support from Abroad; Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016; and Foreign Agent Registration Act, 1938.

as an "agent of foreign principal." Furthermore, while the Israeli law only targets organizations that receive more than 50 percent of their donations from foreign government entities, the Hungarian law targets organizations that receive all types of foreign donations of HUF 500,000 (USD 2,000) or more including individual, foundation, and governmental donations, as well as European Union grants. The Hungarian regulation, as well as the American one, provide several exemptions such as religious organizations. The Israeli foreign agents regulation have a very narrow target group – affecting the work of only 27 NGOs (Laufer, 2017)—and raising the question of whether such regulations effectively promote transparency in the nonprofit sector.

After an NGO registers as "foreign agents," they need to disclose their status in any informational materials, both printed and online. The term "foreign agent" is not used by either Hungary or Israel, but both governments instead used a related term throughout public communications both before and after the enactment of the regulations. In the case of Hungary,

the government created a negative connotation for the term, "organization supported from abroad;" in the case of Israel, the term "organization supported by a foreign state entity" was used by the government in a similar way. Both Hungarian and Israeli NGOs need to declare and make public the names of their major foreign donors, which constitutes burdensome administrative requirements and, simultaneously, could disincline both foreign and domestic donors from supporting such organizations. Even though Hungary does not require NGOs to inform parliamentary committees regarding their special status, Israel, as well as the United States, require "foreign agents" to do so before their hearings.

Finally, it is important to consider how much time NGOs had to prepare for the new requirements established by the foreign agents regulations in the countries analyzed in this study. The Israeli law took effect on January 1, 2017, giving a six-month time period for NGOs to get prepared for the new regulations, and the first reporting under the foreign agents regulation will happen in June 2018, almost two years after the law passed. The Hungarian law had a much shorter adoption period: the Hungarian law entered into force on the 8th day after the law's official publication, creating an extremely short time period for foreign funded NGOs in Hungary to comply. It was widely criticized by NGOs as well as the Venice Commission.

5.2. Stigmatization and delegitimization instead of transparency and public trust

After receiving criticism from local NGOs and international organizations as well as foreign governments, it is important to see how the foreign agents regulations in Hungary and Israel have affected the public view towards foreign-funded NGOs operating in these countries. The concerns about labeling, stigmatizing, and delegitimizing the operation of NGOs appeared in both countries even though the countries do not use the term "foreign agent" to label such organizations.

In Hungary, the negative government rhetoric about NGOs intensified after the legislation was passed, with an uptick in the use of terms like "Soros-empire" and "mafia-like network" to describe NGOs and public statements that connect foreign funded NGOs with negative, often illegal activities such as "rescue[ing] criminals and terrorists" (Website of The Hungarian Government. 2017j). In Israel, the situation is similar: most recently, the government issued a statement that the activities of foreign-funded organizations harm the soldiers of the Israeli Defense Force (Harkov, 2017). Additionally, both the Hungarian and Israeli governments claimed before their national elections — in 2015 and in 2018, respectively, that foreign-funded NGOs tried to influence the election and attack the campaign of the governing parties by using millions of foreign funding. This type of accusation, without providing any evidence, could harm the public trust towards foreign-funded NGOs, civil society in general, and the government.

Unfortunately, there is no public data available about whether the level of public trust has increased or not towards foreign-funded organizations, but it is likely that both governments used the stigmatization of NGOs as a tool to strengthen their political power and their raison d'être. As was discussed in Section 1, liberal autocracies often create a relatively liberal political climate for CSOs that provide social services or support the government's interest, while foreign-funded and opposition NGOs are highly monitored at the same time (Albrecht, 2015, Brumberg, 2003) While both Hungary and Israel support and promote civil society, their foreign agents regulations stigmatize NGOs that could undermine their legitimacy and the public trust towards the sector, and even be used as a tool to heighten public fear and strengthen the power of the current governments.

5.3. Recommendations for finding the balance between national security and flourishing civil society

As the study highlighted, both Hungary and Israel implemented the foreign agents regulations to protect their national security through transparency and accountability, however it is questionable whether the discussed regulations could meet those objectives. While both countries face different external threats to their national security, it is possible that such regulations disproportionately attack foreign-funded NGOs regardless of their roles in society.

In Hungary, the control of illegal migration remained one of the top priorities in the government agenda as several terrorist attacks occurred in Western Europe (Reuters, 2018) — even though the number of asylum-seekers has significantly dropped in the last 12 months (Eurostat, 2018). In Israel, the Israeli-Palestinian conflict intensified in Spring 2018, after the U.S. government relocated their embassy to Jerusalem (Halbfinger et al., 2018). Thus, it seems that transparency and accountability is more important than ever to protect national security in these countries, but the legal tools need to be thoroughly designed and implemented to avoid undermining civil society both in Hungary and Israel.

Thus, this study recommends the following options to achieve a balance between national security and the freedom if civil society, including the operation of foreign-funded NGOs:

1) Coordination and collaboration with civil society, including foreign-funded NGOs

Both governments have been criticized due to the lack of communication and

coordination of foreign-funded NGOs. To plan and successfully implement any regulations, it is

crucial to involve different actors, such as NGOs affected by the proposed regulations, members

of the opposition parties, as well as the general public. Such coordination might clarify the

necessity of such regulations, lead to a consensus, and support the successful and effective implementation of the new policies.

2) Harmonization of existing and proposed laws and regulations

As the emphasis towards laws on illicit financial flows, anti-money laundering, and combating the financing of terrorism has increased in the 21th century, both Hungary and Israel have implemented regulations that enhance transparency and accountability and prevent money laundering and terrorism financing. Already there is evidence that such regulations can be harmful for CSOs (IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, 2018), and special laws targeting foreign-funded NGOs might further undermine the roles and responsibilities of the sector. Thus, the thesis recommends harmonizing the existing regulations and if it is necessary, broadening the scope of illicit financial flow regulations rather than focusing legislation on labelling and therefore discriminate certain foreign-funded NGOs in the name of national security.

3) Enhancement of transparency and accountability across the sector

After analyzing the Hungarian and Israeli foreign agents regulations, there are several exemptions provided by law that might be, indeed, counterproductive to the goal of enhancing transparency and accountability in civil society, and may in fact pose a risk national security because the government does not monitor cross-border donations to these organizations. As a recommendation, the Hungarian regulation should include all CSOs, such as political parties, sport associations, religious and ethnic minority organizations, while the Israeli regulation should expand its scope to include organizations that receive cross-border donations from private entities. Such modifications can avoid unnecessary discrimination against certain types of foreign-funded NGOs and provide a more effective way to achieve the regulations' goals regarding transparency and national security.

4) Use of neutral categories instead of discriminative labels

Neither the Hungarian nor the Israeli legislation used the term "foreign agent"—instead, the governments used the terms "foreign-funded NGOs" or "organizations supported from abroad" respectively to refer pejoratively to organizations that receive funds from abroad. The continued negative connotations around these terms in each country mean that they are no longer neutral, and can be found discriminative. Thus, it is important to use neutral governmental communication during the discussion and implementation of any regulations affecting the sector in order to avoid possible stigmatization of foreign-funded NGOs.

Furthermore, as such regulations aim to increase transparency and protect national security, the development of terminologies and categories should involve the main actors of the sector so that the sector and the government can both understand the advantages and necessity of using an agreed-upon term.

5) Governmental support for more effective implementation

Both the Hungarian and Israeli regulations provided a very short time period for foreign-funded NGOs to implement the requirements – 8 days and less than 6 months, respectively.

Additionally, the new regulations have established new administrative and reporting requirements for NGOs that – especially for smaller NGOs – make their operation and their compliance extremely difficult. Therefore, we also recommend adding an adequate time period so that CSOs can be fully prepared for the implementation of such regulations. Additionally, the government or government agencies might provide administrative support for smaller CSOs in order not to jeopardize their operation while complying with new reporting requirements that promote transparency and accountability.

6) Positive incentives and collaboration to promote transparency

Finally, the thesis recommends using positive incentives to support transparency and accountability across the sector. Besides protecting national security, transparency could increase public trust towards CSOs and their activities. However, the current regulations offer extremely strong penalties in case of noncompliance that might negatively affect the level of public trust towards foreign-funded NGOs as well as the regulations' public support itself. Thus, besides a more proportionate penalty in case of non-compliance, we recommend creating positive incentives and supporting self-regulatory initiatives to increase the sector's transparency and accountability.

CONCLUSION

This thesis analyzes the foreign agents regulations enacted in two developed democracies: in Hungary and Israel. As several studies mentioned (Anheier, 2017, Laufer 2017, Rutzen 2015, European Foundation Centre, 2017), the number of countries that have implemented foreign NGO laws might threaten the operation of civil society around the world. Interestingly, it is not only developing countries, but also some developed countries that have enacted foreign NGO laws to monitor and control the operation of foreign-funded NGOs. As the emphasis towards laws on illicit financial flows, anti-money laundering, and combating the financing of terrorism has increased in the 21th century, CSOs started to be seen as a possible vehicle for terrorist organizations as they had global presence with access to the population, they enjoyed high level of public trust, had access to considerable sources of funds, and, crucially, were not subject of general governmental oversight (Financial Action Task Force, 2010, 2014). Thus, legislation on illicit financial flows started to indirectly discriminate against foreign-funded NGOs both in developing and some developed countries.

However, civil society and international NGOs have more important roles than ever. The new challenges that have emerged are global, affecting several countries at the same time such as the current environmental and refugee crises, money laundering, or terrorism. The United Nations emphasizes the importance of cross-sectoral and international collaboration to successfully face these challenges. Indeed, the United Nations started to strengthen the engagement with civil society and promote its international role in implementing and monitoring the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (CIVICUS, 2017c). Additionally, the shrinking space of civil society might be an indicator for the shrinking space of democracies and democratic values, therefore, it is important to start a conversation among researchers, policymakers, practitioners, and the general public to find the balance of simultaneously protecting

our civil society and national and international security. And while one of the universal human rights is the right to freedom of peaceful assembly and associations (Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Article 20), more and more countries have introduced restrictive regulations and practices towards civil society, particularly towards foreign-funded NGOs and human rights organizations.

The number of countries that passed foreign agents regulations has increased in the last decade. Most recently two OECD member states, Hungary and Israel, passed their own regulations. Both Israel and Hungary have a strong civil society that have had a crucial role in the countries' economic and political development. Both countries are high-income countries with high level of human development. However, according to Freedom House (2018a) both countries suffered a decrease in civil liberties due to the enactment of foreign agents regulations.

Both countries argued that the foreign agents regulation is necessary to increase the transparency and accountability of NGOs and protect the nations' internal security and interests and claimed that they used the 1938 FARA as a baseline. However, after analyzing all three regulations, we can infer that the Hungarian and Israeli regulations mainly target foreign-funded NGOs, and their regulation is indirectly discriminative and disproportionate towards NGOs working on specific fields such as human rights and transparency. In terms of requirements, both the Foreign NGO Law in Hungary and the Transparency Law in Israel mainly follow the requirements set by the United States' FARA. However, the Hungarian regulation does not require the representatives of NGOs to inform parliamentary committees regarding their special status in case of public hearings. Finally, none of the analyzed countries use the term "foreign agent" to label NGOs affected by the regulation, but the terms of "organization supported from abroad" and "organization supported by a foreign state entity" used in Hungary and Israel,

respectively, have already gained a negative connotation due to the intensive anti-NGO language used by the governments.

While both governments supported the foreign agents regulations to improve transparency and as well as national security, based on the domestic and international criticism, they have rather stigmatized a small but important group of civil society organizations by threatening and labeling foreign-funded NGOs working on human rights, protection of democratic values, and government accountability. The Hungarian government stated that such regulations are crucial for the "fight against illegal migrants," while the Israeli government believes that such regulation is an important part of the protection of national sovereignty and security, especially in light of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. It is important to acknowledge that both the refugee crisis and Israeli-Palestinian conflicts impact national security and therefore, it is important to be aware of how foreign-funded NGOs use their funding and resources. However, it is also important to find balance between national security and the freedom of civil society. One of the ways to find this balance might be including and collaborating with civil society in order to develop a more balanced legal environment for foreign-funded NGOS and CSOs as well. Additionally, governments should seek to use neutral labels and practice less biased communication regarding foreign-funded NGOs. It may increase the credibility and necessity of such regulations while avoid the possible perception and interpretation of these policies as tools to strengthen the current governments' position and intensify the importance of their own agenda.

Therefore, we can conclude that the newly enacted foreign agents regulations in countries such as Hungary and Israel serve more as a political tool to strengthen the governments' nationalistic ideology and power than as a tool to increase transparency in the nonprofit sector. As a consequence, the spread of foreign agents regulations could be an

indicator not only of the shrinking space of civil society, but also of the endangerment of Western democracies more broadly. Democracies seem to be more fragile than expected, and the excessive regulation of foreign-funded organizations could lead to weakening democracies.

EPILOGUE

This study focuses on foreign agents regulations that were enacted in Hungary (2017) and Israel (2016). As discussed, foreign agents regulation may lead to better transparency, which is especially important at this time due to the rise of money laundering and terrorist activities. However, both the Hungarian and Israeli regulations label and stigmatize foreignfunded NGOs – especially those that are against the government policies – rather than promote transparency in the sector or fight against money laundering, terrorism, or other national security threats.

While the number of first asylum applicants has decreased significantly since 2016 (Eurostat, 2018), more and more EU member states – such as Austria, Denmark, France, Germany, Sweden, and most recently Italy – have implemented new regulations to increase border control and prevent arrivals of immigrants in their countries (European Commission, 2018a, Borrelli, 2018). As the study states, while the immigration crisis is one of the biggest challenges to solve, the increasing level of populism and xenophobia in Europe might lead to implementing policies that would jeopardize human rights and the rule of law in European democracies. As an example, the Hungarian government enacted the "Stop-Soros legislative package" in June 2018 to support Hungarian sovereignty and national security by preventing Hungary from becoming a "country of immigrants" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2018a). The Hungarian government named the legislative package as "Stop Soros," as Prime Minister Orban believes that George Soros has supported and campaigned for mass immigration in order to undermine the stability of Europe as well as to make financial profits (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2018b). Therefore, even the name of the legislation itself seems to stigmatize organizations working with immigrants.

According to Prime Minister Orban, the questions of immigration and the so-called Soros-plan were two of the most important issues in the 2018 Hungarian parliamentary election held on April 8, 2018. After the Fidesz-KDNP coalition won with absolute majority, Prime Minister Orban said that "the 'Stop Soros' legislative package and the draft amendment to the Constitution would be submitted to Parliament as soon as the new Hungarian government is formed" (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2018c). The legislative package (Act VI of 2018 on amending certain laws related to measures to combat illegal immigration) amended several laws and regulations to criminalize any individual or organizational activities that support or promote illegal immigration, including assisting asylum-seekers or providing financial means for such activities. Additionally, in July 2018, the Hungarian Parliament also passed the amendments of the Tax Law that introduced a 25-percent special tax on aid groups that support migration (Act XLI of 2018 on amending certain tax laws and other related laws and the special tax on immigration).

Such regulations not only seem to make human rights organizations' work impossible, but also raise questions about whether Hungary's actions are in accordance with international and European laws. The European Commission has referred Hungary to the Court of Justice of the European Union for non-compliance of its asylum and return legislation with EU law (European Commission, 2018b). Simultaneously, the Hungarian government announced that "there is no choice but to leave the migration pact proposed by the United Nations" as the proposed pact seems to be "an invitation" for migrants (Website of The Hungarian Government, 2018d).

It is far too soon to evaluate the recent "Stop-Soros" legislative package and the recent governmental campaigns against NGOs supporting immigration, but it is important to carefully monitor the Hungarian case – as well as the cases emerging in other developed countries – in

order to further analyze the possible outcomes of foreign agents regulations and other laws that might undermine cross-border philanthropy instead of combating money-laundering, terrorism, or other threats against national security.

REFERENCES

22 U.S. Code Chapter 11 – Foreign Agents and Propaganda. Available https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/22/chapter-11

Albrecht, H. (2015). "How can opposition support authoritarianism? Lessons from Egypt." *Democratization*. 12(3): 378-397

Almog-Bar, Michal. (2016). "Policy Initatives towards the Nonprofit Sector: Insights from the Israeli Case." *Nonprofit Policy Forum.* 7(2): 237-256

Amutot Law, 5740-1980. Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/library/files/Israel/amutot.pdf

Abdreas, P. (2003). "Redrawing the line: Borders and security in the twenty-first century." *International Security*. 28(2): 78-111

Anheier, H. K. (2014). Nonprofit Organizations: Theory, Management, Policy. Second edition. London and New York: Routledge

Anheier. H. K. (2017). "Civil society challenges: towards an enabling policy environment." *Economics Discussion Papers*. 2017-45. Kiel Institute for the World Economy. Retrieved from http://www.economics-ejournal.org/economics/discussionpapers/2017-45

Anheier, H. K.; Burns, J., & Knott, J. H. (2018). "Civil Society Challenged: Towards an Enabling Policy Environment." *G20 Insights*. Retrieved from http://www.g20-insights.org/policy-briefs/civil-society-challenged-towards-enabling-policy-environment/

BBC. (2016, July 12). EU criticises Israel law forcing NGOs to reveal foreign funding. Retrieved from http://www.bbc.com/news/world-middle-east-36775032

Bob, Y., Hoffman, G., & Harkov, L. (2016, June 2). "NGOs hit back: Im Tirzu says NGO list shows European anti-Semitism." *The Jerusalem Post.* Retrieved from https://www.jpost.com/lsrael-NGO-bill-are-left-wing-455751

Borrelli, S.S. (2018, June 16). "Matteo Salvini: Italy's ports are closed to migrant vessels." *Politico.* Retrieved from https://www.politico.eu/article/matteo-salvini-migration-italy-ports-closed-to-migrant-vessels/

Bratton, M. (1989). "The politics of government-NGO Relations in Africa." World Development. 17: 569-587

Brown, D. L.., & Jagadanada. (2007). *Civil Society Legitimacy and Accountability: Issues and Challenges*. Retrieved from https://cpl.hks.harvard.edu/files/cpl/files/workingpaper_32.pdf

Brumberg, D. (2003). "Liberalization vs. Democracy: understanding Arab Political Reform." Carnegie Endowment Working Papers, Middle East Series

Bubis, G.B. (1969). "Israel and the Diapsora; Economics and Philanthropy." In Dinur, B. Z., *Israel and the Diaspora*. Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society of America

Carapico, S. (2012). "Egypt's Civi Revolution Turns 'Democracy Promotion' on Its Head." *In* Korany, B and El-Mahdi, R. (Eds). *Arab Spring in Egypt: Revolution and Beyond*. Cairo and New York: The American university of Cairo Press

Carothers, T. (1999). "Think Again Civil Society." Foreign Policy. Winter 1999-2000

Charities Aid Foundation of America. (2016). "Anti-Money Laundering Compliance for Grantmakers: The Good, The Bad and The Regulatory." *CAF America Connections Blog*. Available https://www.cafamerica.org/anti-money-laundering-compliance-grantmakers-good-bad-regulatory/

Charities Aid Foundation. (2017, September). The CAF World Giving Index 2017: A global view of giving trends. Available https://www.cafonline.org/about-us/publications/2017- publications/caf-world-giving-index-2017

CIVICUS (2017c). 2017 State of Civil Society Report. Available https://www.civicus.org/index.php/state-of-civil-society-report-2017

CIVICUS. (2016). Civil Society Watch Report. Retrieved from https://www.civicus.org/images/CSW_Report.pdf

CIVICUS. (2017a). Monitor – Tracking Civic Space. Available https://monitor.civicus.org/

CIVICUS. (2017b). What is Civic Space?. Available https://monitor.civicus.org/whatiscivicspace/

CIVICUS (2017c). 2017 State of Civil Society Report. Available https://www.civicus.org/index.php/state-of-civil-society-report-2017

Companies Law, 5759-1999. Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/library/files/Israel/CompaniesLaw.pdf

Connor, P. (2016, August 2). "Number of refugees to Europe surges to record 1.3 million in 2015." *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from http://www.pewglobal.org/2016/08/02/number-of-refugees-to-europe-surges-to-record-1-3-million-in-2015/

Constitution of the People's Republic of Hungary. (1949.) Retrieved from http://lapa.princeton.edu/hosteddocs/hungary/1949%20Hungarian%20constitution.pdf

Cooperman, A., Sahgal, N., & Schiller, A. (2016). Israel's Religiously Divided Society: Deep gulfs among Jews, as well as between Jews and Arabs, over political values and religion's role in public life. Pew Research Center. Retrieved from http://www.pewforum.org/2016/03/08/israels-religiously-divided-society/

Cox, T.; & Vass, L. (1995). "Civil Society and Interest Representation on Hungarian Political Development." In Cox, T., & Furlong, A. (Eds.), *Hungary, the politics of transition*. London: F. Cass

Csanády, D. (1998). "Improving Civil Society in Hungary." *The International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law.* 1(2). Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol1iss2/art_4.htm

Csóka, I. (2000). "Between the Governmental and Civil Sectors in Hungary." *The International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law.* 3(1). Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol1iss2/art_4.htm

Defense (Emergency) Regulations, 1945

Diamond, L. (1994). "Toward Democratic Consolidation." Journal of Democracy. 5(3): 4-17

Diamond, L., Linz, J. J., and Lipset, S. M. (1995). "Introduction: what makes for democracy?." In Diamond, L., Linz, J. J., and Lipset, S. M. (Eds.), *Politics in developing countries: comparing experiences with democracy.* 2nd edition. London: Lynne Rienner, 1-66

Dobszay, J. (2014). "A kurzus és a kurázsi: Megroppantható-e a civil társadalom?" *HVG Online*. Retrieved from http://hvg.hu/itthon/201440 megroppanthatoe a civil tarsadalom a kurzus

Dodge, J. and Ospina S. M. (2016). "Nonprofits as "School of Democracy": A Comparative Case Study of Two Environmental Organizations." *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly.* 45(3): 478-499

Dupuy, K., Ron, J. and Prakash, A. (2016). "Hands Off My Regime! Governments' Restrictions on Foreign Aid to Non-governmental Organizations in Poor and Middle-Income Countries." World Development. 84: 299-311

ECHR. (2017). Case of Ilias and Ahmed v. Hungary: Judgement. Retrieved from https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/eng#{%22itemid%22:[%22001-172091%22]}

ECNL. (2017, June 15). Hungary's new law on the transparency of organizations supported from abroad: A briefing paper by the European Center for Not-for-Profit Law. Retrieved from http://ecnl.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/ECNL-briefer-on-Hungarys-Lex-NGO.pdf

Edelman. (2017). 2017 Edelman Trust Barometer: Global Results. Available https://www.edelman.com/global-results/

Edwards, M. (2014). Civil Society. Third edition. Cambridge: Polity Press

EEA Grants. (2018). Our History. Retrieved from https://eeagrants.org/Who-we-are/Our-history

Eglash, R., & Booth, W. (2016). "Israeli NGOs decry 'deeply anti-democratic move' as new law approved." *The Washington post.* Retrieved from

https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/israeli-ngos-decry-deeply-anti-democratic-move-as-new-law-approved/2016/07/12/a07b1bdb-a431-4fce-b76d-d0a35dfca519 story.html?utm term=.a75370c2bd56

Einolf, C. J. (2015). "The Social Origins of the Nonprofit Sector and Charitable Giving." Chapter 29 in P. Wipeking and F. Handy (Eds.), The Palgrave Handbook of Global Philanthropy. New York: Palgrave Macmillan

ENOP. (2018). Szazadveg Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.european-network-of-political-foundations.eu/users/index/detail/page/6/lang/en/id/252

Eotvos Karoly Policy Institute, Transparency International Hungary, Hungarian Civil Liberties Union, and Hungarian Helsinki Committee. (2014). Timeline of governmental attacks against Hungarian NGO sphere. Retrieved from

http://www.icnl.org/research/library/files/Hungary/Hungarytimeline.pdf

European Commission. (2017a). Commission and its priorities. Available https://ec.europa.eu/commission/index en

European Commission. (2017a). Infringement procedure. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/law/law-making-process/applying-eu-law/infringement-procedure en

European Commission. (2017b). European Commission steps up infringement against Hungary on NGO Law. Available http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-17-3663 en.htm

European Commission. (2017b, July 13). Infringements – Hungary: Commission launches infringement procedure for law on foreign-funded NGOs. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-17-1982 en.htm

European Commission. (2017c, October 4). European Commission steps up infringement against Hungary on NGO Law. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release_IP-17-3663_en.htm

European Commission. (2017d, December 7). Infringements – European Commission refers Hungary to the Court of Justice for its NGO law. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-17-5003 en.htm

European Commission. (2018a, July 20). Temporary Reintroduction of Border Control. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/home-affairs/what-we-do/policies/borders-and-visas/schengen/reintroduction-border-control en

European Commission (2018b, July 19). Migration and Asylum: Commission takes further steps in infringement procedures against Hungary. Retrieved from http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-18-4522 en.htm

European Foundation Centre. (2016). The shrinking space for civil society: philanthropic perspectives from across the globe. Available http://efc.issuelab.org/resources/24213/24213.pdf

European Fundraising Association. (2015). Fundraising I Europe 2015. Retrieved from http://fundraising.cz/v1/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/EFA-Survey-Fundraising-in-Europe-2015.pdf

European Parliament. (2017). Shrinking space for civil society: the EU response. Retrieved from http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2017/578039/EXPO STU(2017)578039 _EN.pdf

European Union External Action Service. (2016). Statement by the Spokesperson on the passage of the new NGO law in the Israeli Knesset. Retrieved from https://eeas.europa.eu/headquarters/headquarters-homepage/7228 en

European Union External Action. (2016, July 12). Statement by the Spokesperson on the passage of the new NGO law in the Israeli Knesset. Retrieved from

https://eeas.europa.eu/topics/sanctions-policy/7228/statement-by-the-spokesperson-on-the-passage-of-the-new-ngo-law-in-the-israeli-knesset_en

European Union. (2016, November 17). Israel: Update of EU Country Roadmap for Engagement with Civil Society: 2014-2017. Available https://europa.eu/capacity4dev/public-governance-civilsociety/document/israel-update-roadmap-eu-engagement-civil-society

Eurostat. (2018, April 18). Asylum statistics. Available http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php/Asylum statistics#Number of asylum applicants: drop in 2017

FARA. (2017). FARA: Foreign Agents Registration Act. The United States Department of Justice. Available https://www.fara.gov/

Financial Action Task Force. (2010). FATF IX Special Recommendations October 2001 (incorporating all subsequent amendments until February 2008). Retrieved from http://www.fatf-

gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/FATF%20Standards%20-%20IX%20Special%20Recomme ndations%20and%20IN%20rc.pdf

Financial Action Task Force. (2014). FATF Report: Risk of Terrorist Abuse in Non-profit Organizations. Retrieved from http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/Risk-of-terrorist-abuse-in-non-profit-organisations.pdf

Financial Action Task Force. (2015). *Best Practices: Combating The Abuse of Non-profit Organizations (Recommendations 8)*. Retrieved from http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/BPP-combating-abuse-non-profit-organisations.pdf

Financial Action Task Force. (2017a). *Who we are.* Retrieved from http://www.fatf-gafi.org/about/

Financial Action Task Force. (2017b). *International Standards on Combating Money laundering and the Finance of Terrorism & Proliferation. The FATF Recommendations.* Retrieved from http://www.fatf-

gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/recommendations/pdfs/FATF%20Recommendations%202012.pdf

Fisher, J. (1998). Non governments: NGOs and the political development of the Third World. West Hartford: Kumarian Press

Freedom House. (2016). Freedom of the press 2016: Hungary. Retrieved from https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-press/2016/hungary

Freedom House. (2017). Nations in transit 2017: The false promise of populism. Retrieved from https://freedomhouse.org/report/nations-transit/nations-transit-2017

Freedom House. (2018a). Freedom in the World 2018. Retrieved from https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/freedom-world-2018

Freedom House. (2018b). Freedom in the World 2018. Israel Profile. Retrieved from https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/2018/israel

Freedom House. (2018c). Freedom in the World 2018: Democracy in Crisis. Retrieved from https://freedomhouse.org/report/freedom-world/freedom-world-2018

Gellner, E. (1994). Conditions in Liberty: Civil Society and Its Rivals. London: Hamish Hamilton

Gidron, B. Katz, H., Anheier, H.K. and Salamon, L.M. (1999). "Israel: An Overview of Major Economic Parameters." Chapter 11. in Salamon et al. Global Civil Society. Dimension of the Nonprofit Sector. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins Center for Civil Society Studies

Gidron, B., Katz, H., Katan, J., Silber, I., & Telias, M. (2003). "Through a new lens: The third sector and Israeli society." *Israel Studies*. 8(1): 20-59

Habermas, J. (1991). "The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere: An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society." *Studies in Contemporary Social Thought*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press

Hadenius, A. and Uggla, F. (1996). "Making civil society work, promoting democratic development: what can states and donors do." World Development. 24: 1621-1639

Halbfinger, D. M., Kershner, I., and Walsh, D. (2018, May 14). "Israel Kills Dozens at Gaza Border as U.S. Embassy Opens in Jerusalem." *The New York Times*. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/14/world/middleeast/gaza-protests-palestinians-us-embassy.html

Hall, P. D. (2016). "Historical perspectives on nonprofit organizations in the United States." In Renz, D. O., and Herman, R. D. The Jossey-Bass Handbook of Nonprofit Leadership and Management. Fourth edition. Hoboken, New Jersey: Jossey-Bass, A Wiley brand

Harkov, L. (2017, October 15). "Israel to Clamp Down on Foreign Funding of NGOs." The Jerusalem Post. Retrieved from https://www.jpost.com/Israel-News/Israel-to-clamp-down-on-foreign-funding-of-NGOs-507479

Helsinki Committee. (2017a, October 28). "The Helsinki Committee filed a lawsuit against the government for the "national consultation."" *The Hungarian Helsinki Committee*. Retrieved from https://www.helsinki.hu/en/the-helsinki-committee-filed-a-lawsuit-against-the-government-for-the-national-consultation/

Helsinki Committee. (2017b, December 18). "Partial success in the "national consultation" lawsuit." The Hungarian Helsinki Committee. Retrieved from https://www.helsinki.hu/en/partial-success-in-the-national-consultation-lawsuit/

Helsinki Committee (2018). "About us." *The Hungarian Helsinki Committee*. Retrieved from https://www.helsinki.hu/en/about_us/

Hudson Institute. (2015). Index of Philanthropic Freedom. Available https://www.hudson.org/research/11363-index-of-philanthropic-freedom-2015

Hudson Institute. (2016). *The Index of Global Philanthropic and Remittances 2016*. Available https://globalindices.iupui.edu/resource/index.html

HVG.hu. (2017, June 27). "A Magyar Amnesty sem regisztral, megy a birosagra." HVG. Retrieved form http://hvg.hu/itthon/20170627 A magyar Amnesty nem regisztral megy a birosagra

IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. (2018). *Global Philanthropy Environment Index.* Available https://globalindices.iupui.edu/environment/index.html

International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (The). (2016). "Survey of Trends Affecting Civil Space:2015-2016." *Global Trends in NGO Law.* 7(4): 1-21. Available http://www.icnl.org/research/trends/trends7-4.pdf

International Center for Not-for-Profit Law. (2017). Civic Freedom Monitor: Turkey. Available http://www.icnl.org/research/monitor/turkey.html

International Monetary Fund. (2017). The IMF and the Fight Against Money Laundering and the Financing of terrorism. Available

https://www.imf.org/en/About/Factsheets/Sheets/2016/08/01/16/31/Fight-Against-Money-Laundering-the-Financing-of-Terrorism

Katz, H., & Greenspan, I. (2015). "Giving in Israel: From old Religious Traditions to an Emerging Culture of Philanthropy." Chapter 19 in P. Wipeking and F. Handy (Eds.) *The Palgrave Handbook of Global Philanthropy*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan

Keane, J. (2009). "Civil Society, Definitions and Approaches." In: Anheier, H. K., Toepler, S., and List, r. (Eds.), *International Encyclopedia of Civil Society*. Heidelberg and Berlin: Springer

Klaudt, K. (1995). "Hungary after the Revolution: Privatization, Economic Ideology and the False Promise of the Free Market." *Law & Inequality: A Journal of Theory and Practice*. 13(2). Retrieved from

https://scholarship.law.umn.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://www.google.com/&httpsredir=1&article=1495&context=lawineq

KSH. (2015). "A nonprofit szektor legfontosabb jellemzői, 2014." Statisztikai Tükör. 2015(98)

KSH. (2016). "A nonprofit szektor legfontosabb jellemzői, 2015." *Statisztikai Tükör*. Retrieved from http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/stattukor/nonprofit/nonprofit15.pdf

KSH. (2018). "A nonprofit szektor legfontosabb jellemzői, 2016." *Statisztikai Tükör*. Retrieved from http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/stattukor/nonprofit/nonprofit16.pdf

KSH. (2018, January 10). A nonprofit szektor legfontosabb jellemzői, 2016. Retrieved from http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/stattukor/nonprofit/nonprofit16.pdf

Laufer, S. (2017). "A Different in Approach: Comparing the US Foreign Agents Registration Act with Other Laws Targeting International Funded Civil Society." *International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law.* 19(1): 5-11. Available

http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol19iss1/Samantha%20Laufer.pdf

Law on Disclosure Requirements for Recipients of Support from a Foreign State Entity,5771-2011 Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/library/files/Israel/LawonDisclosure.pdf

Law on the Right of Association. (1989). Retrieved from http://www.nefmi.gov.hu/letolt/elektronikus_ugyintezes/nkom_egyesulesi_jog.pdf

Lehr-Lehnardt, R. (2005). "NGO Legitimacy: Reassessing Democracy, Accountability and Transparency." *Cornell Law School Inter-University Graduate Student Conference Paper*. Retrieved from

https://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?referer=https://scholar.google.com/&https:redir=1&article=1020&context=lps_clacp

Levush, R. (2014). "Israel: Anti-Money Laundering Law Amended." *Library of Congress: Global Legal Monitor*. Retrieved from http://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/israel-anti-money-laundering-law-amended/

Limor, N. (2012). Yearbook of Non-profit Organizations in Israel: Summary of Data

Limor, N., & Aisenberg, S. (2004). Israel's third sector. International Center for Not-for-Profit Law

Lis, J. (2014). "Draft Bill: NGOs With Foreign Funding to Be Defined 'Foreign Agents'." *Haaretz*. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/.premium-bill-leftist-ngos-foreign-agents-1.5249583

Lis, J. (2015). "Justice Ministry to Introduce Bill Demanding Foreign Funded NGOs Wear Special Tag in Knesset." *Haaretz*. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/.premium-new-bill-calls-for-left-wing-ngos-to-wear-special-tag-in-knesset-1.5415863

Lis, J. (2016). "List of Non-profits That Would Be Affected by Proposed NGO Bill Revealed." *Haaretz*. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/.premium-list-of-non-profits-that-would-be-affected-by-proposed-ngo-bill-revealed-1.5390945

Lomax, B. 1997. "The strange death of 'civil society' in post-communist Hungary." *Journal of Communist Studies and Transition Politics*, 13(1):41-63

Magyarorszag Kormanya. (2017a, April 10). "A kormány mindenkinek megadja a szükséges tájékoztatást." *Magyarország Kormánya*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/hu/kulgazdasagi-es-kulugyminiszterium/hirek/a-kormany-mindenkinek-megadja-a-szukseges-tajekoztatast

Magyarorszag Kormanya. (2017b, February 20). "Orbán Viktor napirend előtti felszólalása." Magyarország Kormánya. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/hu/a-miniszterelnok/beszedek-publikaciok-interjuk/orban-viktor-napirend-elotti-felszolalasa-20170220

Magyarorszag Kormanya. (2017c, August 4). "Magyarország megküldte a válaszleveleket az Európai Bizottságnak." *Magyarország Kormánya*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/hu/igazsagugyi-miniszterium/parlamenti-allamtitkarsag/videok/magyarorszag-megkuldte-a-valaszleveleket-az-europai-bizottsagnak

Magyarorszag Kormanya. (2017d, June 28). "Csak a Soros által fizetett szervezetek támadják a kormányt." *Magyarország Kormánya*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/hu/igazsagugyi-miniszterium/parlamenti-allamtitkarsag/hirek/csak-a-soros-altal-fizetett-szervezetek-tamadjak-a-kormanyt

Mercer, C. (2002). "NGOs, civil society, and democratization: a critical review of the literature." *Progress in Development Studies*. 2(1): 5-22

Mertus, J. (1999). "From Legal Transplants to Transformative Justice: Human Rights and the Promise of Transnational Civil Society." American University International Law Review 14, no. 5 (1999): 1335-1389. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.wcl.american.edu/auilr/vol14/iss5/2/

Ministry of Defense. (2018a). Declarations of terrorist organizations, unauthorized associations and confiscation orders. Retrieved from http://www.mod.gov.il/Defence-and-security/Fighting terrorism/Pages/default.aspx

Minsitry of Defense. (2018b). List on Unauthorized Associations and Terrorists Organization. Available http://www.mod.gov.il/Defence-and-Security/Fighting_terrorism/Pages/default.aspx

MONEYVAL. (2016). Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist financing measures: Hungary. Retrieved from http://www.fatf-gafi.org/media/fatf/documents/reports/mer-fsrb/MER-Hungary-2016.pdf

Nemzeti Konzultacio. (2018). "A Soros-tervrol szolo nemzeti konzultacio eredmenyei." Magyarorszag Kormanya. Retrieved from https://nemzetikonzultacio.kormany.hu/ Newton, K. (2001). "Trust, Social Capital, Civil Society, and Democracy." *International Political Science Review*. 22 (2): 201-214

Novak, B. (2015, September 28). "Gov't of Hungary responds to criticism over handling of refugee crisis." *Budapest Beacon*. Retrieved from https://budapestbeacon.com/govt-of-hungary-responds-to-criticism-over-handling-of-refugee-crisis/

OHCHR. (2016). Press briefing notes on Turkey, Israel, and Bahrain. Retrieved from http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=20284&LangID=E

OHCHR. (2017). UN rights experts urge Hungary to withdraw Bill on foreign funding to NGOs. Retrieved from

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/DisplayNews.aspx?NewsID=21617&LangID=E

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2008). The OECD: Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/newsroom/34011915.pdf

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2017a). About the OECD: Members and partners. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/about/membersandpartners/

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2017b). About the OECD. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/about/

Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2018). Grants by private agencies and NGOs (indicator). Available doi: 10.1787/a42ccf0e-en

Origo.hu. (2017, November 7). "A Momentum Soros Gyorgyot es halozatat vedi." *Origo*. Retrieved from http://www.origo.hu/itthon/20171107-a-momentum-soros-gyorgyot-es-halozatat-vedi.html

Orszaggyules.hu. (2017). Bevezetes, jogi szabalyozas. Retrieved from http://www.parlament.hu/bevezetes-jogi-szabalyzas1#A%20p%C3%A1rtok%20k%C3%A9pvisel%C5%91csoportjai%20(a%20frakci%C3%B3k)

Prime Minister's Office. (2008, February). Government of Israel, The Civil Society, and The Business Community: Partnership, Empowerment, and Transparency. Retrieved from http://www.pmo.gov.il/policyplanning/Documents/PolicyENG.pdf

Puddington, A. (2017). "Breaking Down Democracy: Goals, Strategies, and Methods of Modern Authoritarians." *Freedom House*. Available https://freedomhouse.org/report/special-reports/breaking-down-democracy-goals-strategies-and-methods-modern-authoritarians

Raday, F. (2016). "Israels NGO Law Inspired by Non-democratic Regimes, Certainly Not by the U.S." *Haaretz*. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/opinion/.premium-israels-ngo-law-by-non-democratic-regimes-not-by-the-u-s-1.5390140

Ravid. B. (2016, January 14). "Netanyahu Publicly Backs Bill Aimed at Leftist NGOs, Says Goal Is 'Transparency'." *Haaretz*. Retrieved from https://www.haaretz.com/israel-news/.premium-netanyahu-backs-ngo-bill-says-goal-is-transparency-1.5391049

Reuters. (2018, April 7). "Factbox: Deadly attacks in Western Europe." *Reuters*. Retrieved from https://www.reuters.com/article/us-germany-crash-timeline-factbox/factbox-deadly-attacks-in-western-europe-idUSKBN1HE0ND

Rifai, R. (2015, December 27). "Concern in Israel over bill on foreign-funded NGOs." *Al Jazeera*. Retrieved from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2015/12/concern-israel-bill-foreign-funded-ngos-151227165311650.html

Rutzen, D. (2015). "Aid Barriers and the Rise of Philanthropic Protectionism." *International Journal of Not-for-Profit Law.* 17(1): 5-44. Retrieved from http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol17ss1/Rutzen.pdf

Salamon, L. M. (2002). The State of Nonprofit America. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution Press

Salamon, L. M. and Anheier, H.K. (1997). Defining the Nonprofit Sector: A Cross-National Analysis. Manchester: Manchester University Press

Salamon, L. M. et al. (1999). Global Civil Society: Dimensions of the Nonprofit Sector. Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins Center for Civil Society Studies

Samson, D. (2018, April 11). Paying the Price: Who Really Represents the Israeli Nonprofit Sector?. Retrieved from https://ejewishphilanthropy.com/paying-the-price-who-really-represents-the-israeli-nonprofit-sector/

Schmid, A. P. "Austria's Reformed Law on Islam – A Model for Europe?." *International Centre for Counter-Terrorism Publications*. Available https://icct.nl/publication/austrias-reformed-law-on-islam-a-model-for-europe/

Schriber, A., Gross, G., & Bielawsky, S. (2010). *The Proper Management of Amutot*. Retrieved from file:///C:/Users/kinga/Downloads/nihultakinenglish2012.pdf

Shaked, A. (2016, January 4). "Op-Ed: Ayelet Shaked defends her NGO bill." *Jewish Telegraphic Agency*. Retrieved from https://www.jta.org/2016/01/04/news-opinion/opinion/ayelet-shaked-ngo-law-protects-israel-from-existential-threats

Silliman, G. S., Noble, L. G. (1998). "Citizen movements and Philippine democracy." In Silliman, G. S., Noble, L. G. (Eds.), *Organizing for democracy: NGOs, civil society and the Philippine state.* Honolulu: University of Hawai'l Press

Simon, J. G., Chisolm, L. B. and Dale, H. P. (2006). "The Federal Tax Treatment of Charitable Organizations." In Powell, W. W. and Steinberg, R. (Eds.), *The Non-Profit Sector: A Research Handbook*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press

Strickland, P. (2016, February 8). "Israeli Knesset to vote on divisive NGO bill." *Al Jazeera*. Retrieved from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2016/02/israeli-knesset-vote-divisive-ngo-bill-160208133954001.html

Szazadveg Foundation. (2017a, February 15). A tobbseg nem bizik a kulfoldi penzbol finanszirozott civil szervezetekben. Retrieved from https://szazadveg.hu/hu/kutatasok/az-alapitvany-kutatasai/piackutatas-kozvelemeny-kutatas/a-tobbseg-nem-bizik-a-kulfoldi-penzbol-finanszirozott-civil-szervezetekben

Szazadveg Foundation. (2017b). Az NGO-k mint politikai szereplok. Retrieved from https://szazadveg.hu/uploads/media/58d108fa76965/az-ngo-k-mint-politikai-szereplok-tanulmany.pdf

Tahhan, Z. (2016, July 12). "Israel passes controversial NGO bill amid criticism." *Al Jazeera*. Retrieved from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2016/07/israel-passes-controversial-ngo-bill-criticism-160712071408073.html

The Arab Culture Association. (2018). About us. Retrieved from http://arabca.net/?mod=articles&ID=169

The Association for Civil Rights in Israel. (2016). Anti NGO Legislation in the Israeli Knesset. Retrieved from https://www.acri.org.il/en/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Anti-NGO-Bills-Overview-Updated-June-2016-1.pdf

The Open Society Foundations. (2018). The Open Society Foundations in Hungary. Retrieved from https://www.opensocietyfoundations.org/explainers/open-society-foundations-hungary

The World Bank. (2017). *GDP per capita (current US\$): Country comparison.* Retrieved from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=HU-IL

The World Bank. (2017). Illicit Financial Flows. Available http://www.worldbank.org/en/topic/financialsector/brief/illicit-financial-flows-iffs

Toth, Cs. (2014). "Full text of Viktor Orban's speech at Baile Tusnad of 26 July 2014." *Budapest Beacon*. Retrieved from https://budapestbeacon.com/full-text-of-viktor-orbans-speech-at-baile-tusnadfurdo-of-26-july-2014/

Transparency International. (2018). "About us." *Transparency International Hungary*. Retrieved from https://transparency.hu/en/rolunk/misszio/

Transparency Requirements for Parties Supported by Foreign State Entities Law, 5776-2016

- U.S. Department of Justice. (2016, September). Audit of the National Security Division's Enforcement and Administration of the Foreign Agents Registration Act. Retrieved from https://oig.justice.gov/reports/2016/a1624.pdf
- U.S. Department of Justice. (2017). 2062. Foreign Agents Registration Act Enforcement. Retrieved from https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/USCODE-2009-title22/USCODE-2009-title22-chap11-subchapII-sec611
- U.S. Department of Justice. (2017). Foreign Agents Registration Act: General FARA frequently asked questions. Retrieved from https://www.justice.gov/nsd-fara/general-fara-frequently-asked-questions#2
- U.S. Department of State. (2017a, April 15). 2016 Report on International Religious Freedom: Hungary. Retrieved from https://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/irf/2016/eur/268822.htm
- U.S. Department of State. (2017b, August 15). 2016 Report on International Religious Freedom: Hungary. Retrieved from https://www.state.gov/j/drl/rls/irf/2016/nea/268894.htm

UNDP. (2016). *Human Development Report 2016: Human Development for Everyone*. Retrieved from http://hdr.undp.org/en/2016-report

Union of international Associations. (2017). The yearbook of international organizations. Available https://uia.org/yearbook

United Nations. (1948). The Universal Declaration of Human Rights. Retrieved from http://www.un.org/en/universal-declaration-human-rights/

United Nations. (2003). Handbook on Non-Profit Institutions in the System of National Accounting. Retrieved from https://unstats.un.org/unsd/publication/seriesf/seriesf 91e.pdf

United Nations. (2016, July 19). UN rights office raises concern about Israel's 'NGO Transparency Law'. Retrieved from https://news.un.org/en/story/2016/07/534812-un-rights-office-raises-concern-about-israels-ngo-transparency-law

United Nations Secretary General. (2016, July 12). Secretary-General's remarks to the Security Council on the Situation in the Middle East [as delivered]. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/statement/2016-07-12/secretary-generals-remarks-security-council-situation-middle-east

USAID. (2013, June). 2012 CSO sustainability index for Central and Eastern Europe and Eurasia. Retrieved from https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1863/2012CSOSI 0.pdf

USAID. (2016, June). 2015 CSO sustainability index for Central and Eastern Europe and Eurasia. Retrieved from

https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1861/Europe Eurasia CSOSIReport 2015 Update8-29-16.pdf

USAID. (2017, July). 2016 CSO sustainability index for Central and Eastern Europe and Eurasia. Retrieved from https://www.usaid.gov/sites/default/files/documents/1866/CSOSI_Report_7-28-17.pdf

Venice Commission (2017c, June 2). Preliminary opinion on the draft law on the transparency of organizations receiving support from abroad. Retrieved from http://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/?pdf=CDL-PI(2017)002-e

Venice Commission (2017d, June 20). Opinion on the draft law on the transparency of organizations receiving support from abroad. Retrieved from http://www.venice.coe.int/webforms/documents/default.aspx?pdffile=CDL-AD(2017)015-e

Venice Commission. (2017a). "Venice Commission on Hungarian law on foreign-funded NGOs: legitimate aims, but excessive obligations, disproportionate sanctions." *Council of Europe*. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.coe.int/en/web/human-rights-rule-of-law/-/venice-commission-on-hungarian-law-on-foreign-funded-ngos-legitimate-aims-but-excessive-obligations-disproportionate-sanctions?desktop=false

Venice Commission. (2017b). "For democracy through law: the Venice Commission of the Council of Europe." *Council of Europe*. Retrieved from http://www.venice.coe.int/WebForms/pages/?p=01 Presentation

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017a, February 24). "Prime Minister Viktor Orban on Kossuth Radio's "180 Minetes" programe." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-kossuth-radio-s-180-minutes-programme20170224

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017b, January 13). "Funding for participants in public life must be made transparent." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/news/funding-for-participants-in-public-life-must-be-made-transparent

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017f, February 23) "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán's address in Parliament before the start of daily business." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-viktor-orban-s-address-in-parliament-before-the-start-of-daily-business20170223

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017g, February 23) "Viktor Orbán's speech on the anniversary of the 1848 Revolution." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/viktor-orban-s-speech-on-the-anniversary-of-the-1848-revolution

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017h, February 24) "The problem is not with civil society as a whole." *Website of The Hungarian Government*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/government-spokesperson/news/the-problem-is-not-with-civil-society-as-a-whole

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017i, February 24) "Interview with Prime Minister Viktor Orbán on the Kossuth Radio programme "Sunday News." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-the-kossuth-radio-programme-sunday-news

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017i, July 10) "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán on Kossuth Radio's "180 Minutes" programme." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-kossuth-radio-s-180-minutes-programme-20170707

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017k, June 15) "Knowing the identity of foreign financers is a legitimate demand." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/ministry-of-foreign-affairs-and-trade/news/knowing-the-identity-of-foreign-financers-is-a-legitimate-demand

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017l, October 17) "Nothing can prevent the Hungarians from expressing their opinions." *Website of The Hungarian Government*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/cabinet-office-of-the-prime-minister/news/nothing-can-prevent-the-hungarians-from-expressing-their-opinions

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017m, June 17) "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán on Kossuth Radio's "180 Minutes" programme." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-kossuth-radio-s-180-minutes-programme-20170617

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017n, February 26) "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán on Kossuth Radio's "180 Minutes" programme." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-kossuth-radio-s-180-minutes-programme20170224

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2017o, June 29). "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán's speech at the closing event for the National Consultation." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-viktor-orban-s-speech-at-the-closing-event-for-the-national-consultation

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2018a, June 27). "Hungary will accept no compromise with relation to mandatory quotas." *Website of The Hungarian Government*. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/prime-minister-s-office/news/hungary-will-accept-no-compromise-with-relation-to-mandatory-quotas

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2018b, June 10). "Prime Minister Viktor Orbán on the Kossuth Radio programme "180 Minutes."" Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/the-prime-minister-s-speeches/prime-minister-viktor-orban-on-the-kossuth-radio-programme-180-minutes-20180610

Website of The Hungarian Government. (2018c, May 14). ""Stop Soros" legislative package to be submitted to Parliament as soon as new government is formed." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/the-prime-minister/news/stop-soros-legislative-package-to-be-submitted-to-parliament-as-soon-as-new-government-is-formed

Website of The Hungarian Government (2018d, July 16). "There is no choice but to leave UN pact." Website of The Hungarian Government. Retrieved from http://www.kormany.hu/en/news/there-is-no-choice-but-to-leave-un-pact

Wiktorowicz, Q. (2000). "Civil Society as Social Control: State Power in Jordan." *Comparative Politics*. 33(1): 43-61

Wilson, E. A. (2016). "Restrictive National Laws Affecting Human Rights Civil Society Organizations: A Legal Analysis." *Journal of Human Rights Practice*. 8(3): 329-357. Available https://doi.org/10.1093/jhuman/huw018

Winters, M. S. (2010). "Accountability, participation and Foreign Aid Effectiveness." *International Studies Review.* 12(2): 218-243

Yepes, C.V. (2011). "Compliance with the AML/CFT International Standard: Lessons form a Cross-Country Analysis." *International Monetary Fund Working Paper*. 11(117). Retrieved from https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2011/wp11177.pdf

Yesh Din. (2018). About us. Retrieved from https://www.yesh-din.org/en/about-us/

CURRICULUM VITAEKinga Zsofia Horvath

Ü
Education Indiana University, Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, Indianapolis, IN Master of Arts in Philanthropic Studies Certificate in Fund Raising Management December 2018
KU Leuven, Belgium and Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary European Master's in Public Administration Programme July 2016
Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary Master of Science in Public Policy and Management, graduated with honours
Corvinus University of Budapest, Hungary Bachelor of Arts in International Business and Economics Study abroad program at the University of Greenwich Business School, UK Study abroad program at the Universidad de Panamá, Panama
Eötvös Loránd Science University, Hungary Law Studies 2011 – ongoing
Honors, Awards, and Fellowships William M. Plater Civic Engagement Medallion For IUPUI graduates who have excelled in their commitment to the community through activities such as service learning, volunteerism, community/social issue advocacy, community work-study, and political engagement.
McKinsey&Company Next Generation Women Leaders, special prize For women who thrive when working with other people and actively seek ways to maximize their own potential and to become outstanding female leaders
Pallas Athene Domus Animae Foundation For Hungarian students and scholars with the aim to research Economics and related interdisciplinary fields awarded by the National Bank of Hungary
Fulbright Student Program For Hungarian students and scholars with significant knowledge and/or educational experience with the aim to contribute a deeper and mutual understanding of U.SHungarian relations
Scientific Students' Associations Conference, 1st prize Co-production and performance management regarding the changes of the Homeless care system in Budapest in 2011
Scholarship of the Hungarian Republic 2012, 2015

For students with excellent academic achievements as well as outstanding

community and/or scientific work

For outstanding students with public affairs-related interests in order to support their research in topics significant for the Municipality of Budapest

Research Experience

Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy, Research Department, Indianapolis, IN

Visiting Research Associate

Graduate Assistant

August 2018 – Present
January 2017 – July 2018

- Write literature reviews and annotated bibliographies on international giving and global philanthropy
- Conduct and write methodology review for the Global Philanthropy Resource Flows Index
- Assist in successful proposal writing for research collaborations with USAID, Robert Bosch Stiftung, European Center for Not-for-Profit Law)
- Co-lead research teams of 3-10 people, manage project timeline, and deliver project milestones on time
- Work with international partners including Donors and Foundations Network in Europe and the Worldwide Initiatives for Grantmaker Support
- Co-present results of the 2018 Global Philanthropy Environment Index at several webinars and workshops
- Wrote r4 regional summaries and analysed main trends in preparation for the publication of the 2018 Global Philanthropy Environment Index
- Fact checked approximately 60 country reports in preparation for the publication of the 2018 Global Philanthropy Environment Index
- Conducted country research and information gathering to build knowledge base and ensure timely completion of international project

Publications

Horvath, K. Zs. (2018). "Giving to International Affairs." In: Giving USA 2018: The Annual Report on Philanthropy for the Year 2017, a publication of Giving USA Foundation, 2017, researched and written by the Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. Available online at www.givingusa.org.

IUPUI Lilly Family School of Philanthropy. (2018). Global Philanthropy Environment Index. Available https://globalindices.iupui.edu/environment/index.html

Professional Experience

The Generosity Commission: A National Conversation on Giving and Voluntary Action
Intern
September 2017 – October 2018

- Conducted preliminary literature review and assisted in research
- Prepared background information of current and prospective members for the Working Committee
- Participated in meetings and teleconferences and write notes to support committee members' work

Indiana State Museum and Historic Sites, Department of Development, Indianapolis, IN
Intern
October – December 2016

- Researched fundraising and stewardship programs

- Assisted in stewardship through writing solicitation letters and mailing annual reports
- Provided programming support, such as clearing database and preparing gift boxes for special events

Municipality of Budapest, Department of Culture, Sport, Public Education, Health Care, and Social Policy, Hungary

Scholar February – June 2016

- Researched public homeless care system in Budapest, Hungary by analysing databases and interviewing approximately 10 service providers
- Monitored directives and official notices published between 2008 and 2013
- Analyzed weekly customer complaints concerning homeless care in Budapest

IFUA Nonprofit Partner, Hungary

Intern November 2014 – May 2015

- Prepared and presented research, presentations, and executive summaries monthly to the program manager
- Organized monthly workshops for the Hallatlan Foundation by writing memos and leading group discussions regarding capacity-building and sustainable development

PwC Hungary Llc, Tax and Legal Services, Indirect Tax, Hungary

Intern March – September 2014

- Prepared draft reports and contracts for tax consultancy work weekly
- Communicated weekly with clients and occasionally with the authority under the supervision of senior executive correspondence
- Analyzed and prepared monthly tax returns and intrastate reports for approximately 10 private clients

Civic Engagement

Philanthropic Studies Society, Indiana University Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
President August 2017 – May 2018

- Organize monthly social gatherings and networking opportunities for graduate students of the IU Lilly Family School of Philanthropy
- Lead the preparation of a conference on global philanthropy collaborating with other student organizations after successfully applying for the International Programming Grant of USD 500 offered by the Office of International Affairs
- Initiate a charity run to to raise at least USD 2,000 for the School's student scholarship funds

Vásáry Tamás Foundation, Hungary

Strategic manager

June 2017 – Present

- Lead strategic planning and budget development to improve the mental and social wellbeing of children living in foster care.
- Develop new fundraising methods focusing on online fundraising to increase available program funds

Közel Hozzánk Charity Organization, Hungary Vice-president, fundraising manager

January 2014 – July 2016

- Wrote successful grant proposal for grants between USD 700 USD 5,000 to provide services to improve the conditions of homeless children and adults in the community as well as to contribute to their mental and social wellbeing
- Built external relations with corporations, such as Nestlé Hungary,
 PricewaterhouseCoopers Hungary, and Ernst & Young Hungary to increase capacity of
 the organization
- Co-led strategic planning and program development, and prepared annual budgets and reports

Rotaract Duna Club, Budapest, Hungry

Member January 2013 – July 2016

- Organized one international event and monthly local events to support volunteering and civic engagement
- Developed external relations with donors and beneficiaries to be able to provide greater services

Languages

	Speaking	Reading	Writing
Hungarian (Mother Tongue)	Fluent	Fluent	Fluent
English	Fluent	Fluent	Fluent
Spanish	Advanced	Advanced	Conversational